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PART |
Forward-Looking Statements

Forward-looking statements in this report, inclgdimithout limitation, statements related to Towesatm Corporation’s plans, strategies,
objectives, expectations, intentions and adequéoysources, are made pursuant to the safe harbeisipns of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Investors are cauntd that such forward-looking statements involg&giand uncertainties including without
limitation the following: (i) Towerstream Corporati's plans, strategies, objectives, expectationsitentions are subject to change at any
time at the discretion of Towerstream Corporat{@h;Towerstream Corporation’s plans and resultspérations will be affected by
Towerstream Corporation’s ability to manage groatll competition; and (iii) other risks and uncetties indicated from time to time in
Towerstream Corporation’s filings with the Secastiand Exchange Commission.

In some cases, you can identify forward-lookingesteents by terminology such as “may,” “will,”should,” “could,” “expects,”

“plans,” “intends,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” or “continue” or the negative of such terms or other

comparable terminology. Although we believe that éixpectations reflected in the forward-lookindestaents are reasonable, we cannot
guarantee future results, levels of activity, parfance or achievements. Moreover, neither we ngio#imer person assumes responsibility for
the accuracy and completeness of such statemesdsleRs are cautioned not to place undue reliantieese forwardeoking statements, whi
speak only as of the date hereof. We are undeutytd update any of the forward-looking statemexfitsr the date of this report.
Factors that might affect our forward-looking staémts include, among other things:

. overall economic and business conditions;

. the demand for our goods and services;

. competitive factors in the industries in which veempete;

. emergence of new technologies which compete witlservice offerings;

. changes in tax requirements (including tax ratengba, new tax laws and revised tax law interpiata)i

. the outcome of litigation and governmental procegslj

. interest rate fluctuations and other changes inobgng costs;

. other capital market conditions, including availépiof funding sources;

. potential impairment of our indefinite-lived intablp assets and/or our long-lived assets; and

. changes in government regulations related to thadivand and Internet protocol industries.
Item 1. Business.

Towerstream Corporation (“Towerstream”, “we”, “usdur”, or the “Company”) provides fixed wirelessdadband services (“Fixed
Wireless Servicesfo commercial customers and delivers access owdretess network transmitting over both regulatad anregulated radi
spectrum. Our service supports bandwidth on demaindless redundancy, virtual private networks (N&), disaster recovery, bundled data
and video services. We provide broadband servicapproximately 3,600 business customers in Nevk Gity, Boston, Chicago, Los
Angeles, San Francisco, Seattle, Miami, Dallas-Péotth, Philadelphia, Nashville, Las Vegas-Reno Bnovidence-Newport. In February
2013, we acquired Delos Internet which expandsseuvice coverage into Houston, Texas.




Shared Wireless Infrastructure

Since 2010, we have been exploring opportunitideverage our fixed wireless network in major urbaarkets to provide other wireless
technology solutions and services. Over the gastyfears, a significant increase in mobile dateegeted by smartphones, tablets, and other
devices has placed tremendous demand on the netwbtke carriers. This has caused the carrieegore a wide range of solutions
including (i) acquiring additional spectrum, (icnploying Wi-Fi to offload data traffic, and (iiitilizing small cell technologies to increase
capacity in dense urban areas. During this periedhave incurred various costs related to ideintifypossible new solutions and services.
These costs included (a) rent payments under Egrsements which provide the right to install vass technology equipment on street level
rooftops, (b) construction of a carrier-class netto offload data traffic, and (c) installation flay Points of Presence (“PoP#j)connect ot
offload network to our fixed wireless network. Wetered into the lease agreements and commencezidhpial projects for the purpose of
securing capacity that we believe we needed totaiaiour competitive advantage in the wireless &igu In recent months, the Company has
concluded that the wireless communications industexperiencing a fundamental shift from its catrenacro-cellular architecture to hyper-
densified Small Cell architecture where existintj siges will be supplemented by many smaller bgtagions operating near street level. The
Company also believes that Wi-Fi will be an intég@mponent of Small Cell architecture.

In January 2013, we incorporated a wholly-ownedsglilry, Hetnets Tower Corporation (“Hetnets”). e\pan to transfer certain assets tc
Hetnets to support the operation of a shared vasalgfrastructure business. Hetnets plans to gémeental income from four separate source
including (i) rental of space on street level ropk for the installation of customer owned Small€Oghich includes WiFi antennae, DAS, ar
Metro and Pico cells, (i) rental of a channel oetets’ Wi-Fi network for the offloading of mobidata, (iii) rental of cabinets, switch ports,
interconnection services, including backhaul ongport, and (iv) rental of power and power backup.

We have determined that Hetnets represents a newdss segment. Beginning in 2013, the Comparypvalide segment financial
reporting for two business segments which will &ferred to as (i) Fixed Wireless Services, andSfizred Wireless Infrastructure.

Our Networks

In each of our geographic markets, we enter irdsdeagreements with building owners which constibwr “Company Locations.” At
these locations, we invest in a significant amafrequipment in order to connect numerous custoteettse Internet or to pass Small Cell
signals to carriers and other service providers.al¥e connect to the Internet via IP transit agree@sior peering arrangements with a national
service provider. These connection points are medeto as PoPs. Each PoP is “linked” to one or mtrer PoPs to enhance redundancy that
provide for no single point of failure in the netilkoWe refer to the core connectivity of all of RoPs as a “Wireless Ring in the Sky.” Each
PoP has a coverage area averaging approximatefyilsig although the distance can be affected byemaos factors, most significantly, how
clear the line of sight is between the PoP andstoouer location. Our network is utilized both farr ¢-ixed Wireless Services (our legacy
business) and will be made available under a ses\agreement to Hetnets as we develop and offezdhareless infrastructure services.

Since our broadband network does not depend oititnaal copper wire or fiber connections which #re backbone of many of our
competitor's legacy networks, we believe we hacempetitive advantage because we may not be signily affected by events such as
natural disasters and power outages, which affstalled legacy infrastructure which is often abelow ground level.

We also install equipment at each customer locatibich constitutes our “Customer LocationEdquipment installed at both Company
Customer Locations includes receivers and antemnadreless connection is established between €ardtomer Location to one or more PoP:
through which our network is accessed on a largilgless basis. Our new Hetnets installations ihelmultiple receivers and antennas
installed at or near street level to provide bamfvfor Small Cell and Wi-Fi systems through whalr network is accessed.

Markets

We intend to grow our business by deploying ouvisermore broadly and seeking to rapidly increagecostomer base. We intend to
deploy our wireless broadband network broadly hotierms of geography and categories of commeatidibusiness customers. We intend to
increase the number of geographic markets we sgrexpanding into new markets and through strategigiisitions.

We determine which geographic markets to entersegssing a number of criteria in four broad caiegoFirst, we evaluate our ability to
deploy our service in a given market, taking inbogideration our spectrum position, the availapiit towers and zoning constraints. Second,
we assess the market by evaluating the numbemopettors, existing price points, demographic cbeastics and distribution channels.
Third, we evaluate the economic potential of thekat focusing on our forecasts of revenue grovghastunities and capital requirements.
Finally, we look at market clustering opportunitéesd other cost efficiencies that might be realiBaked on this approach, as of Decembe
2012, we offered wireless broadband connectivitydmmarkets, of which 9 are in the top 20 metrdpnolareas in the United States based on
the number of small to medium businesses in eackana’hese 9 markets cover 62% of small and mediusnesses (5 to 249 employees) ir
the United States.

We believe there are significant market opportesitieyond the 13 markets in which we are curraftéring our services. Our long-term
plan is to expand nationally into other top metildpo markets in the United States. We believe #itajuisitions presently represent a more
effective manner to expand into new markets ratiem to build our own infrastructure. Since 2018, wvave completed five acquisitions, of
which two were in new markets and three expandegmsence in existing markets. We have paid feseracquisitions through a combinar
of cash and equity, and believe that future actjors will be paid in a similar manner. Our decisto expand into new markets will depe



upon many factors including the timing and frequeotacquisitions, national and local economic dtiads, and the opportunity to
leverage existing customer relationships in newketst




Our acquisitions included Sparkplug Chicago, Iopgrating in Chicago, lllinois and Nashville, Teasee, Pipeline Wireless, LLC,
operating in Boston, Massachusetts, One Veloaity., loperating in Las Vegas and Reno, Nevada, atat 8roadband Communications, Inc.,
operating in Los Angeles, California. In Februa®i3, we completed our acquisition with Delos In&tyoperating in Houston, Texas.

Sales and Marketing

We employ an inside direct sales force model tbaglservices to business customers. As of DeceBihe?012, we employed 42 direct
sales people. We generally compensate these enggloyea salary plus commission basis. Approxima&@d of our sales personnel had beel
with the Company for more than two years as of bdmr 31, 2012 as compared to 73% and 68% as oilmre31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively. This tenure metric can fluctuate freeniod to period, especially because the sizbefiirect sales force is relatively small. The
Company believes that a tenure metric between @0%% constitutes an experienced sales force.

Our sales force staffing levels peaked in July 2808n we employed 128 direct sales personnel.rie 2009, we reduced our direct sale:
force by 34% in response to a growing emphasisiteriet based marketing initiatives. This chandlected an increasing awareness of the
need to capture customer demand rather than ttgingeate customer demand. Most companies seaeirebmdwidth service under contracts
ranging in length from one to three years. As altesustomer buying decisions generally occur wtingir existing contracts are close to
expiring. We believe that many buyers of informattechnology services search the Internet to lebout industry trends and development
well as competitive service offerings. Our reductio staffing levels has enabled us to cost effettiincrease spending on Internet based
marketing initiatives, increase sales productivityg reduce total sales and marketing expenses.

Sales through indirect channels comprised 13% pfatal revenues for the year ended December 3112 20mpared with less than
5% for the year ended December 31, 2011. Colordraad, which we acquired in December 2011, hadcaweachannel program and we
hired one of their former employees to be our CehiManager. During 2012, we changed our channejraro to provide for recurring
monthly residual payments, ranging from 8% to 28%&viously, we had generally paid one time commission channel sales.

Competition

The market for broadband services is highly contipetiand includes companies that offer a varidtyesvices using a number of different
technology platforms including cable networks, @igsubscriber lines (“DSL"), third-generation cgdlr, satellite, wireless Internet service anc
other emerging technologies. We compete with tikesgpanies on the basis of the portability, easesef speed of installation and price.
Competitors to our wireless broadband servicesidel




Incumbent Local Exchange Carriers and Common L&xahange Carriers

We face competition from traditional wireline optna in terms of price, performance, discountedsdbr bundles of services, breadth of
service, reliability, network security, and eas@oéess and use. In particular, we face compefit@n Verizon Communications Inc. and
AT&T Inc. which are referred to as “incumbent ldexchange carriers,” or (“ILECS”), as well asdmmon local exchange carriers,” or
(“CLECS"), such as TelePacific Communications, Megtn Networks, and EarthLink, Inc.

Cable Modem and DSL Services

We compete with companies that provide Interneneoctivity through cable modems or DSL. Principahpetitors include cable
companies, such as Comcast Corporation, and inauntdlephone companies, such as AT&T Inc. or Verigmmmunications Inc. Both the
cable and telephone companies deploy their sereiceswired networks initially designed for voicedaone-way data transmission that have
subsequently been upgraded to provide for additiesices.

Cellular and PCS Services

Cellular and personal communications service (“BG&friers are seeking to expand their capacityrdwide data and voice services that
are superior to ours. These providers have suligiriiroader geographic coverage than we have fandhe foreseeable future, than we
expect to have. If one or more of these providarsdeploy technologies that compete effectiveljhwitr services, the mobility and coverage
offered by these carriers will provide even greatanpetition than we currently face. Moreover, madeanced cellular and PCS technologies
such as third generation mobile technologies, atlyr®ffer broadband service with packet data ti@nspeeds of up to 2,000,000 bits per
second for fixed applications, and slower speedsiabile applications. We expect that third gerieratechnology will be improved to
increase connectivity speeds to make it more deitiap a range of advanced applications.

Wireless Broadband Service Providers

We also face competition from other wireless br@adbservice providers that use licensed and urdagtspectrum. In connection with
merger and acquisition activities, we have deteeahithat most of our current and planned marke¢adir have one or more locally based
companies providing wireless broadband Internetices. In addition, many local governments, uniiters and other related entities are
providing or subsidizing Wi-Fi networks over unliceed spectrum, in some cases at no cost to theTlse exist numerous small local urban
and rural wireless operations offering local segsithat could compete with us in our present arrd geographic markets.

Satellite

Satellite providers, such as WildBlue Communicatidnc. and Hughes Network Systems, LLC, offer bh@ad data services that addres:
a niche market, mainly less densely populated dhedisare unserved or underserved by competingcgepvoviders. Although satellite offers
service to a large geographic area, latency caogée time it takes for the signal to travel taldrom the satellite may challenge a satellite
provider’s ability to provide some services, sustVaice over Internet Protocol (“VolP”), which remks the size of the addressable market.

Other

We believe other emerging technologies may alsk s&eenter the broadband services market. For elgrwe are aware that several
power generation and distribution companies arkisgao develop or have already offered commelgiabhdband Internet services over
existing electric power lines.

Competitive Strengths

Even though we face substantial existing and pismecompetition, we believe that we have a nundf@ompetitive advantages that \
allow us to retain existing customers and attragt oustomers over time.




Reliability

Our network was designed specifically to supporelesss broadband services. The networks of celloédle and DSL companies rely on
infrastructure that was originally designed for Aimnadband purposes. We also connect the custonoer M/ireless Ring in the Sky which t
no single point of failure. This ring is fed by rtiple lead Internet providers located at oppositeseof our service cities and connected to our
national ring which is fed by multiple leading dars. We believe that we are the only wireless dibead provider that offers true separate
egress for true redundancy. With DSL and cablerioffis, the wireline connection can be terminatediby backhoe swipe or switch failure.
Our Wireless Ring in the Sky is not likely to béeated by backhoe or other bel@mund accidents or severe weather. As a resuliework
has historically experienced reliability rates ppeoximately 99%.

Flexibility

Our wireless infrastructure and service delivergitdas us to respond quickly to changes in a custerbmadband requirements. We offer
bandwidth options ranging from 0.5 megabits peosdap to 1.5 gigabit per second. We can usuajlysa@ customer’s bandwidth remotely
and without having to visit the customer locatiomtodify or install new equipment. Changes canroffte made on a same day basis.

Timeliness

In many cases, we can install a new customer agit loelivering Internet connectivity within 3 tobisiness days after receiving a
customers order. Many of the larger telecommunications canigs can take 30 to 60 days to complete an iattail The timeliness of servi
delivery has become more important as businesseiicomore of their business operations throughrtteznet.

Value

We own our entire network which enables us to poigeservices lower than most of our competitoecHically, we are able to offer
competitive prices because we do not have to Hagad loop charge from the telephone company.

Efficient Economic Model

Our economic model is characterized by low fixeplitzd and operating expenditures relative to othieeless and wireline broadband
service providers. We own our entire network, whatiminates costs involved with using leased lioesied by telephone or cable companies.
Our network is modular. Coverage is directly redatie various factors, including the height of theility we are on and the frequencies we
utilize. The average area covered by a PoP is m#éxradius.

Experienced Management Team

We have an experienced executive management tefmmare than 35 years of combined experience apanynleaders. Our President
and Chief Executive Officer, Jeffrey M. Thompsaaifounder of the Company and has more than 2@ péa&xperience in the data
communications industry. Our Chief Financial Officgoseph P. Hernon, has been the chief finantfiako for three publicly traded compan
over the past 15 years.

Corporate History

We were organized in the State of Nevada in Juf&.20 January 2007, we merged with and into a lyhmlned Delaware subsidiary,
for the sole purpose of changing our state of ipoation to Delaware. In January 2007, a wholly-ed/subsidiary of ours merged with and
into a private company, Towerstream Corporationh Wwowerstream Corporation being the surviving camp Upon closing of the merger,
discontinued our former business and succeeddwtbusiness of Towerstream Corporation as ourlis@ef business. At the same time, we
also changed our name to Towerstream Corporatidnan subsidiary, Towerstream Corporation, charigedame to Towerstream |, Inc.

Regulatory Matters

Wireless broadband services are subject to reguléty the Federal Communications Commission (“FC&t)the federal level, the FCC
has jurisdiction over wireless transmissions otaieralectromagnetic spectrum and all interstatedeinunications services. State regulatory
commissions have jurisdiction over intrastate comitations. Municipalities may regulate limited asigeof our business by, for example,
imposing zoning requirements and requiring instialfapermits.




Telecommunications Regulation

Our wireless broadband systems can be used todardviernet access service and VPNs. In a Marci #8@0ision, the FCC classified
wireless broadband Internet access service agenstiamte information service that is regulated urde | of the Communications Act of 192
as amended. Accordingly, most regulations thatyafiptelephone companies and other common cad@rot apply to our wireless broadb:i
Internet access service. For example, we are mogrdly required to contribute a percentage of gresenues from our Internet access service
to universal service funds used to support lodapteone service and advanced telecommunicationgssifor schools, libraries and rural
health care facilities (“USF Fees”).

We are not required to file tariffs with the FC@ttang forth the rates, terms, and conditions aflaternet access service. The FCC,
however, is currently considering whether to impesgous consumer protection obligations, simitafitle Il obligations, on wireless
broadband Internet access providers. These regeimsnmay include obligations related to truth-ilikig, slamming, discontinuing service,
customer proprietary network information and fetlardversal service funds mechanisms. Internetsspeoviders are currently subject to
applicable state consumer protection laws enfobgegiach state’s Attorney General and general Fedlemde Commission consumer
protection rules.

On August 5, 2005, the FCC adopted an Order finthag facilities-based broadband Internet accesgigeers are subject to the
Communications Assistance for Law Enforcement ACALEA"), which requires service providers coverey that statute to build certain law
enforcement surveillance assistance capabilitisstireir communications networks. The FCC requfeailities-based broadband Internet
access providers to comply with CALEA requireméntdMay 14, 2007. We have complied with such CALEAuirements.

On May 3, 2006, the FCC adopted an additional Caderessing CALEA compliance obligations of thesevjglers. In that order, the
FCC: (i) affirmed the May 14, 2007 compliance dézall(ii) indicated compliance standards are talé&eeloped by the industry within the
telecommunications standards-setting bodies wortdggther with law enforcement; (iii) permitted tinge of certain third parties to satisfy
CALEA compliance obligations; (iv) restricted theadlability of compliance extensions; (v) concludédt facilities-based broadband Internet
access providers are responsible for any CALEA ldgveent and implementation costs; (vi) declared tha FCC may pursue enforcement
action, in addition to remedies available througg ¢ourts, against any non-compliant provider; @iyladopted interim progress report filing
requirements.

On May 12, 2011, the FCC issued a Notice of Praphéademaking that proposed rules requiring broadkaand interconnected VolP
service providers to report outages. The indugbposed certain aspects of the proposed rules imgjunirdensome reporting requirements. In
an Order released by the FCC on February 21, 282 CC announced it would defer the question tdgelreporting requirements for
broadband Internet service providers on the grotimatsthis issue deserves further study.

Broadband Internet-related and Internet prot@awlsices regulatory policies are continuing to d@veand it is possible that our broadb:
Internet access could be subject to additionallatigms in the future. The extent of the regulagidimat will ultimately be applicable to these
services and the impact of such regulations ormabliléy of providers to compete are currently unkmo

Spectrum Regulation

The FCC routinely reviews its spectrum policies aray change its position on spectrum allocatioosftime to time. We believe that the
FCC is committed to allocating spectrum to suppareless broadband deployment throughout the UrBtiadles and will continue to modify
regulations to foster such deployment, which wéllghus implement our existing and future busindass

Internet Taxation

The Internet Tax Freedom Act, which was signed iatoin October 2007, extended a moratorium ondatelnternet access and multj
discriminatory taxes on electronic commerce. Thisatorium had previously expired in November 2001 as with the preceding Internet
Tax Freedom Act, “grandfatheredstates that taxed Internet access prior to Octb®@8 to allow them to continue to do so. Certaatest hav
enacted various taxes on Internet access or etécttrommerce, and selected states’ taxes are beintg@sted on a variety of bases. However,
state tax laws may not be successfully contestatifigure state and federal laws imposing taxesttoer regulations on Internet access and
electronic commerce may arise, any of which contaiease the cost of providing Internet serviceschvhould, in turn, materially adversely
affect our business.

Other

During August 2012, the Company received a letténquiry (the “Letter”) from the FCC in which thHeéompany was informed that the
Enforcement Bureau was investigating potentialatiohs by the Company of certain provisions of @menmunications Act of 1934, as
amended, and FCC Rules. The Letter principallyteel#o the Company’s acquisitions and related #etisns in 2011 and 2012. The Letter
also sought information on negotiations with licees seeking to operate within 150 km of certaimary satellite earth stations located in
DeSoto, TX, Medley, FL and Miami, FL. The Letteratited the Company to produce certain documenténdmanation. The Company
provided the requested documents and informatidthgd-CC. The Company and the FCC have been inglimms concerning a consent de
which would include the Company’s adoption of a poamensive compliance plan satisfactory to the FI3t@. Company may agree to the
payment of a sum which the Company does not expdi material. However, the investigation is aouitig, negotiations are not yet
complete and the ultimate outcome of the investigat presently unknowi



We are subject to extensive regulation that cauatdt br restrict our activities. If we fail to corhpwith these regulations, we may be
subject to penalties, both monetary and non-moypeterich may adversely affect our financial cormfitiand results of operations, including
regulation by the FCC, which risks are more fulésdribed under the heading “Risk Factors.”




Rights Plan

In November 2010, we adopted a rights plan (thgh& Plan”) and declared a dividend distributioroné preferred share purchase right
for each outstanding share of common stock aseofebord date on November 14, 2010. Each rightnveixercisable, entitles the registered
holder to purchase one-hundredth (1/¥Qf a share of Series A Preferred Stock, par v&u801 per shares of the Company at a purchase
price of $18.00 per one-hundredth (1/£0pof a share of the Series A Preferred Stock, stiljecertain adjustments. The rights will gengrall
separate from the common stock and become exeleigamy person or group acquires or announcesider offer to acquire 15% or more of
our outstanding common stock without the consemtuofBoard of Directors. Because the rights maystartiially dilute the stock ownership of
a person or group attempting to take us over wittiweiapproval of our Board of Directors, our RgjRtan could make it more difficult for a
third party to acquire us (or a significant peregyat of our outstanding capital stock) without firegotiating with our Board of Directors. In
addition, we are governed by provisions of Delawavethat may prohibit large stockholders, in parar those owning 15% or more of our
outstanding voting stock, from merging or combiniith us.

The provisions in our charter, bylaws, Rights Rlad under Delaware law related to the foregoindccdiscourage takeover attempts that
our stockholders would otherwise favor, or otheearisduce the price that investors might be wiltmgay for our common stock in the future.

Employees

As of December 31, 2012, we had 175 employeeshofwl73 were full-time employees and 2 were paretemployee. As of February
28, 2013, we had 166 employees, of whom 164 alrdifiué employees and 2 are part-time employeesb®@lieve our employee relations are
good. Two employees are considered members of Bxecunanagement.

Our Corporate Information

Our principal executive offices are located at Srtharlund Way, Middletown, Rhode Island, 02842.r @lephone number is (401) 848-
5848. The Company’s website addredstip://www.towerstream.comInformation contained on the Company’s websteat incorporated
into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Annual resarn Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Qrent reports on Form 8-K and all
amendments to those reports are available frebasfje through the Securities and Exchange Commigs&i=C") website at
http://www.sec.goas soon as reasonably practicable after thosetsegi@r electronically filed with or furnished tetBEC.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors.

Investing in our common stock involves a high degrferisk. Prospective investors should carefutipsider the risks described below and
other information contained in this annual repancluding our financial statements and related sdbefore purchasing shares of our commol
stock. There are numerous and varied risks, knawhumknown, that may prevent us from achievinggmais. If any of these risks actually
occur, our business, financial condition or reswifoperations may be materially adversely affechedhat case, the trading price of our
common stock could decline and investors in ourrsomstock could lose all or part of their investinen

Risks Relating to Fixed Wireless Services

We may be unable to successfully execute any ofidantified business opportunities or other busisespportunities that we determine
to pursue.

In order to pursue business opportunities, we maéd to continue to build our infrastructure amdrajthen our operational capabilities.
Our ability to do any of these successfully coutdalffected by any one or more of the following ¢ast




. the ability of our equipment, our equipment supglier our service providers to perform as we expect
. the ability of our services to achieve market ataeqe;
. our ability to manage third party relationshipseeffvely;

. our ability to identify suitable locations and theagotiate acceptable agreements with building osvee that we can establish P
on their rooftop

. our ability to work effectively with new customeissecure approval from their landlord to instaif equipment;

. our ability to effectively manage the growth andpamsion of our business operations without incgrraxcessive costs, hi
employee turnover or damage to customer relatipss

. our ability to attract and retain qualified persehmvhich may be affected by the significant comipmti in our industry fc
individuals experienced in network operations angireering;

. equipment failure or interruption of service whibuld adversely affect our reputation and our retest with our customers;

. our ability to accurately predict and respond te thpid technological changes in our industry drel dvolving demands of t
markets we serve; ar

. our ability to raise additional capital to fund @rowth and to support our operations until we hgawfitability.

Our failure to adequately address any one or mbileecabove factors could have a significant advé@rgpact on our ability to execute our
business plan and the long term viability of ousibass.

We depend on the continued availability of leasesldicenses for our communications equipment.

We have constructed proprietary networks in eadch@Mmarkets we serve by installing antennae oftaps, cellular towers and other
structures pursuant to lease or license agreertees&nd and receive wireless signals necessatiidasperation of our network. We typically
seek five year initial terms for our leases withethto five year renewal options. Such renewabngtiare generally exercisable at our discre
before the expiration of the current term. If thissseses are terminated or if the owners of thesetsires are unwilling to continue to enter into
leases or licenses with us in the future, we whaldorced to seek alternative arrangements witargitoviders. If we are unable to continue tc
obtain or renew such leases on satisfactory tesorshusiness would be harmed.

Our business depends on a strong brand, and if wendt maintain and enhance our brand, our abilitg fattract and retain customers
may be impaired and our business and operating flesmay be harmed.

We believe that our brand is a critical part of business. Maintaining and enhancing our brand require us to make substantial
investments with no assurance that these investméttbe successful. If we fail to promote and ntain the “Towerstream” brand, or if we
incur significant expenses in this effort, our Imesis, prospects, operating results and financraliton may be harmed. We anticipate that
maintaining and enhancing our brand will becomesasingly important, difficult and expensive.

We are pursuing acquisitions that we believe conmpéat our existing operations but which involve riskhat could adversely affect our
business.

Acquisitions involve risks that could adverselyeaff our business including the diversion of manaaggrtime from operations and
difficulties integrating the operations and persgrof acquired companies. In addition, any futwrguasition could result in significant costs,
the incurrence of additional debt or the issuarfesgaity securities to fund the acquisition, ane #ssumption of contingent or undisclosed
liabilities, all of which could materially advergedffect our business, financial condition and hssof operations.




In connection with any future acquisition, we geigrwill seek to minimize the impact of contingearid undisclosed liabilities by
obtaining indemnities and warranties from the selowever, these indemnities and warranties, ihwted, may not fully cover the liabilities
due to their limited scope, their amount or dumatitie financial limitations of the indemnitor oawantor, or for other reasons.

We continue to consider strategic acquisitions,esofmwvhich may be larger than those previously deted and which could be material
acquisitions. Integrating acquisitions is oftentppand may require significant attention from mgement. Delays or other operational or
financial problems that interfere with our operaonay result. If we fail to implement proper oVebaisiness controls for companies or asset:
we acquire or fail to successfully integrate thasguired companies or assets in our processefinaacial condition and results of operations
could be adversely affected. In addition, it isgibke that we may incur significant expenses indh@luation and pursuit of potential
acquisitions that may not be successfully completed

We have a history of operating losses and expeatantinue incurring losses for the foreseeable fuéu

Our current business was launched in 1999 andnlcasred losses in each year of operation. We recbadhet loss of, $5,603,007 in 2010
$7,025,107 in 2011 and $20,989,575 in 2012. We aamticipate when, if ever, our operations wiltbme profitable. We expect to incur
significant net losses as we develop our netwotggared our markets, undertake acquisitions, acapieetrum and pursue our business stra
We intend to invest significantly in our busines$dre we expect cash flow from operations to bejadte to cover our operating expenses. If
we are unable to execute our business strateggramdour business, either as a result of the iichstified in this section or for any other
reason, our business, prospects, financial comdéral results of operations will be adversely aéfdc

Cash and cash equivalents represent one of our &sgassets and in light of the recent market turirminong financial institutions and
related liquidity issues, we may be at risk of bgianinsured for a large portion of such assets aating timing problems accessing such
assets.

The market turmoil experienced over the past fearggencluding the failure or insolvency of sevdaatje financial institutions and the
credit crunch affecting the short term debt marke#s caused liquidity problems for companies astitutions across the country. As of
December 31, 2012, we had approximately $15,000y008sh and cash equivalents with one large filmhbanking institution. Although the
present regulatory response in the United Statestien a large institution becomes insolvent gdhehas been to have the failing institution
merge or transfer assets to more solvent entttieseby avoiding failures, it is possible that &ingncial institution could become insolvent or
fail. At times, our cash and cash equivalents byninsured or in deposit accounts that exceeBi¢deral Deposit Insurance Corporation
(“FDIC") insurance limits. If the institution at vith we have placed our funds
were to become insolvent or fail, we could be sk for losing a substantial portion of our cashad#s, or incur significant time delays in
obtaining access to such funds. In light of thatkihamount of federal insurance for deposits, eél/eme were to spread our cash assets amon
several institutions, we would remain at risk foe amount not covered by insurance.

The global economic crisis could have a materiavadse effect on our liquidity and capital resources

The recent distress in the financial markets haslted in extreme volatility in security prices adichinished liquidity and credit
availability, and there can be no assurance thaliquidity will not be affected by changes in tfieancial markets and the global economy or
that our capital resources will at all times bdfisignt to satisfy our liquidity needs. Although Welieve that cash provided by operations and
our cash and cash equivalents currently on harlgvaVide us with sufficient liquidity through theirrent credit crisis, tightening of the credit
markets could make it more difficult for us to agséunds, enter into agreements for new debt @imlinding through the issuance of our
securities.

In addition, the current credit crisis is havingignificant negative impact on businesses arouadvtrld, and the impact of this crisis on
our major suppliers cannot be predicted. The itgitwf key suppliers to access liquidity, or theafvency of key suppliers, could lead to
delivery delays or failures.

Our business may require additional capital for cimued growth, and our growth may be slowed if we ot have sufficient capital.

The continued growth and operation of our busimeag require additional funding for working capitdgbt service, the enhancement and
upgrade of our network, the build-out of infrasture to expand our coverage, possible acquisi@aspossible bids to acquire spectrum
licenses. We may be unable to secure such fundiremweeded in adequate amounts or on acceptalng, iéat all. To execute our business
strategy, we may issue additional equity securitiggublic or private offerings, potentially at eiqe lower than the market price at the time of
such issuance. Similarly, we may seek debt finanaimd may be forced to incur significant interegtemnse. If we cannot secure sufficient
funding, we may be forced to forego strategic opputies or delay, scale back or eliminate netwaekloyments, operations, acquisitions,
spectrum bids and other investments.




Many of our competitors are better established amal/e significantly greater resources which may makdifficult for us to attract and
retain customers.

The market for broadband and related servicegjishcompetitive, and we compete with several ottwnpanies within each of our
markets. Many of our competitors are well estaklgstvith larger and better developed networks apgau systems, longer relationships with
customers and suppliers, greater name recognitidrgeeater financial, technical and marketing resesithan we have. Our competitors may
subsidize competing services with revenue fromratberces and, thus, may offer their products andees at prices lower than ours. Our
competitors may also reduce the prices of theirises significantly or may offer broadband connéttipackaged with other products or
services. We may not be able to reduce our pricesherwise combine our services with other proslectservices, which may make it more
difficult to attract and retain customers. In ailit businesses which are presently focused onigimavservices to residential customers may
expand their target base and begin offering seteidrisiness customers.

We expect existing and prospective competitorgltipatechnologies or business plans similar to,aurseek other means to develop
competitive services, particularly if our servigesve to be attractive in our target markets. Toisipetition may make it difficult to attract n
customers and retain existing customers.

We may experience difficulties in constructing, uggling and maintaining our network, which could imease customer turnover and
reduce our revenues.

Our success depends on developing and providingdupts and services that give customers high quiaigrnet connectivity. If the
number of customers using our network increasesyiieequire more infrastructure and network res®@s to maintain the quality of our
services. Consequently, we may be required to reakstantial investments to improve our facilitiesl @quipment, and to upgrade our
technology and network infrastructure. If we do imgplement these developments successfully, oeiewperience inefficiencies, operational
failures or unforeseen costs during implementatioa,quality of our products and services couldidec

We may experience quality deficiencies, cost ovesrand delays in implementing our network improvetaand expansion and in
maintenance and upgrade projects, including thiégmsr of those projects not within our control lee ttontrol of our contractors. Our network
requires the receipt of permits and approvals framerous governmental bodies including municigadifind zoning boards. Such bodies ¢
limit the expansion of transmission towers and otmmstruction necessary for our business. Faitureceive approvals in a timely fashion car
delay system rollouts and raise the cost of corimggdrojects. In addition, we are typically requit® obtain rights from land, building or tov
owners to install our antennae and other equipteoeptovide service to our customers. We may nailile to obtain, on terms acceptable to us
or at all, the rights necessary to construct otwwork and expand our services.

We also face challenges in managing and operatingetwork. These challenges include operatingntaaiing and upgrading network
and customer premise equipment to accommodateaiseteraffic or technological advances, and maggitie sales, advertising, customer
support, billing and collection functions of ourdiness while providing reliable network servicegpected speeds and quality. Our failure in
any of these areas could adversely affect custsatefaction, increase customer turnover or chnarease our costs and decrease our
revenues.

If we do not obtain and maintain rights to use lineed spectrum in one or more markets, we may bell@#o operate in these markets
which could negatively impact our ability to exeeubur business strategy. To the extent we securenised spectrum, we face increased
operational costs, greater regulatory scrutiny anthy become subject to arbitrary government decisioaking.

We provide our services in some markets by usiegtspm obtained through licenses or long-term le@s¢hose markets. Obtaining
licensed spectrum can be a long and difficult pgedbat can be costly and require a disproport®aatount of our management resources.

Licensed spectrum, whether owned or leased, pakiamal risks, including:

. inability to satisfy build-out or service deploynt@aquirements upon which spectrum licenses oekease, or may be, conditioned;

10




. increases in spectrum acquisition costs or conylexi

. competitive bids, pre-bid qualifications and postd#®quirements for spectrum acquisitions, in whighmay not be successful
leading to, among other things, increased compati

. adverse changes to regulations governing speciglsy

. the risk that acquired or leased spectrum willbetommercially usable or free of damaging interiee from licensed or
unlicensed operators in our or adjacent ba

. contractual disputes with, or the bankruptcy oeotieorganization of, the license holders, whichld@dversely affect control over
the spectrum subject to such licens

. failure of the FCC or other regulators to renewcspen licenses as they expire; and
. invalidation of authorization to use all or a sfipant portion of our spectrum.

We utilize unlicensed spectrum in all of our marlsetvhich is subject to intense competition, low hiars of entry and slowdowns due to
multiple users.

We presently utilize unlicensed spectrum in albof markets to provide our service offerings. Uettised or “free’spectrum is available
multiple users and may suffer bandwidth limitatioiméerference and slowdowns if the number of user®eeds traffic capacity. The availabi
of unlicensed spectrum is not unlimited and othiersot need to obtain permits or licenses to atifle same unlicensed spectrum that we
currently or may utilize in the future. The inherémitations of unlicensed spectrum could potditithreaten our ability to reliably deliver o
services. Moreover, the prevalence of unlicensedtspm creates low barriers of entry in our indpsthich naturally creates the potential for
increased competition.

Interruption or failure of our information technolayy and communications systems could impair our &jito provide services which
could damage our reputation and adversely affect aperating results.

Our services depend on the continuing operatiaruofnformation technology and communications systeWe have experienced service
interruptions in the past and may experience seivirruptions or system failures in the futureyAinscheduled service interruption
adversely affects our ability to operate our buséngnd could result in an immediate loss of revenifieve experience frequent or persistent
system or network failures, our reputation coulgpbemanently harmed. We may need to make significapital expenditures to increase the
reliability of our systems, however, these captgbenditures may not achieve the results we expect.

Excessive customer churn may adversely affect aoancial performance by slowing customer growth cieasing costs and reducing
revenues.

The successful implementation of our business gégrends upon controlling customer churn. Custorenctis a measure of customers
who cancel their services agreement. Customer atauld increase as a result of:

. interruptions to the delivery of services to custesnover our network;

. the availability of competing technology such asleanodems, DSL, thirgeneration cellular, satellite, wireless Interrevie ani
other emerging technologies, some of which mayebs éxpensive or technologically superior to thafered by us

. changes in promotions and new marketing or salBatives;
. new competitors entering the markets in which werddervice; and

. a reduction in the quality of our customer senlidkng errors.
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An increase in customer churn can lead to slowstotner growth, increased costs and a reductioevienues.
If our business strategy is unsuccessful, we widitrbe profitable and our stockholders could losesthinvestment.

There is no prior history of other companies thatéhsuccessfully pursued our strategy of delivefixed wireless bandwidth services to
businesses. Many fixed wireless companies havedfaihd there is no guarantee that our strategyowifuccessful or profitable. If our strategy
is unsuccessful, the value of our company may @serand our stockholders could lose their entirestment.

We may not be able to effectively control and maaamr growth which would negatively impact our opions.

If our business and markets continue to grow ametldg, it will be necessary for us to finance arehage expansion in an orderly fash
In addition, we may face challenges in managingaegng product and service offerings, and in irdigg acquired businesses. Such events
would increase demands on our existing managemeniforce and facilities. Failure to satisfy incsed demands could interrupt or adversel
affect our operations and cause backlogs and asirative inefficiencies.

The success of our business depends on the contiguaiontributions of key personnel and our abilitg &ttract, train and retain highly
qualified personnel.

We are highly dependent on the continued servitesioChairman, Philip Urso, and our President @hief Executive Officer, Jeffrey
M. Thompson. In December 2011, we amended our gmq@at agreement with Jeffrey M. Thompson. The amend extends the term of his
employment agreement for a period of two years,mnenting December 2011. We cannot guarantee thatfahgse persons will stay with us
for any definite period. Loss of the services of ahthese individuals could adversely impact opemations. We do not maintain policies of
“key man” insurance on our executives.

In addition, we must be able to attract, train, k@t and retain highly skilled and experiencedhiécal employees in order to successfully
introduce our services in new markets and growbasiness in existing markets. Qualified technicaplyees often are in great demand and
may be unavailable in the time frame required tsfaour business requirements. We may not be @bddtract and retain sufficient numbers
of highly skilled technical employees in the futliféae loss of technical personnel or our inabiiiyhire or retain sufficient technical personnel
at competitive rates of compensation could impairability to successfully grow our business artdireour existing customer base.

We could encounter difficulties integrating acqut&ns which could result in substantial costs, dgtaor other operational or financial
difficulties.

Over the past two years, we have completed fiveiiaitipns. We may seek to acquire other fixed {ess businesses, including those
operating in our current business markets or tlopseating in other geographic markets. We cannairately predict the timing, size and
success of our acquisition efforts and the assetieapital commitments that might be required. Wfeeet to encounter competition for
acquisitions which may limit the number of potehéiaquisition opportunities and may lead to higheguisition prices. We may not be able to
identify, acquire or profitably manage additionabimesses or successfully integrate acquired bssi#ise if any, without substantial costs,
delays or other operational or financial diffice#i

In addition, such acquisitions involve a numbeottfer risks, including:

. failure of the acquired businesses to achieve degaesults;

. integration difficulties could increase customeuichand negatively affect our reputation;
. diversion of management’s attention and resouesquisitions;

. failure to retain key personnel of the acquiredimesses;

. disappointing quality or functionality of acquireduipment and personnel; and

. risks associated with unanticipated events, liaddior contingencies.
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The inability to successfully integrate and managguired companies could result in the incurrefcibstantial costs to address the
problems and issues encountered.

Our inability to finance acquisitions from cash fle generated from operations, debt financing, or sba of our common stock could
impair the growth and expansion of our business.

The extent to which we will be able or willing teeishares of our common stock to consummate atiqugsivill depend on (i) the market
value of our securities which will vary, (ii) liggity which can fluctuate, and (iii) the willingnesEpotential sellers to accept shares of our
common stock as full or partial payment for thaisimess. Using shares of our common stock for a@guns may result in significant dilution
to existing stockholders. To the extent that weuarable to use common stock to make future acepaisitour ability to grow through
acquisitions may be limited by the extent to whighare able to raise capital through debt or edingncings. We may not be able to obtain
the necessary capital to finance any acquisitiivge are unable to obtain additional capital onegtable terms, we may be required to reduc
the scope of expansion or redirect resources caeuirtiv internal purposes. Our inability to use ekaf our common stock to make future
acquisitions may hinder our ability to actively pue our acquisition program.

We rely on a limited number of third party supplgthat manufacture network equipment, and instalhédmaintain our network sites. |
these companies fail to perform or experience dslaghortages or increased demand for their produstservices, we may face shortage of
components, increased costs, and may be requirezslispend our network deployment and our serviceaduction.

We depend on a limited number of third party supplito produce and deliver products required fomatworks. We also depend on a
limited number of third parties to install and ntain our network facilities. We do not maintain dagg term supply contracts with these
manufacturers. If a manufacturer or other provitees not satisfy our requirements, or if we loseaaufacturer or any other significant
provider, we may have insufficient network equiptnfen delivery to customers and for installationneaintenance of our infrastructure. Such
developments could force us to suspend the deplotyaieur network and the installation of new caséos, thus impairing future growth.

If our data security measures are breached, custosnmay perceive that our network is not secure whinay adversely affect our abili
to attract and retain customers and expose us &bility.

Network security and the authentication of a cugidsncredentials are designed to protect unautbdrarcess to data on our network.
Because techniques used to obtain unauthorizedswe®r to sabotage networks change frequentlyramdnot be recognized until launched
against a target, we may be unable to anticipaimplement adequate preventive measures againsthor&ed access or sabotage.
Consequently, unauthorized parties may overcomeioenyption and security systems, and obtain adoesata on our network. In addition,
because we operate and control our network andusiomers’ Internet connectivity, unauthorized asaw sabotage of our network could
result in damage to our network and to the computeother devices used by our customers. An aotya¢rceived breach of network secur
regardless of whether the breach is our fault,&bakrm public perception of the effectiveness afsmcurity measures, adversely affect our
ability to attract and retain customers, expostsgnificant liability and adversely affect oundiness prospects.

The delivery of our services could infringe on tlellectual property rights of others which maysaelt in costly litigation and, if we do
not prevail, could also cause us to pay substantiaiages and prohibit us from selling our services.

Third parties may assert infringement or otherliettual property claims against us. We may haveaty substantial damages, including
damages for past infringement if it is ultimateBtefmined that our services infringe a third pargroprietary rights. Further, we may be
prohibited from selling or providing some of ounsees before we obtain additional licenses, whithyailable at all, may require us to pay
substantial royalties or licensing fees. Evendirols are determined to be without merit, defenditgwsuit takes significant time, may be
expensive and may divert management’s attention fsar other business concerns. Any public annourogsirelated to litigation or
interference proceedings initiated or threatenedresg us could cause our business to be harmeduwrstock price to decline.

Risks Related to Shared Wireless Infrastructure

Since 2010, the Company has been exploring opptigsiio leverage its fixed wireless network in orajrban markets to provide other
wireless technology solutions and services. Overpast few years, a significant increase in matala generated by smartphones, tablets, ar
other devices has placed tremendous demand oretivenks of the carriers. This has caused theararto explore a wide range of solutions
including (i) acquiring additional spectrum, (icnploying Wi-Fi to offload data traffic, and (iii}tilizing small cell technologies to increase
capacity in dense urban areas. During this peti@Company has incurred various costs relatédetatifying possible new solutions and
services. These costs included (a) rent paymemnisrdease agreements which provide the rightstalhwireless technology equipment on
street levetooftops, (b) construction of a carrier-class netwto offload data traffic, and (c) installation iflay Points of Presence (“PoPs”) to
connect its offload network to its fixed wirelesstwork. We entered into the lease agreements anchemced these capital projects for the
purpose of securing capacity that we believe welegd¢o maintain our competitive advantage in theless industry. In recent months, the
Company has concluded that the wireless commuanitaindustry is experiencing a fundamental shiftrfiits current, macro-cellular
architecture to hyper-densified Small Cell architee where existing cell sites will be supplemertigdnany smaller base stations operating
near street level. The Company also believeswhdti will be an integral component of Small Celthitecture.
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In January 2013, the Company incorporated a whmNyed subsidiary, Hetnets Tower Corporation (“Hetfje The Company plans to
transfer certain assets to Hetnets to supportpleation of a shared wireless infrastructure bissinddetnets plans to generate rental income
from four separate sources including (i) rentadpdice on street level rooftops for the installabbnustomer owned Small Cells which inclu
Wi-Fi antennae, DAS, and Metro and Pico cells,réital of a channel on Hetnets’ Wi-Fi network floe offloading of mobile data, (iii) rental
of cabinets, switch ports, interconnection serviagegduding backhaul or transport, and (iv) rembpower and power backup.

The Company has determined that Hetnets repreaeme business segment. Beginning in 2013, thep@aynwill provide segment
financial reporting for two business segments whidhbe referred to as (i) Fixed Wireless Servicasd (i) Shared Wireless Infrastructure.

Risks associated with Hetnets and its focus oreshaireless infrastructure include:
We have no experience operating a shared wirele$sastructure company.

Our newly formed subsidiary, Hetnets, has not hrgdexperience operating as a shared wireless tnficiare enterprise. We may
decide to operate Hetnets as a stand-alone busintisiés own management and board. For the near, thhe management and board of
directors are expected to be composed entirelyoofefstream officers and directors which could rameflicts of interest.

There is no assurance that we will be able to eeegur business plan for Hetnets. We may not be bbperate Hetnets successfully,
including generating revenues and achieving profitsg. We expect to transfer approximately $17lmi in equipment to Hetnets to support
its shared wireless infrastructure operations. Weeet to incur capital expenses in 2013 and inabs&ntial operating expenses as we pursue
our business strategy for Hetnets.

Hetnets is a new, untested business model thahigsto, yet different than, many traditional temcompanies and for this reason is
subject to many risks of tower companies and atisks which may not presently be known. If we anahle to execute our business strategy
and grow Hetnets, or are unable to attract custemecapital either as a result of the risks ideatiherein or for any other reason, our
business, results of operations, and financial itmmdcould be materially and adversely affected ae may be forced to terminate operations
related to Hetnets, which could have a materiakegh effect on the business, results of operatindginancial condition of the Company as a
whole.

Hetnets has no operating history as a separate camyp and this lack of experience may impede ourlipito successfully manage the
Hetnets business

Key members of our management team responsibleddership roles in the Hetnets business have periexce operating a business tha
is solely engaged in the shared wireless infrasiradusiness. We do not believe there is anyiegiftusiness that is dedicated primarily to
establishing a dominant position in shared wireieBastructure to be offered for use by others asduch both management and the busines
face uncertain risks. Hetnets has no operatingtyists a separate company. We cannot assure ybouthpast experience will be sufficient to
successfully operate Hetnets as a separate business

For a period of time, we will utilize shared resmes of Towerstream for Hetnets’ business and apesatlf our management, sales,
finance and accounting staff is unable for anyaras respond adequately to the increased dembatiwill result from separate operations,
we may be forced to incur additional administratwel other costs to avoid experiencing deficiencrematerial weaknesses in our disclosure
controls and procedures or our internal controk dwvencial reporting. We have not yet establispeatesses or procedures for operating
Hetnets as a separate business unit.

We may be unable to successfully execute any oftthginess opportunities we have identified for Heta to pursue.

In order for Hetnets to pursue business opporesyitive will need to build an effective companyasfructure and establish operational
capabilities, including investing additional capitecluding a portion of the proceeds of our Feloyu2013 equity offering. Our ability to do a
of these actions successfully could be affectedriyyone or more of the following factors:

. the ability of Hetnets equipment, our equipmentgigps or our service providers to perform as weeex;
. the ability of Hetnets to grow and integrate newaBi@ell antennae and shared wireless networksantdusiness;

. the ability of Hetnets to identify suitable locat®and then negotiate acceptable agreements withriguowners so that it can
establish new rooftop locatior

. the ability of Hetnets to effectively manage thewgth and expansion of its business operations withurring excessive costs,
high employee turnover or damage to business oelsttips;

. the ability of Hetnets to attract and retain quedifpersonnel which may be affected by the sigaificcompetition in our industry f
individuals experienced in network operations angireering;

. the ability of Hetnets to accurately predict anspiend to the rapid technological changes in itsistiy and the evolving demands



the markets it serves and plans to serve;
. our ability to raise additional capital to fund Het's growth and to support its operations untieéches profitability.

The failure of Hetnets to adequately address aeyooimore of the above factors could have a sicanifi adverse impact on its ability to
execute its business plan and may adversely affeahd our business, results of operations arahfiral condition.
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Many of the potential customers of Hetnets, whoehswbstantially greater assets than the Companyjmest in developing their own
shared or dedicated wireless infrastructure, wighigment, vendors or service providers that magugerior to ours, which could have a
material adverse effect on Hetnets and our businesslts of operations and financial conditionr @empetition may include businesses that
are also potential customers of Hetnets.

Hetnets will likely require additional capital focontinued growth, and its growth may be slowedtifloes not have sufficient capital.

The continued growth and operation of Hetnets Yikeill require additional funding for working caplt the continual need for
enhancement and upgrade of networks, the builabiafrastructure to expand coverage, and possibtpiisitions. Such funding may not be
available when needed in adequate amounts or @ptatide terms, if at all. To execute the Hetnetsrimss strategy, we may issue additional
equity securities in public or private offeringsiditionally, Hetnets may raise capital independeatlthe Company, and potentially at a price
lower than the market price or book value at theetof issuance. Any of such issuances may resslilistantial dilution to existing
shareholders. Similarly, we may seek debt finaneimd may be forced to incur interest expense. [Eamot secure sufficient funding for
Hetnets, we may be forced to forego strategic dppdies for Hetnets or otherwise or delay, scalekbor eliminate network deployments,
operations, acquisitions, and other investmentsiwtould have a material adverse effect on ouiness, results of operations and financial
condition.

Our plans for Hetnets may include financing or jofrventures on a stand-alone basis or a spinoff dfa a portion of the ownership of
Hetnets.

Our plans for Hetnets may include financing for iié#$ on a stand-alone basis, joint venture arraagenwith strategic partners for
financial investors, spinning all or a portion oétdets off to our stockholders, or a public offgrof a portion of the equity of Hetnets, altho!
such actions have not yet been approved by the @oyngnd may change.

Any of such actions ultimately may have a mateathlerse effect on our business, results of op@stand financial condition.
We depend on the continued availability of leases dur Hetnets shared wireless infrastructure busiss.

We intend to seek to obtain five year initial tedosour leases with renewal options of three ¥e fyears each, although there can be no
assurance that we will be able to do so. Such reheptions are exercisable generally at our digmmdiefore the expiration of the current te
If these leases are terminated or if the ownethaxfe structures are unwilling to continue to emiter leases with us in the future, we could be
forced to seek alternative arrangements with dnéding owners. If we are unable to continue toew or replace our shared wireless
infrastructure leases on satisfactory terms, Hetetd our business, results of operations andhéiah condition could be materially and
adversely affected.

Due to the long-term purchasing cycle of the expstitustomers for our wireless network infrastrucjrwe may face delays related to
contract approvals, the adoption of new wirelesstrologies such as Small Cell, and our acceptangddrge organizations as a
participation in the industry as a new entrant ofieg services similar to competitors with signifindly greater resources and scope
services (geographic and otherwise); Our expectasidor revenues include a limited number of largeropanies, such as major telecc
providers and carriers, internet, cellular and dafaoviders, which may experience approval delaysuléing from the timeliness of decisior
commitments and contract approvals our outright usials from such organizations; Our growth will aldme subject to the risk associated
with the creditworthiness and financial strength atistomers for our shared wireless infrastructure.

We expect long lead times from our prospectiveamsts prior to establishing predictable revenuestw Hetnets business, due to the
long-term nature of purchasing and commitment d@essof large organizations. We also expect to ggpee delays in converting our trials
and offerings into commitments from our prospectiustomers. The nature and duration of adoptioncantmitment delays is unpredictable.
We depend on the willingness of our prospectiveéausrs to transact business with a new entramtanidwer industry offering shared wirel
infrastructure, which technologies have not bedly firoven or adopted by the industry. In additiee are and will continue to be subject to
continued financial strength and creditworthinelssuw customers. Wireless service providers andrgphospective customers operate with
substantial leverage and have in the past filed&mkruptcy. As a small company, we may be moraanalble than larger companies to client
credit issues, payment delays and bankruptciescénomic down cycles, necessary capital raisingiges by our customers may be thwarted
and cause further delays or impact new technolegyoyment, which could impact us. Each of the foieg factors could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of op&stio financial condition.
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Hetnets will rely on a limited number of third paytsuppliers that manufacture carrier-class sharedreless infrastructure equipment,
and install and maintain its wireless infrastructer. If these companies fail to perform or experiengelays, shortages or increased demand
for their products or services, we may face a slage of components, increased costs, and may beireduo suspend our busine:
expansion.

Hetnets depends on a limited number of third psutypliers for carrier-class equipment requiredtfoshared wireless infrastructure. It
also depends on a limited number of third partiesstall and maintain its infrastructure equipmétgtnets does not maintain any long term
supply contracts with these manufacturers. If aufecturer or other provider does not satisfy Hethetquirements, or if it loses a
manufacturer or any other significant provider, idt$ may have insufficient equipment for instatlator maintenance of infrastructure. Such
developments could force it to suspend the deploymokits shared wireless infrastructure and magamits growth. This could have a
material adverse effect on Hetnets’ and our businmesults of operations and financial condition.

If data security measures employed by Hetnets aabhed, customers may perceive that its shareel®ss infrastructure is not secure
which may adversely affect its ability to attraatéretain customers and expose Hetnets to liability

Wireless infrastructure security and the authetitioeof customer credentials are designed to ptateauthorized access to data on our
shared wireless infrastructure. Because technigsed to prevent unauthorized access to or to sgbetaeless infrastructure change
frequently and may not be recognized until launchgainst a target, Hetnets may be unable to aat&ipr implement adequate preventive
measures against unauthorized access or sabotageedliently, unauthorized parties may overcomedt&tancryption and security systems,
and gain access to data on its wireless infrastrectn addition, because Hetnets operates andateits shared wireless infrastructure and ou
customers’ Internet connectivity, unauthorized asagr sabotage of the Hetnets shared wirelessiniure could result in damage to Hetnet:
shared wireless infrastructure and to the compuateather devices used by its customers. An actupkrceived breach of shared wireless
infrastructure security, regardless of whethertteach is the fault of Hetnets, could harm pubdiccpption of the effectiveness of its security
measures, adversely affect its ability to attraxt eetain customers, expose it to significant linband adversely affect its business prospects.
This could have a material adverse effect on Hetaaid, accordingly, our business, results of gpmma and financial condition.

The technology used by Hetnets to develop and/@rafe its shared wireless infrastructure may infge on the intellectual property
rights of others which may result in costly litigain and, if Hetnets does not prevail, could alsousg Hetnets to pay substantial damages
and/or prohibit it from maintaining our shared wiress infrastructure.

Third parties may assert infringement or otherlietéual property claims against Hetnets relateistterademarks, services or the
technology it uses or may use in the future to tbgvand/or operate its shared wireless infrastrectidetnets may have to pay substantial
damages, including damages for past infringemeéittisi ultimately determined that the shared waesl infrastructure infringes on a third
party’s proprietary rights. Further, it may be ghoted from maintaining the infringing shared wass infrastructure or portions thereof or be
required to pay substantial royalties or licendiggs to maintain it. Even if claims are determit@te without merit, defending a lawsuit takes
significant time, may be expensive and may diveahagement’s attention from our other business aascény public announcements relatec
to litigation or interference proceedings initiatetthreatened against it could materially and asklg affect its and our business, results of
operations and financial condition. We do not maimtnsurance coverage for intellectual properfmak nor have we established any reserve
for potential intellectual property claims.

Hetnets may experience difficulties in constructingpgrading and maintaining its shared wireless mktructure, which could impair
its ability to provide services to its customersdanay reduce its revenues.

Hetnets’ success depends on developing and pravatirvices that give customers access to hightgusdared wireless infrastructure. If
the number of customers using its shared wirelg@sastructure increases, it will require more isfracture and network resources to maintain
the quality of its services. Consequently, it mayréquired to make substantial investments to ingits facilities and equipment, and to
upgrade its technology and infrastructure. If Hetrewes not implement these developments succlyssfuexperiences inefficiencies,
operational failures or unforeseen costs duringemgntation, the quality of its shared wirelessasfructure could decline.
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Hetnets may experience quality deficiencies, custroins and delays in implementing its shared wa®infrastructure, improvements and
expansion and in maintenance and upgrade projactsding the portions of those projects not withgicontrol or the control of its
contractors. The development of shared wirelesastifucture may require securing permits and agtsdvom numerous governmental bodies
including municipalities and zoning boards. Suctibs often limit the installation of rooftop andngliar transmission equipment. Failure to
receive approvals in a timely fashion can delayesysollouts and raise the cost of completing migjeln addition, Hetnets typically is
required to obtain rights from building ownersstall its antennae and other shared wirelesssitnreture essential equipment. We may nc
able to obtain, on terms acceptable to us, odaihal rights necessary to install, expand, upgmadeaintain our shared wireless infrastructure.
A failure in any of these areas could materiallg adversely affect Hetnets’ and our business, testiloperations and financial condition.

Hetnets will rely on the availability of backhauksvices from Towerstream and others to support shared wireless infrastructure.

Hetnets will rely on the availability of backha@rsices from Towerstream and others to suppodhitgsed wireless infrastructure. Any
delay or failure regarding the availability of baekil services from Towerstream could have a maiadigerse effect on the operation of
Hetnets’ or the costs incurred to operate its shaiiecless infrastructure if it is required to dbtdackhaul services from other providers or if
such services otherwise are unavailable. This coale: a material adverse effect on Hetnets’ anduosiness, results of operations and
financial condition.

Hetnets utilizes unlicensed spectrum in all of itsarkets, which is subject to intense competitioowlbarriers of entry and slowdowns
due to multiple users.

Hetnets’ shared wireless infrastructure preseritlizes unlicensed spectrum in all of its markéislicensed or “free’spectrum is availab
to multiple users and may suffer bandwidth limias, interference and slowdowns if the number efsiexceeds traffic capacity. The
availability of unlicensed spectrum is not unlinditend others do not need to obtain permits or $ieerio utilize the same unlicensed spectrum
that we currently or may utilize in the future. Tihberent limitations of unlicensed spectrum cqubdentially threaten our ability to reliably
maintain our shared wireless infrastructure. Moegpthe prevalence of unlicensed spectrum createbarriers of entry in our industry which
naturally creates the potential for increased cditiqie for network availability, which could havenaaterial and adverse effect on Hetnets’ an
our business, results of operations and financiatition.

Regulation of the unlicensed spectrum used by Hésneould have an adverse effect

If the FCC or another governing agency determinegedulate the unlicensed spectrum that we prgsesd, then the additional regulati
and costs could have a material adverse affectaindts’ and our business, results of operationdiaadcial condition.

Interruption or failure of its shared wireless infrstructure systems could damage Hetnets’ reputatéon adversely affect its operating
results.

The business of Hetnets depends on the continygagation of its shared wireless infrastructureeyst with minimal interruptions of
service. Hetnets may experience service interraptar system failures in the future. Any servideriruption could adversely affect its
customers’ ability to operate their businessescudd result in their immediate loss of revenuésidtnets experiences frequent or persistent
infrastructure failures, its reputation could berpanently harmed and customers may be reluctasdritract with it for access to its shared
wireless infrastructure. Hetnets may need to maj@ficant capital expenditures to increase thahglity of its shared wireless infrastructure
and it may not have sufficient funds to cover segpenditures. This could have a material and aéweffect on its and our business, results of
operations, and financial condition.

A small number of customers could account for a sificant portion of Hetnets’ revenue. The loss oigsificant reduction in business
from one or more of its large customers could sificantly harm its business, financial condition, ahresults of operations

Hetnets currently expects to depend upon a relgtsraall number of potential customers for a sigaifit percentage of its revenue which
is expected to constitute a significant and growaogion of our revenues on a consolidated basisa Aesult, its business, financial condition
and results of operations could be adversely afteiftit loses one or more of its larger customiérs,ich customers significantly reduce their
business with Hetnets, if they fail to make payraantdelay making payments or if Hetnets choosésonenforce, or to enforce less
vigorously, any rights that it may have now orhe future against these significant customers lsecafiits desire to maintain its relationship
with them.
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Hetnets faces competition for rooftop space and nii@yunable to lease rooftop space, renew existagskes for rooftop space or re-lease
rooftop space as leases expire, which may adverafgct its business, results of operations, andafincial condition.

Hetnets competes with numerous broadband, Wi-Rylag commercial and other wireless network opars many of whom desire
rooftop locations similar to ours in the same megkas well as various other public and privateidlcompanies that may provide rooftop
utilization as part of a more expansive managedas offering. In addition, Hetnets may face cotitjge from new entrants into the wireless
network market. Some of Hetnets’ competitors masehggnificant advantages over us, including lorapeerating histories, lower operating
costs, pre-existing relationships with current otemtial landlords, greater financial, marketingl ather resources, and access to less expens
power. These advantages could allow its competitorespond more quickly to strategic opportunibeshanges in its industries or market:
Hetnets is unable to compete effectively, it magelexisting or potential rooftop locations, incasts to improve its locations or be forced to
reduce the coverage of our shared wireless infretstre.

Third party landlords may not renew their leasél®fzing expiration. While historically our sharedreless infrastructure business has
retained a significant number of its third partgded space, including those leased on a month-tdknb@sis, upon expiration landlords may
elect to not renew their leases or renew theirdgas higher rates, or for shorter terms. If Hatiietinable to successfully renew or continue it:
third party leases on the same or more favorabhest®r lease other comparable space when suclsleape, Hetnets’ and our business,
results of operations, and financial condition ddog adversely affected.

A substantial portion of the shared wireless inftascture of Hetnets presently is located in a lira¢t geographic area, which makes it
more susceptible to localized catastrophic weatbeents.

Hetnets shared wireless infrastructure presentjyeégraphically concentrated in just five metrooliareas. As such, it is susceptible to a
natural disaster or an oversupply of, or decreasemand for, shared wireless infrastructure isehmarkets, and its business could be
adversely affected to a greater extent than shisred wireless infrastructure was diversified gaphically.

Any failure of its shared wireless infrastructurcould cause Hetnets to incur significant costs.

Hetnets’ business depends on providing highly bédighared wireless infrastructure services toutomers. The physical infrastructure
may fail for a number of reasons, including:

. human error
. unexpected equipment failur
. power loss or telecommunications failur
. improper building maintenance by landlords in th@dings where it maintains antenni
. fire, tropical storm, hurricane, tornado, floodrteguake and other natural disast
. water damage
. war, terrorism and any related conflicts or simédaents worldwide; an
. sabotage and vandalis
If, as a result of any of these events, or othailar events beyond its control there is an infiagture failure, and it is not corrected
immediately, Hetnets ultimately may suffer a loésewenue which could materially and adversely etfféetnets’ and our business, results of
operations, and financial condition.
Hetnets may have difficulty managing its growth.
Hetnets intends to rapidly expand its shared wselefrastructure significantly. This, in turn, lniéquire it to increase significantly the
number of its employees and, consequently, theeesitie of Hetnets. Its growth may also signifibastrain its management, operational and
financial resources and systems. An inability tanagge growth effectively or the increased straint®management, resources and systems

could materially adversely affect its businessultsof operations, and financial condition.

To fund its growth strategy, Hetnets will depend erternal sources of capital, which may not be daale to it on commercially
reasonable terms or at all.

It is likely that Hetnets will not be able to fufuture capital needs, including any necessary a#gun financing, from operating cash flc
Consequently, Hetnets likely will rely on third-pacapital markets sources for debt or equity feiag to fund its growth strategy. In addition,
it may need third-party capital markets source®fimance any indebtedness at maturity. Continuedaveased turbulence in the U.S. and
other financial markets and economies may adveedédgt its ability to access the capital marketsieet liquidity and capital expenditure
requirements and may result in adverse effectésduisiness, results of operations, and financiatlition. As such, we may not be able



obtain the financing on favorable terms or at@lir access to third-party sources of capital atgmedds, in part, on:
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. the marke's perception of Hetn€e' growth potential
. Hetnet’ then current debt levels; a
. the market price per share of our common st

The loss of any of our key personnel devoted torkéd$, including executive officers or key sales @siates, could adversely affect
Hetnet¢ and our business, financial condition and results operations.

The success of Hetnets will continue to dependsigrificant extent on its executive officers amy Isales personnel. Each of its execu
officers has a national or regional industry reflatathat attracts business and investment oppitiesnThe loss of key sales personnel could
hinder its ability to continue to benefit from etiigy and potential customers. We cannot provideassurance that Hetnets will be able to re
its current executive officers or key sales pergbnfhe loss of any of these individuals could matly and adversely affect its and our
business, results of operations, and financial itimmd

An economic or industry slowdown may materially andversely affect the Hetnets business.

Slowdowns in the economy or in the wireless or Bbaad industry may impact the demand for accebtetoets shared wireless
infrastructure. Users may reduce the amount of waitt that they purchase from wireless network ap@®s during economic downturns
which may adversely affect the rents Hetnets expecteceive from our customers. An economic oustiy slowdown may cause other
businesses or industries to delay or abandon imgreation of new systems and technologies, includirayed wireless infrastructure services.
Further, political uncertainties, including actstefrorism and other unforeseen events, may impddgional risks upon and materially and
adversely affect the wireless or broadband induggtnerally and, in turn, the Hetnets business.

Hetnets operates in a rapidly evolving industry whimakes it difficult to forecast its future prospts as its shared wireless
infrastructure, or portions thereof, may become alhste and it may not be able to develop replaceniefiastructure on a timely basis or at
all.

The wireless services industry is characterizedapyd technological change, competitive pricinggirent new service introductions, and
evolving industry standards and regulatory requéets. We believe that the success of Hetnets despends ability to anticipate and adapt to
these challenges and to offer competitive sharedl@gs infrastructure opportunities on a timelyidad/e face a number of difficulties and
uncertainties such as:

. competition from service providers using more édfit, less expensive technologies including pragluct yet invented or
developed

. responding successfully to advances in competicignigogies in a timely and cost-effective manner;
. migration toward standards-based technology, wiriall require substantial capital expenditures; and
. existing, proposed or undeveloped technologiesritaat render our wireless network assets less phiditor obsolete.
Risks Relating to the Wireless Industry
An economic or industry slowdown may materially andversely affect our business.
Slowdowns in the economy or in the wireless or Bbaand industry may impact demand for our serviCestomers may reduce the
amount of bandwidth that they purchase from usndueiconomic downturns which will directly affectraevenues and operating results. An
economic or industry slowdown may cause other lassies or industries to delay or abandon implementat new systems and technologies,

including wireless broadband services. Furtheiitipal uncertainties, including acts of terrorismdaother unforeseen events, may impose
additional risks upon and adversely affect the wg® or broadband industry generally, and our lessinspecifically.
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We operate in an evolving industry which makesitfidult to forecast our future prospects as ourséces may become obsolete and we
may not be able to develop competitive productsamwices on a timely basis or at all.

The broadband and wireless services industriestamacterized by rapid technological change, coitivgepricing, frequent new service
introductions, and evolving industry standards segllatory requirements. We believe that our suecdepends on our ability to anticipate and
adapt to these challenges and to offer compet#veices on a timely basis. We face a number @tdifies and uncertainties such as:

. competition from service providers using more ééfit, less expensive technologies including proglnot yet invented or
developed

. responding successfully to advances in competicignigogies in a timely and cost-effective manner;
. migration toward standards-based technology, whialy require substantial capital expenditures; and
. existing, proposed or undeveloped technologiesrttaat render our wireless broadband services lesggile or obsolete.

As the services offered by us and our competitexgelbp, businesses and consumers may not accepemites as a commercially viable
alternative to other means of delivering wirelessaldband services. As a result, our services megrbe obsolete and we may be unable to
develop competitive products or services on a frbekis, or at all.

We are subject to extensive regulation that coufdit or restrict our activities. If we fail to comly with these regulations, we may be
subject to penalties, both monetary and r-monetary, which may adversely affect our financiandition and results of operations.

Our business activities, including the acquisitiease, maintenance and use of spectrum licensesxgensively regulated by federal, s
and local governmental authorities. A number okfadl state and local privacy, security, and coresuaws also apply to our business. These
regulations and their application are subject tatiooous change as new legislation, regulatioreneendments to existing regulations are
periodically implemented by governmental or requigtauthorities, including as a result of judidiaierpretations of such laws and regulations
Current regulations directly affect the breadtlsefvices we are able to offer and may impact ttesyaerms and conditions of our services.
Regulation of companies that offer competing s@wisuch as cable and DSL providers, and teleconuatimns carriers also affects our
business.

We are currently not required to register with theversal Service Administrative Company (“USAC? a seller of telecommunications,
nor are we required to collect Universal Servicad-(fUSF") fees from our customers or to pay US&sfdirectly. In October 2011, the FCC
adopted an Order dramatically changing the USFraragin the next few months, the FCC is also exqbtt address USF contribution
reform. It is possible that the FCC could adopt megulations requiring broadband service providenrggister and pay USF fees. If the FCC
were to implement such a change, we would likelpblggated to pay USF fees on some or all of oosgirevenues.

In addition, the FCC or other regulatory authositi®uld restrict our ability to manage customes® af our network, thereby limiting our
ability to prevent or address customers’ excedsarelwidth demands. To maintain the quality of cetwork and user experience, we may
manage the bandwidth used by our customers’ apiolits in part by restricting the types of applicas that may be used over our network. If
the FCC or other regulatory authorities were topadegulations that constrain our ability to empbandwidth management practices,
excessive use of bandwidititensive applications would likely reduce the dyadf our services for all customers. Such declinéhe quality o
our services could harm our business.

The breach of a license or applicable law, evatdidentally, can result in the revocation, susigengancellation or reduction in the term
of a license or the imposition of fines. In additisegulatory authorities may grant new licensethit@ parties, resulting in greater competition
in territories where we already have rights toriged spectrum. In order to promote competitiomnses may also require that third parties be
granted access to our bandwidth, frequency capdattifities or services. We may not be able taobbr retain any required license, and we
may not be able to renew a license on favorabiadeor at all.

Wireless broadband services may become subjecetieag state or federal regulation in the fututee $cope of the regulations that may

apply to companies like us and the impact of segjulations on our competitive position are presemiknown and could be detrimental to
business and prospects.
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Risks Relating to Our Organization

Our certificate of incorporation allows for our baa of directors to create new series of preferredck without further approval by our
stockholders which could adversely affect the righdf the holders of our common stoc

Our board of directors has the authority to fix @etermine the relative rights and preferencegefigpred stock. Our board of directors
also has the authority to issue preferred stockawit further stockholder approval. As a result, loard of directors could authorize the
issuance of a series of preferred stock that wgrddt to such holders (i) the preferred right to assets upon liquidation, (ii) the right to
receive dividend payments before dividends areilliged to the holders of common stock and (ii§ thght to the redemption of the shares,
together with a premium, prior to the redemptiomof common stock. In addition, our board of dioestcould authorize the issuance of a
series of preferred stock that has greater votawggp than our common stock or that is convertibte bur common stock, which could
decrease the relative voting power of our commoaksbr result in dilution to our existing commongtholders.

Any of the actions described in the preceding panaly could significantly adversely affect the invesnt made by holders of our common
stock. Holders of common stock could potentially remeive dividends that they might otherwise heaeeived. In addition, holders of our
common stock could receive less proceeds in commmewith any future sale of the Company, whethdidnidation or on any other basis.

Our officers and directors own a substantial amouoit our common stock and, therefore, exercise sfigggint control over our corporat:
governance and affairs which may result in theirkismg actions with which other shareholders do nogree.

Our executive officers and directors, and entiéiffgiated with them, control approximately 11%air outstanding common stock
(including shares of common stock underlying exsatsie stock options). These shareholders, if toeyogether, may be able to exercise
substantial influence over the outcome of all coap®actions requiring approval of our shareholdarduding the election of directors and
approval of significant corporate transactions,alihinay result in corporate action with which otkleareholders do not agree. This
concentration of ownership may also have the effédelaying or preventing a change in control vahigight be in other shareholders’ best
interest but which might negatively affect the nedririce of our common stock.

We are subject to extensive financial reporting arelated requirements for which our accounting armdher management systems and
resources may not be adequately prepared.

We are subject to reporting and other obligatiomden the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as antendeluding the requirements of
Section 404 of the Sarban@sdey Act. Section 404 requires us to conduct amuahmanagement assessment of the effectiveness afterna
controls over financial reporting. These reportamgl other obligations will place significant demamah our management, administrative,
operational and accounting resources. We anticippateve may need to (i) upgrade our systemsinfijlement additional financial and
management controls, reporting systems and proesgd(iii) implement an internal audit function, &g hire additional accounting, internal
audit and finance staff. If we are unable to acdshphese objectives in a timely and effective mamour ability to comply with our financial
reporting requirements and other rules that appheporting companies could be impaired. Any faltor maintain effective internal controls
could have a negative impact on our ability to nggnaur business and on our stock price.

We may be at risk to accurately report financialsts or detect fraud if we fail to maintain an ef€tive system of internal controls.

As directed by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-OxleyofA2002, the SEC adopted rules requiring puldimpanies to include a report that
contains an assessment by management on the Compaeynal control over financial reporting in thannual and quarterly reports on Form
10-K and 10-Q. While we are consistently workingimprovements and conducting rigorous reviews afisternal controls over financial
reporting, our independent auditors may interpesttin 404 requirements and apply related rulesregdlations differently. If our
independent auditors are not satisfied with owarimdl control over financial reporting or with tleeel at which it is documented, operated or
reviewed, they may decline to accept managemessassment and not provide an attestation repartioimternal control over financial
reporting. Additionally, if we are not able to meditthe requirements of Section 404 in a timelyhmex or with adequate compliance, we mi
be subject to sanctions or investigation by reguaauthorities, such as the SEC.
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We cannot assure you that significant deficienoresmaterial weaknesses in our disclosure contradsiaternal control over financial
reporting will not be identified in the future. Alsfuture changes in our accounting, financial répg, and regulatory environment may create
new areas of risk exposure. Failure to modify odisterg control environment accordingly may impair controls over financial reporting and
cause our investors to lose confidence in thebiilia of our financial reporting, which may advetyg affect our stock price.

Risks Relating to Our Common Stock

We may fail to qualify for continued listing on thBIASDAQ Capital Market which could make it more #dult for investors to sell their
shares.

In May 2007, our common stock was approved foiniggsbn the NASDAQ Capital Market and our commortktoontinues to be listed on
the NASDAQ Capital Market. There can be no asswdhat trading of our common stock on such marlkte sustained or that we can m
NASDAQ's continued listing standards. In the event thatammmon stock fails to qualify for continued ingion, our common stock could
thereafter only be quoted on the OTC Bulletin Boarrthe “pink sheets.” Under such circumstancearediolders may find it more difficult to
sell, or to obtain accurate quotations, for our owm stock, and our common stock would become sutizlig less attractive to certain
purchasers such as financial institutions, hedgddwand other similar investors.

Our common stock may be affected by limited tradimgume and price fluctuations which could advergempact the value of our
common stock.

While there has been relatively active tradinguin ommon stock over the past twelve months, thanebe no assurance that an active
trading market in our common stock will either deyeor be maintained. Our common stock has expeeignand is likely to experience in the
future, significant price and volume fluctuationkieh could adversely affect the market price of cammon stock without regard to our
operating performance. In addition, we believe thators such as quarterly fluctuations in ourfiicial results and changes in the overall
economy or the condition of the financial markedald cause the price of our common stock to flugtsaibstantially. These fluctuations may
also cause short sellers to periodically ententheket in the belief that we will have poor resittshe future. We cannot predict the actions of
market participants and, therefore, can offer rem@ces that the market for our common stockbeilstable or appreciate over time.

We have not paid dividends in the past and do nqiext to pay dividends in the future. Any return @m investment in our common
stock is expected to be limited to an increasehia value of the common stoc

We have never paid cash dividends on our commaik stod do not anticipate doing so in the foreseealilire. The payment of divider
on our common stock will depend on our earninggritial condition, and other business and econéantors as our board of directors may
consider relevant. If we do not pay dividends, cammon stock may be considered less valuable be@ateturn on a shareholdemvestmer
will only occur if our stock price appreciates.

We adopted a Rights Plan in 2010 which may discayeahird parties from attempting to acquire controf our company and have an
adverse effect on the price of our common stock.

In November 2010, we adopted a rights plan (thgh& Plan”) and declared a dividend distributioroné preferred share purchase right
for each outstanding share of common stock aseofebord date on November 14, 2010. Each rightnveixercisable, entitles the registered
holder to purchase one-hundredth (1/¥Qf a share of Series A Preferred Stock, par v&u801 per shares of the Company at a purchase
price of $18.00 per one-hundredth (1/10pof a share of the Series A Preferred Stock, suibjecertain adjustments. The rights will gengrall
separate from the common stock and become exeleigamny person or group acquires or announcesder offer to acquire 15% or more of
our outstanding common stock without the consetuofboard of directors. Because the rights magtsutially dilute the stock ownership ¢
person or group attempting to take us over witllbetapproval of our board of directors, our RigPisn could make it more difficult for a thi
party to acquire us (or a significant percentagewfoutstanding capital stock) without first négtihg with our board of directors. In addition,
we are governed by provisions of Delaware law thay prohibit large stockholders, in particular ta@svning 15% or more of our outstanding
voting stock, from merging or combining with us.

The provisions in our charter, bylaws, Rights Rlad under Delaware law related to the foregoindccdiscourage takeover attempts that
our stockholders would otherwise favor, or otheeaisduce the price that investors might be willmgay for our common stock in the future.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not applicable.
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Item 2. Properties.

Our executive offices are currently located in Maldwn, Rhode Island, where we lease approximat2|$37 square feet of space,
consisting of a 17,137 square feet building at ankharlund Way for our administrative, engineerinfgrmation technology and customer
care offices and a 25,000 square feet buildin@&®iB/a Lane for our sales call center. Our annesal payments totaled approximately
$570,000 in 2012 and will total approximately $48)@& month through the end of the lease. Our legsiees on December 31, 2013 with an
option to renew for an additional five-year terme\db not own any real property.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

There are no significant legal proceedings pending,we are not aware of any material proceedintéecoplated by a governmental
authority, to which we are a party or any of owpaerty is subject.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities.
Market Information

Our common stock was quoted on the OTC BulletinrBdeom January 12, 2007 through May 30, 2007 utigeisymbol TWER.OB.
Since May 31, 2007, our common stock has beerdlmtethe NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol TRVPrior to January 12, 2007,
there was no active market for our common stocle fbllowing table sets forth the high and low saldases as reported on the NASDAQ
Capital Market. The quotations reflect inter-deglgces, without retail mark-up, mark-down or corasibn, and may not represent actual
transactions.

FISCAL YEAR 2012 HIGH LOW

First Quartel $ 5,07 $ 2.0¢
Second Quarte $ 5.8¢ $ 3.3¢
Third Quartel $ 47C $ 3.3¢
Fourth Quarte $ 41t 3 2.4(
FISCAL YEAR 2011 HIGH LOW

First Quarte! $ 50¢ $ 3.42
Second Quarte $ 57C $ 3.61
Third Quartel $ 551 $ 2.5(C
Fourth Quarte $ 32 % 1.7¢

The last reported sales price of our common stocthe NASDAQ Capital Market on December 31, 2012 $@.25 and on March 14,
2013, the last reported sales price was $2.80. iaog to the records of our transfer agent, as afdfl 14, 2013, there were approximately 50
holders of record of our common stock.

Performance Graph

On May 31, 2007, our shares of common stock bemgaling on the NASDAQ Capital Market. The chart belmbompares the annual
percentage change in the cumulative total returausrcommon stock with the NASDAQ Capital Marketn@site Index and the NASDAQ
Telecom Index. The chart shows the value as of Dbee 31, 2012, of $100 invested on May 31, 200§ didty our common stock was first
publicly traded on the NASDAQ Capital Market, inrmaommon stock, the NASDAQ Capital Market Compositdex and the NASDAQ
Telecom Index.

Comparison of Cumulative Total Returns Among Towergream,
NASDAQ Capital Market Composite Index and NASDAQ Téecom Index

120
— #= Towerstream Corporation
il NASDAC Capital Market Composite Index
100 N NASDAQ Telscom Indax
BO
B
A0
20
5731 /2007 12/31/2007 12/31/2008 12/31/2009 12/31/2010 12/31/2011 12/31/2012
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5/31/2007 12/31/200° 12/31/200¢ 12/31/200¢ 12/31/201( 12/31/201. 12/31/201.

Towerstream Corporatic $ 1000 $ 4137 $ 92¢ $ 2611 $ 546¢ $ 2851 $ 437«
NASDAQ Capital Market Composi

Index $ 100.0C $ 83.8: $ 3891 $ 52.0¢ $ 61.1: $ 47.0¢ 3 53.4¢
NASDAQ Telecom Inde: $ 100.0¢ $ 101.5¢ $ 5791 $ 85.8t $ 89.2: $ 77.9¢ $ 79.52

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends oo@umon stock, and we do not intend to pay ani dasdends on our common stc
in the foreseeable future. Rather, we expect @irrdtiture earnings (if any) to fund the operatiom expansion of our business and for genere

corporate purposes.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

As of December 31, 2012, securities issued andisiesuavailable for future issuance under our 28@8-Employee Directors

Compensation Plan, our 2007 Equity Compensation &ha our 2007 Incentive Stock Plan were as follows

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities to | Weighted average Number of securities
issued upon exercise of exercise price of  remaining available for futu
outstanding options, outstanding options, issuance under equity
warrants and right warrants and right compensation plar
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrs 3,916,04! $ 2.8t 3,181,77.
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders - $ - -
Total 3,916,04 $ 2.8t 3,181,77.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The annual financial information set forth belovs lieeen derived from our audited consolidated firstatements. The information should
read in connection with, and is qualified in itsieaty by reference to, Management’s DiscussionAnalysis, the consolidated financial
statements and notes included elsewhere in thistrapd in our SEC filings.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
DATA:
Revenue:
Operating Expense
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciati
Depreciation and amortizatic
Customer support servic
Sales and marketir
General and administrative
Total Operating Expenses
Operating (Loss) Incom
Other Income/ (Expens
Interest incom
Interest expens
Gain on business acquisitio
Loss on derivative financial instrumetr
Other income (expense), net
Total Other Income/ (Expense)
Loss before income tax
Provision for income taxes
Net (loss) incomi

Net (loss) income per common sh~ basic and dilute:
Weighted average common shares outstanding — &iadic
diluted

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS DATA (at
December 31,):

Cash and cash equivalel

Property, plant and equipment, |

Total asset

Working capital

Stockholde’s equity

OTHER FINANCIAL DATA:

Capital expenditure

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi
Net cash used in investing activiti

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi

Years Ended December 31

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
$10,656,08 $14,91543 $19,645,89 $26,494,73 $32,279,43
4,076,10( 3,690,08! 4,887,88 8,190,11.  16,379,18
3,222,711 4,035,26 5,770,33! 9,138,31:  13,634,29
1,820,10. 2,132,96: 2,549,61! 3,557,12. 4,709,41:
7,692,26:! 5,545,71. 5,088,08! 5,362,10: 6,134,02!
7,208,80. 6,943,08 7,398,42! 9,411,60:  12,168,18
24,019,98 22,347,12 25,694,33 3565926  53,025,09
(13,363,90)  (7,431,68) (6,048,44)  (9,164,52) (20,745,66)
578,37: 26,60¢ 4,411 57,54« 41,53:
(509,597 (740,409 (489) (22,05¢) (105,24Y
- - 355,87t 2,231,53. (40,079
- (478,54 - - -
(82,29/) (1,219 85,63¢ (9,58) (13,860
(13,519  (1,193,56) 445 A3 2,257,43 (117,652
(13,377,41)  (8,625,25) (5,603,00)  (6,907,08) (20,863,31)
- - - (118,019 (126,25¢)
$(13,377,41) $(8,625,25) $(5,603,00) $ (7,025,10) $(20,989,57)
$ (039 $ (0.25) $ (0.16) $ (0.1 $ (0.39
34,543,97 34,606,79 35626,78  47,505,86  54,434,17
$24,740,26  $14,040,83 $23,173,35 $44,672,58 $ 15,152,22
12,890,77  13,634,68 15,266,05  27,531,27  41,982,21
39,287,83  29,502,70 44,589,82  83,636,89  67,109,71
19,412,42  11,452,31  20,184,12  40,231,50  10,087,91
33,007,11  25,411,17 40,020,87  77,144,91  57,803,90
$ 7,683,85 $ 4,707,67 $ 5,304,443 $13,620,18 $20,722,51
(7,873,23)  (3,120,32) 238,53 702,51¢  (8,078,49)
(8,095,87)  (4,803,76)  (8,057,74) (18,218,72) (21,343,12)
(47,490  (2,775,34) 16,951,72  39,015,44 (98,740
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Years Ended December 31

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Reconciliation of Nor-GAAP to GAAP measures:

Net loss $(13,377,41) $(8,625,25() $(5,603,00) $(7,025,10) $(20,989,57)
Depreciation and amortizatic 3,222,711  4,035,26 5,770,33! 9,138,311 13,634,29
Non-recurring expenses, primarily acquisit-related - 185,16t 758,58¢ 495,86( 517,25
Stoclk-based compensatic 899,33¢ 802,95¢ 771,81: 1,081,04 1,658,20!
Loss on property and equipme 83,40¢ 57,41: 74,53 65,21¢ 171,23(
Loss on nonmonetary transactic - - - 41,22¢ 259,29:
Gain on business acquisitio - - (355,876 (2,231,53) 40,07¢
Loss on derivative instrumer - 478,54« - - -
Interest incomt (578,37) (26,60%) (4,410 (57,54¢) (41,53
Interest expens 509,59: 740,40¢ 48¢ 22,05¢ 105,24!
Other income (expense), r 82,29« 1,21: (85,639 9,581 13,86(
Provision for income taxes - - - 118,01¢ 126,25¢
Adjusted EBITDA, excluding nc¢-recurring expense (9,158,44) (2,350,88) 1,326,821 1,657,13' (4,505,400
Non-core expenses - - 604,60« 3,580,95 10,875,39

Adjusted EBITDA, excluding non-recurring and norm-€expenses $ (9,158,44) $(2,350,88) $ 1,931,431 $5,238,09: $ 6,369,99.

We focus on Adjusted EBITDA as a principal indicadb the operating efficiency and overall finangigrformance of our business. We
believe this information provides the users of fancial statements with valuable insight into operating results. Beginning in 2010, we
have been exploring opportunities to leverage ndustry experience and our fixed wireless networknajor urban markets to provide other
wireless technology solutions and services. Westlmaesented costs associated with these efforterasore expenses so that users can
understand the operating performance of our cosabss, Fixed Wireless Services, which has beeratipg for more than ten years, as well
as costs that we have incurred to develop new egsisslechnology solutions and services.

EBITDA is calculated as net income (loss) befoteriast, income taxes, depreciation and amortizata define Adjusted EBITDA as r
income (loss) before interest, income taxes, déguien and amortization expenses, excluding wheiegible, stock-based compensation,
other non-operating income or expenses, non-cqrereses as well as gain or loss on (i) disposatagerty and equipment, (i) nonmonetary
transactions, and (iii) business acquisitionss Ihiportant to note, however, that non-GAAP finahaneasures as presented do not represent
cash provided by or used in operating activitied @y not be comparable to similarly titled measueported by other companies. Neither
should be considered in isolation or as a substftut measures of performance prepared in accoedaith GAAP.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations.
Overview

We provide fixed wireless broadband services toroencial customers and deliver access over a wgelesvork transmitting over both
regulated and unregulated radio spectrum. Ouraestpports bandwidth on demand, wireless reduydairtual private networks (“VPNs”),
disaster recovery, bundled data and video serniesprovide service to approximately 3,600 busirestomers in New York City, Boston,

Chicago, Los Angeles, San Francisco, Seattle, MiBallas-Fort Worth, Philadelphia, Nashville, Lasgas-Reno and Providence-Newport. Ir
February 2013, we acquired Delos Internet whichaegls our service coverage into Houston, Texas.
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Since 2010, we have been exploring opportunitideverage our fixed wireless network in major urbaarkets to provide other wireless
technology solutions and services. Over the mastyfears, a significant increase in mobile dateegged by smartphones, tablets, and other
devices has placed tremendous demand on the netwbtke carriers. This has caused the carrieegore a wide range of solutions
including (i) acquiring additional spectrum, (icneloying Wi-Fi to offload data traffic, and (iii}tilizing small cell technologies to increase
capacity in dense urban areas. During this periedhave incurred various costs related to ideintifypossible new solutions and services.
These costs included (a) rent payments under Bgrgements which provide the right to install véss technology equipment on street level
rooftops, (b) construction of a carrier-class neto offload data traffic, and (c) installation r@flay Points of Presence (“PoP&3)connect ot
offload network to our fixed wireless network. Watered into the lease agreements and commencezldhpial projects for the purpose of
securing capacity that we believe we needed totaiaiour competitive advantage in the wireless &igu In recent months, the Company has
concluded that the wireless communications industexperiencing a fundamental shift from its catrenacro-cellular architecture to hyper-
densified Small Cell architecture where existinlj sites will be supplemented by many smaller kstations operating near street level. The
Company also believes that Wi-Fi will be an intég@mponent of Small Cell architecture.

In April 2010, we completed the acquisition of thestomer relationships, network infrastructure eeldted assets of the Chicago, lllinois
and Nashville, Tennessee networks of Sparkplugagioicinc. (“Sparkplug”). The aggregate consideraiieluded (i) approximately $1.2
million in cash and (ii) 275,700 shares of our camnnstock with a fair value of approximately $0.4limin. The acquisition of Sparkplug was a
business combination accounted for under the aitignisnethod.

In December 2010, we completed the acquisitiomefdustomer relationships, network infrastructure @elated assets of Pipeline
Wireless, LLC (“Pipeline”), which was primarily bed in the greater Boston area. The aggregate @masioh included (i) approximately $1.6
million in cash, (ii) 411,523 shares of common ktadth a fair value of approximately $1.5 milliofii) approximately $0.5 million of deferre
cash payments over a 36 month period beginning 20h#&, and (iv) approximately $0.2 million in assdniabilities. The acquisition of
Pipeline was a business combination accountedrfdenthe acquisition method. In September 2011fjmadized the purchase price of the
Pipeline acquisition. The final purchase price 8f749,047 was $112,421, or 3%, lower than theaijtreported purchase price of $3,831,4
The adjustment resulted in a decrease in defeagdhents of $145,065, or $112,421 on a net presdaé\basis. In addition, identifiable net
assets and goodwill were reduced by $62,131 an@®$80respectively.

In May 2011, we completed the acquisition of thetomer relationships, network infrastructure ardteel assets of One Velocity Inc.
(“One Velocity”) which was based in Las Vegas areh&® Nevada. The aggregate consideration for theisition included (i) approximately
$1.6 million in cash, and (ii) 269,886 shares ahowon stock with a fair value of approximately $inBlion. The acquisition of One Velocity
was a business combination accounted for undeadqeisition method. In January 2012, we finalizgal purchase price of the One Velocity
acquisition. The final purchase price of $2,881,868 $557,773, or 16%, lower than the initiallyoepd purchase price of $3,439,732. The
adjustment resulted in a decrease of 117,426 sbamsnmon stock issued to One Velocity, from 382,8 269,886 shares. In addition, we
recognized additional gain on business acquisifceppproximately $481,000 and a reduction of apjnexely $77,000 of identifiable net
assets in the fourth quarter of 2011.

In December 2011, we completed the acquisitioreofain customer relationships, network infrastreetand related assets of Color
Broadband Communications, Inc. (“Color Broadbandijch is based in the Los Angeles area. The agdgegpnsideration for the acquisition
included (i) approximately $2.8 million in cash) 827,230 shares of our common stock with a falue of approximately $2.0 million, and
(iii) approximately $0.2 million in assumed lialidis. The acquisition of Color Broadband was afess combination accounted for under the
acquisition method. In May 2012, we finalized theqghase price of Color Broadband. The final purelfaice of $5,098,996 was $220,885, or
4%, lower than the initially reported purchase @ri¢ $5,319,881. The finalization of the purchaseepresulted in a reduction of approxima
$261,000 of identifiable net assets and a redudtidhe gain on business acquisition of approxitysd0,000. The purchase price adjustment
resulted in a decrease in the number of sharesmimon stock issued to Color Broadband of 98,5061f8@5,736 to 827,230 shares. In
addition, 45,600 shares of common stock were retlita the Company principally representing accoteitsivable collections retained by
Color Broadband during the post-closing transigervices period.

In August 2012, we entered into a binding mergeeagent with Delos Internet (“Delos”) pursuant tieieh a wholly owned subsidiary of
ours would be merged with and into Delos, with Bdbecoming a wholly owned subsidiary of ours. Delpsrates in Houston, Texas. We
closed the acquisition of Delos in February 2013.

Characteristics of our Revenues and Expenses

We offer our fixed wireless broadband services uadeeements having terms of one, two or threesy@arrsuant to these agreements, wi
bill customers on a monthly basis, in advancegfarh month of service. Payments received in advaihservices performed are recorded as
deferred revenues and recognized as revenue ratadhthe service period.

Costs of revenues consists of expenses that aetlglirelated to providing services to our custa@narcluding Core Network expenses
(tower and roof rent and utilities, bandwidth cofteP maintenance and other) and Customer Netwpénses (customer maintenance, non-
installation fees and other customer specific espeh We collectively refer to Core Network andstomer Network as our “Network,” and
Core Network costs and Customer Network costs a&whirk Costs.” When we first enter a new markegxpand in an existing market, we
are required to incur up-front costs in order taabke to provide wireless broadband services tongernial customers We refer to these
activities as establishing a “Network PresericEhese costs include building PoPs which are Compaggtions where we install a substantial
amount of equipment in order to connect numerosgocoers to the Internet. The costs to build PePsapitalized and expensed over a five
year period. In addition to building PoPs, we asater tower and roof rental agreements, securéviidth and incur other Network Cost



Once we have established a Network Presence iwanaeket or expanded our Network Presence in astiegimarket, we are capable of
servicing a significant number of customers throtigtt Network Presence. The variable cost to &d customers is relatively modest,
especially compared to the upfront cost of esthbigsor expanding our Network Presence. As a tesuf gross margins in a market normally

increase over time as we add new customers imthetet. However, we may experience variabilitgioss margins during periods in which
we are expanding our Network Presence in a market.
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Sales and marketing expenses primarily considietalaries, benefits, travel and other costs pbales and marketing teams, as well as
marketing initiatives and business development eses.

Customer support services include salaries anterkfzayroll costs associated with our customer sdgervices, customer care, and
installation and operations staff.

General and administrative expenses include ctisilstaable to corporate overhead and the ovewgdpsrt of our operations. Salaries
and other related payroll costs for executive manamnt, finance, administration and information eyt personnel are included in this
category. Other costs include office rent, utiitand other facilities costs, accounting, legal ather professional services, and other general
operating expenses.

Market Information

We operate in one segment which is the businezeaf wireless broadband services. Although we gl®services in multiple markets,
these operations have been aggregated into ondgabl@osegment based on the similar economic ctearstics among all markets, including
the nature of the services provided and the typmisfomers purchasing such services. While we tparanly one business segment, we
recognize that providing information on the revenaad costs of operating in each market can prawééul information to investors regard
our operating performance.

As of December 31, 2012, we operated in twelve etarlicross the United States including New Yorlst8o, Los Angeles, Chicago, San
Francisco, Miami, Seattle, Dallas-Fort Worth, Ptdlphia, Nashville, Las Vegas-Reno and Provideneeqgdort. The markets were launched a
different times, and as a result, may have diffeoperating metrics based on their size and sthgeturation. We incur significant up-front
costs in order to establish a Network Presencenevamarket. These costs include building PoPNmtdiork Costs. Other material costs
include hiring and training sales and marketingspenel who will be dedicated to securing custoriretiat market. Once we have establishec
a Network Presence in a new market, we are capdisiervicing a significant number of customers. Téte of customer additions varies from
market to market, and we are unable to predict mamy customers will be added in a market duringspecific period. We believe that
providing operating information regarding each of markets provides useful information to sharebdn understanding the leveraging
potential of our business model, the operatinggrernce of our mature markets, and the long-terrarpial for our newer markets. Set forth
below is a summary of our operating performancea per-market basis, and a description of how eatfgory is determined.

RevenuesRevenues are allocated based on which marketaetbmer is located in.

Costs of Revenuesncludes payroll, Core Network costs and CustoMetwork costs that can be allocated to a specificket. Costs that
cannot be allocated to a specific market are dladsas Centralized Costs.

Operating Costs Costs which can be specifically allocated to ak@ginclude direct sales personnel, certain dinegtketing expense,
certain customer support and installation payngflemnses and third party commissions.

Centralized CostsRepresents costs incurred to support activitiesss all of our markets that are not allocabla specific market. This
principally consists of payroll costs for custonoare representatives, customer support engineses, support, marketing and certain
installations personnel. These individuals serciggtomers across all markets rather than beingdtdi to any specific market.

Corporate Expensedncludes costs attributable to corporate overteatithe overall support of our operations. Sadaaied related payrc
costs for executive management, finance, admitistrand information systems personnel are includdbis category. Other costs include
office rent, utilities and other facilities cosgspfessional services and other general operatipgreses.

Non-Core Expensefepresent those operating costs that are not deiatidne operation of our primary business of pimg fixed wireles:
services to businesses. These costs relate tdfotiséo develop other wireless technology solagi@nd services, and primarily consist of rent
payments for street level rooftops, costs assatiatth constructing an offload network and payaakts for employees working on these
projects.

Adjusted Market EBITDARepresents a market’'s net income (loss) beforedstigtaxes, depreciation, amortization, stock-thase
compensation, and other income (expense). We leeliés metric provides useful information regardihg cash flow being generated in a
market.

The Sparkplug acquisition in April 2010 expanded atrengthened our presence in Chicago and alsmbtas into the Nashville,
Tennessee market. The Pipeline acquisition in Dbeer®010 expanded and strengthened our operatidghe igreater Boston area. We entere
the Las Vegas-Reno market in May 2011 through dagiaition of One Velocity. The Color Broadband ais@tion in December 2011
expanded and strengthened our operations in thé\hgsles area.
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Year ended December 31, 2012

Adjusted
Cost of Operating Market

Market Revenues Revenues Gross Margin Costs EBITDA
Los Angeles $ 794627 $ 2,364,11 $ 5,582,16/ $ 1,490,56. $ 4,091,59
New York 7,286,76 2,297,81i 4,988,95! 1,286,91. 3,702,03
Boston 6,822,83i 1,520,72 5,302,10! 917,47. 4,384,63
Chicago 3,704,54 1,209,95: 2,494,59. 665,72t 1,828,86!
Las Vega-Reno 1,545,40. 613,72 931,68 148,95! 782,72t
Miami 1,662,26. 414,59t 1,247,66! 370,91« 876,75.
San Francisc 1,541,92 414,35: 1,127,57. 301,98t 825,58!
Dallas-Fort Worth 643,17 345,13t 298,03! 341,29! (43,25
Providenc-Newport 488,87: 207,08t 281,78! 115,24: 166,54
Seattle 485,48 213,06: 272,42. 101,80: 170,62:
Philadelphie 112,69¢ 73,65¢ 39,03¢ 105,23 (66,199
Nashville 39,18 57,74! (18,567 36,05( (54,61)
Total $ 32,279,43 $ 9,731,97 $ 22,547,45 $ 5,882,151 $ 16,665,29
Reconciliation of Nor-GAAP Financial Measure to GAAP Financial Measure
Adjusted market EBITD/ $ 16,665,229
Centralized cost (3,586,74)
Corporate expenst (7,612,07)
Non-core expense (10,919,65)
Depreciation and amortizatic (13,634,29)
Stoclk-based compensatic (1,658,201
Other income (expens (117,65
Provision for income taxes (126,25
Net loss $ (20,989,57)
Year ended December 31, 2011

Adjusted

Cost of Operating Market

Market Revenues Revenues Gross Margin Costs EBITDA
Boston $ 6,740,600 $ 1,561,55 $ 5,179,04: $ 946,20¢ $ 4,232,841
Los Angeles 4,472,13 891,40( 3,580,73 1,039,55: 2,541,18
New York 6,100,47 1,522,89. 4,577,58! 1,220,42 3,357,15.
Chicago 3,461,61. 1,034,37 2,427,23i 635,91( 1,791,32
San Francisc 1,491,81. 263,66: 1,228,15. 363,20t 864,94!
Miami 1,389,47 303,91 1,085,56! 392,06! 693,49!
Las Vega-Reno 1,031,53 437,46 594,06t 105,26t 488,80!
Providenc-Newport 459,25! 176,91 282,33 94,10¢ 188,23:
Seattle 526,221 209,65! 316,56 110,34: 206,22!
Dallas-Fort Worth 655,52: 333,59 321,92 275,78: 46,14«
Nashville 53,21( 52,43t T7E 41,51¢ (40,74
Philadelphia 112,87t 61,75: 51,12¢ 106,15( (55,029
Total $ 26,494,73 $ 6,84962 $ 19,645,11. $ 5,330,53. $ 14,314,58
Reconciliation of Nor-GAAP Financial Measure to GAAP Financial Measure
Adjusted market EBITD/ $ 14,314,58
Centralized cost (3,012,77)
Corporate expenst (6,660,78)
Non-core expense (3,586,19)
Depreciation and amortizatic (9,138,31)
Stocl-based compensatic (1,081,04)
Other income (expens 2,257,43'
Provision for income taxes (118,019
Net loss $ (7,025,10)
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Year ended December 31, 2010

Adjusted

Cost of Market
Market Revenues Revenues Gross Margin ~ Operating Costs EBITDA
New York $ 578261 $ 113277 $ 4,649,83 $ 1,173,561 $ 3,476,27.
Boston 4,509,90! 728,42¢ 3,781,47 689,10: 3,092,37!
Los Angeles 3,178,02 611,54: 2,566,48 1,098,55; 1,467,93.
Chicago 2,452,56! 798,45 1,654,11 604,36 1,049,74.
San Francisc 1,161,011 246,34 914,66¢ 361,73( 552,93
Miami 987,14 317,54t 669,59t 360,99: 308,60!
Providenc-Newport 494,78 161,92: 332,86: 112,23: 220,63.
Seattle 510,51t 217,62 292,89. 126,70 166,18t
Nashville 59,08« 29,40( 29,68 17,56: 12,12:
Dallas-Fort Worth 492,96: 315,28 177,67t 225,60« (47,929
Philadelphia 17,27( 54,13¢ (36,869 183,92( (220,789
Total $ 19,64589 $ 461347 $ 15,032,42 $ 4,954,331 $ 10,078,09
Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Measure to GAA Financial Measure
Adjusted market EBITD/ $ 10,078,09
Centralized cost (2,800,09)
Corporate expenst (6,179,68)
Non-core expense (604,60:)
Depreciation and amortizatic (5,770,33)
Stoclk-based compensatic (771,819
Other income (expense) 445,43\
Net loss $ (5,603,00)

Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared to Year Endé&kcember 31, 2011

RevenuesRevenues for the year ended December 31, 2042 do$32,279,430 compared to $26,494,737 for the eeded December
31, 2011, representing an increase of $5,784,6982%. This increase was primarily related to highenthly recurring revenue (“MRR”) in
the 2012 period, of which approximately $2,791,0@% related to a full year of revenue from the €&8madband and One Velocity
acquisitions and approximately $1,845,000 wasedl& organic growth in our core business. In #aoldirevenue generated from temporary
connections increased by approximately $455,000086, in the year ended December 31, 2012 compari year ended December 31,
2011.

Average revenue per user (“ARPU”) as of Decembe2812 totaled $717 compared to $710 as of DeceBthe2011, representing an
increase of $7, or 1%. ARPU for new customerstierytear ended December 31, 2012 totaled $531 cehpau$599 for the year ended
December 31, 2011, representing a decrease ob$a4.%.

Customer churn, calculated as a percent of reviasti®n a monthly basis from customers terminasieyice or reducing their service
level, totaled 1.59% for the year ended DecembeRB12 compared to 1.45% for the year ended DeceB81he011, representing a 10%
increase on a percentage basis. Our goal is totamaichurn levels between 1.4% and 1.7% which wieweis below industry averages of
approximately 2.0%.

Cost of RevenuesCost of revenues, exclusive of depreciationtlieryear ended December 31, 2012 totaled $16,3Fe¢d®pared to
$8,190,112 for the year ended December 31, 20piesenting an increase of $8,189,074, or 100%.9Grasgins for the year ended Decen
31, 2012 decreased to 49% compared to 69% durengahr ended December 31, 2011. Expenses assogi#ttatbn-core activities, primarily
rent for rooftop tower sites needed to expand dteless capacity, totaled approximately $6,523 800 $1,137,000 which impacted gross
margin by 20 and 4 percentage points for the yede@ December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011 ctesgg. Core Network costs
increased by approximately $2,626,000 primarilpted to higher tower rent and bandwidth expensstdiner Network costs increased by
approximately $348,000 primarily related to thewgttoin our customer base.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization totaled $13,634,@r the year ended December 31, 2012 compared tc
$9,138,318 for the year ended December 31, 20piesenting an increase of $4,495,976, or 49%.

Depreciation expense totaled $10,262,526 for tlae gaded December 31, 2012 compared to $6,507¢2 The year ended December 31,
2011, representing an increase of $3,755,255, #r. 38e gross base of depreciable assets incregsk2#t389,376, or 48% compared to the
prior year. The increased depreciable base refeertsnued growth in our fixed wireless networkgegximately $12,873,000) as well as
spending on rooftop tower sites (approximately $16,000).
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Amortization expense totaled $3,371,768 for the yealed December 31, 2012 compared to $2,631,04do/ear ended December 31,
2011, representing an increase of $740,721, or 28f@rtization expense relates to customer relat&hgible assets recorded in connection
with acquisitions and can fluctuate significantigrh period to period depending upon the timingazfuasitions, the relative amounts of
intangible assets recorded, and the amortizationg® The increase in the 2012 period is printypadlated to a year of amortization expense
related to the Color Broadband acquisition as caagp# no expense in the 2011 period. Amortizagigpense also increased due to the One
Velocity acquisition but decreased significantliated to the Sparkplug and Pipeline acquisitions.

Customer Support Services.Customer support services totaled $4,709,4d hoyear ended December 31, 2012 compared t&H3 2
for the year ended December 31, 2011, represeatinigcrease of $1,152,289, or 32%. The increaseslated to additional personnel hired to
support our growing customer base. Average depattheadcount increased by 29% from 63 in 2011 tm&D12.

Sales and Marketingsales and marketing expenses for the year endeshides 31, 2012 totaled $6,134,020 compared to 35188 for
the year ended December 31, 2011, representingcagaise of $771,917, or 14%. This increase wasapifinrelated to an increase in payroll
costs of approximately $290,000, and an increasenmmissions and bonuses of approximately $319\d@0improved the base pay and bc
program for account executives in 2012 as partaufrecerted effort to attract and retain qualifiedsonnel.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses totaledl$82183 for the year ended December 31, 2012 cadpa
to $9,411,608 for the year ended December 31, 2@piesenting an increase of $2,756,575, or 29%efises associated with non-core
activities, including rooftop tower sites, totalggproximately $3,491,000 for the year ended Decei®be2012 as compared to $1,998,000 for
the year ended December 31, 2011, representimcagaise of approximately $1,493,000 or 75%. Theease in costs associated with roame
activities related to higher payroll, stock-basethpensation, and information technology spending§7&3,000, $265,000 and $268,000,
respectively. In addition, stock-based compensagsociated with our core services increased bgoappately $312,000, and information
technology spending increased by approximately $018

Interest Incomelnterest income for the year ended December 312 fftaled $41,531 compared to $57,544 for the gaded December
31, 2011 representing a decrease of $16,013, or 2Z&&decrease primarily relates to lower averagh balances in the 2012 period comp
with the 2011 period. Average cash balances desdefasm approximately $35.3 million in the 2011ipdrto approximately $29.8 million in
the 2012 period.

Interest Expense. Interest expense for the year ended Decemhe&t3P totaled $105,245 compared to $22,058 foyéae ended
December 31, 2011, representing an increase olL8830r 377%. Interest expense related to capgiteds acquired and deferred payment
obligations to the Pipeline and Color Broadbandugitions.

Gain on Business Acquisitionkoss on business acquisitions totaled $40,07®year ended December 31, 2012 compared to afain
$2,231,534 for the year ended December 31, 20piesenting a decrease of $2,271,613, or 102%.g&kmein the 2011 period related to the
acquisition of One Velocity in May 2011 and ColaioBdband in December 2011. The loss in the 20lidgeelated to the final purchase pr
adjustment for the Color Broadband acquisition ec@mber 2011. We previously recognized a gain eradquisition of Color Broadband of
$1,186,090. The final net gain totaled $1,146,011.

Provision for Income TaxeRrovision for income taxes totaled $126,256 forythar ended December 31, 2012 compared with $188,01
for the year ended December 31, 2011, represeatingcrease of $8,238, or 7%. The expense recadjimizthe periods related to deferred tax
liabilities associated with FCC licenses and godidmhiich are amortized for tax purposes but nottfook purposes.

Net Loss. Net loss for the year ended December 31, 26t2=d $20,989,575 compared to $7,025,107 for &a& gnded December
31, 2011, representing an increase of $13,964@6B99%. Revenues increased by $5,784,693, or @2fie operating expenses increased by
$17,365,831, or 49%. Cash operating expenses assoevith non-core activities, including rooftopvier sites, totaled $10,875,391 for the
year ended December 31, 2012 compared to $3,58for the year ended December 31, 2011, represeatingcrease of $7,294,433, or
204%. In addition, non-operating expense totalel7$a53 for the year ended December 31, 2012 compeith non-operating income of
$2,257,439 for the year ended December 31, 2011.

Year Ended December 31, 2011 Compared to Year Endé2kecember 31, 2010
RevenuesRevenues for the year ended December 31, 204leda$26,494,737 compared to $19,645,893 for the eeded December

31, 2010, representing an increase of $6,848,8485%. This increase was primarily related to a 26étease in our customer base during
2011 from approximately 2,800 at the end of 2018pproximately 3,600 at the end of 2011.
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ARPU as of December 31, 2011 totaled $710 compar&882 as of December 31, 2010, representing@ease of $28, or 4%. The
customers acquired from One Velocity in May 201d ha ARPU of $734 compared to $690 for our custdmase which had the effect of
increasing our post acquisition ARPU by $2. Theamers acquired from Color Broadband in Decembéddtad an ARPU of $645 compa
to $717 for our customer base which had the efiEdecreasing our post acquisition ARPU by $7.ddition, the increase related to new and
existing customers purchasing higher bandwidthi&ev&RPU for new customers for the year ended Déesril, 2011 totaled $599 compared
to $561 for the year ended December 31, 2010, septig an increase of $38, or 7%.

Customer churn, calculated as a percent of reviasti®n a monthly basis from customers terminasieyice or reducing their service
level, totaled 1.45% for the year ended DecembgeRB11 compared to 1.35% for the year ended DeceBilhe2010, representing a 7%
increase on a percentage basis. Our goal is totamaichurn levels between 1.4% and 1.7% which wieweis below industry averages of
approximately 2.0%.

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues, exclusive of depreciationttie year ended December 31, 2011 totaled $8,12@dmpared to
$4,887,881 for the year ended December 31, 20p@esenting an increase of $3,302,231, or 68%. Gnasgins for the year ended December
31, 2011 decreased to 69% compared to 75% durengehr ended December 31, 2010. Expenses assogi#ttatbn-core activities, primarily
rent for rooftop tower sites needed to expand dteless capacity, totaled approximately $1,137 800 $34,000 which impacted gross margir
by 4 and 0 percentage points for the years endedriger 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Core Nétwosts increased by approximately
$1,638,000 primarily related to higher tower remd dandwidth expenses which were partly relateattpisitions. Customer Network costs
increased by approximately $350,000 primarily edao the growth in our customer base.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization totaled $9,138,f&it the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to
$5,770,335 for the year ended December 31, 20p@esenting an increase of $3,367,983, or 58%.

Depreciation expense totaled $6,507,271 for the geded December 31, 2011 compared to $4,815,Y1Rdq/ear ended December 31,
2010, representing an increase of $1,692,158, %r. 3he base of depreciable assets increased by(8,808, or 57% compared to the prior
year. The increased depreciable base reflectsre@mttigrowth in the core business, spending onapdéiwer sites and additions resulting fr
acquisitions.

Amortization expense totaled $2,631,047 for the yealed December 31, 2011 compared to $955,22Rdoyear ended December 31,
2010, representing an increase of $1,675,825, 8#61The increase primarily relates to the amoiiizadf customer related intangible assets
recorded in connection with the acquisitions ofdilige in the fourth quarter of 2010 and One Velptitthe second quarter of 2011.

Customer Support Services.Customer support services totaled $3,557,12thyear ended December 31, 2011 compared td $B,5
for the year ended December 31, 2010, represeatinigcrease of $1,007,509, or 40%. The increaseslated to additional personnel hired to
support our growing customer base. Average depattheadcount increased by 34% from 47 in 2010 tm&®11.

Sales and Marketingsales and marketing expenses for the year endeshiex 31, 2011 totaled $5,362,103 compared to 8988 for
the year ended December 31, 2010, representingcagaise of $274,018, or 5%. This increase was pitymalated to higher commissions and
bonuses of approximately $416,000 in the 2011 gefibis increase was offset by approximately $28® 6f lower base salary costs for core
activities as average sales personnel decreasadldidor the year ended December 31, 2010 to 5théosame period in 2011, a decrease in
headcount of 12%.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses totalettl$%608 for the year ended December 31, 2011 cadgar
$7,398,420 for the year ended December 31, 20p@esenting an increase of $2,013,188, or 27%. Eexeassociated with naore activities
including rooftop tower sites, totaled approximpt$l,998,000 for the year ended December 31, 28bmpared to approximately $502,000
for the year ended December 31, 2010. The incrieasests associated with non-core activities relasehigher payroll, stock-based
compensation and information technology spendingppiroximately $697,000, $273,000 and $123,00@ets/ely. In addition, information
technology spending for our core activities inceshby approximately $285,000, acquisition costsdased by approximately $184,000 and
bad debt increased by approximately $95,000. Thenba of the increase occurred across a numbemefibnal components including travel
and office.

Interest Incomelnterest income for the year ended December 311 #fthled $57,544 compared to $4,411 for the yede@ December
31, 2010 representing an increase of $53,133,aater than 100%. The increase primarily relatésgher average cash balances in the 2011
period compared with the 2010 period. Average taghances increased from approximately $12.5 mililiotihe 2010 period to approximately
$35.3 million in the 2011 period.
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Interest Expense. Interest expense for the year ended Decemhe&t(31l totaled $22,058 compared to $489 for the geded December
31, 2010, representing an increase of $21,56%eater than 100%. Interest expense related toaddpéses acquired and deferred payments
made related to the Pipeline acquisition.

Gain on Business Acquisition&ain on business acquisitions totaled $2,231,58thfoyear ended December 31, 2011 compared with
$355,876 for the year ended December 31, 2010esepting an increase of $1,875,658, or greatertBéfo. In 2011, we recognized a gai
$1,045,444 on the One Velocity acquisition andia ga$1,186,090 on the Color Broadband acquisitithne gain recognized in 2010 was in
connection with the acquisition of Sparkplug in Ag010.

Provision for Income TaxeBrovision for income taxes totaled $118,018 forytbar ended December 31, 2011 compared with zerthdo
year ended December 31, 2010. The expense recdgni2®11 related to deferred tax liabilities asated with FCC licenses and goodv
which are amortized for tax purposes but not faskbpurposes.

Net Loss. Net loss for the year ended December 31, 26thled $7,025,107 compared to $5,603,007 for tlae geded December
31, 2010, representing an increase of $1,422, 1@6%. Revenues increased by $6,848,844, or 35%e wperating expenses increased by
$9,964,929, or 39%. Cash operating expenses as=beigh non-core activities, including rooftop temsites, totaled $3,580,958 for the year
ended December 31, 2011 compared to $604,604doretar end December 31, 2010, representing areiseraf $2,976,354, or 492%. In
addition, non-operating income (expense) increaye$ll, 812,003, primarily related to gain on businasquisitions.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically met our liquidity and capitafuirements primarily through the public sale pridate placement of equity securities
and debt financing. Changes in capital resourcesglthe year ended December 31, 2012 and 201demaribed below. At March 1, 2013, we
had cash and cash equivalents totaling approxign&&9,000,000.

Net Cash (Used In) Provided by Operating ActivitiesNet cash used in operating activities for tearyended December 31, 2012 totaled
$8,078,493 compared to net cash provided by operattivities of $702,518 for the year ended Decam®i, 2011, representing a decrease ¢
$8,781,011, or greater than 100%. During the yeded December 31, 2012, cash flow provided by djpersfor our core business totaled
$5,630,750 as compared to $4,892,246 during thegreted December 31, 2011. During the year endedmier 31, 2012, cash flow used in
operations for our non-core activities, includiogftop tower sites, totaled $10,875,391 as compir&3,580,958 during the year ended
December 31, 2011, representing an increase 098423 or 204%. Changes in operating assets dbitities generally represent timing
differences regarding payments and receipts, and@mally not indicative of operating results. ribg the year ended December 31, 2012,
changes in operating assets and liabilities ussld 06$2,833,852. During the year ended Decembge2@®l1, changes in operating assets and
liabilities used cash of $608,770.

Net cash provided by operating activities for tearyended December 31, 2011 totaled $702,518 cenhpau$b238,534 for the year ended
December 31, 2010, representing an increase of, $8863or 195%. During the year ended December @11 2cash flow provided by
operations for our core business totaled $4,892a246mpared to $1,337,635 during the year endedrblger 31, 2010. During the year en
December 31, 2011, cash flows used in operatianguonon-core activities, including rooftop tovsgtes, totaled $3,580,958 as compared to
$604,604 during the year ended December 31, 2@plesenting an increase of $2,976,354 or greaerh0%. During the year ended
December 31, 2011, changes in operating assetiadildies used cash of $608,770. During the yeraded December 31, 2010, changes in
operating assets and liabilities used cash of %494,

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities.Net cash used in investing activities for tlearyended December 31, 2012 totaled $21,343,12¢
compared to $18,218,729 for the year ended DeceBihe011, representing an increase of $3,124,899%. The increase in the 2012 pe
related to higher spending on property and equipmwaich increased by $7,102,330 or 52%, from $13,620 to $20,722,510. Expenditures
related to network equipment increased by approtéin&1,916,000 in the 2012 period compared td2iEL period. Expenditures related to
the construction of the rooftop tower sites incegglsy approximately $4,927,000 in the 2012 permugared to the 2011 period. In addition,
we paid cash of $1,600,000 for the acquisition né@elocity and $2,800,000 for the acquisition ol Broadband in the 2011 period. There
were no acquisitions in the 2012 period.

Net cash used in investing activities for the yeraaled December 31, 2011 totaled $18,218,729 comnpau®B,057,744 for the year ended
December 31, 2010, representing an increase o685, or 126%. The increase in the 2011 pestated to higher spending on property
and equipment which increased by $8,315,746, o4 3fm $5,304,434 to $13,620,180. The signifiaarhponents of the increase included
approximately $4,114,000 related to the constraotibour rooftop tower sites, approximately $2,084, related to customer premise
equipment and approximately $1,919,000 relatecetwork equipment. In addition, we paid $1,600,008ash for the acquisition of One
Velocity and $2,800,000 for the acquisition of GdByoadband for a total of $4,400,000 in the 20&diqel compared to $1,170,000 in cash for
the acquisition of Sparkplug and $1,580,060 forabeuisition of Pipeline for a total of $2,750,06Ghe 2010 period.
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Net Cash (Used In) Provided by Financing ActivitieNet cash used in financing activities for tharyended December 31, 2012 totaled
$98,740 compared to net cash provided by finanagtiyities of $39,015,446 for the year ended Decam®, 2011, representing a decrease ¢
$39,114,186, or 100%. The decrease is primaribteel to net proceeds of $38,834,709 received in2NM 1from the sale of 10,350,000 share:
of our common stock at a public offering price df® per share. The decrease also related to paymerapital leases which totaled
approximately $492,479 for the year ended Decer@beP012 compared to $174,569 for the year endegfber 31, 2011.

Net cash provided by financing activities for treay ended December 31, 2011 totaled $39,015,44pamah to $16,951,723 for the year
ended December 31, 2010, representing an incré®22@®63,723, or 130%. The increase is primasglated to net proceeds of $38,834,709
resulting from the sale of 10,350,000 shares ofconnmon stock at a public offering price of $4.@0 ghare in July 2011, as compared to our
net proceeds of $16,957,933 resulting from the sb571,429 shares of our common stock at a pulflering price of $2.80 per share in
November 201C

Working Capital. As of December 31, 2012, we had working capit&10,087,917. In February and March 2013, wemleted a publi
offering which raised net proceeds of approxima%d9.5 million. Based on our current operating\diiéis and plans, we believe our working
capital position at the end of the first quartet 2W0vill enable us to meet our anticipated cashireqents for at least the next twelve months.

Acquisition of Sparkplugn April 2010, we completed the acquisition of thestomer relationships, network infrastructure eeldted
assets of the Chicago, lllinois and Nashville, Tessee networks of Sparkplug. The aggregate coasioierfor the acquisition was (i)
approximately $1.2 million in cash, and (ii) 275)7hares of our common stock with a fair valuepgraximately $0.4 million. The acquisiti
of Sparkplug was a business combination accouwtedrfder the acquisition method.

Acquisition of Pipelineln December 2010, we completed the acquisitiomefdustomer relationships, network assets anderebsets of
Pipeline, which was primarily based in the gre®eston area. The aggregate consideration for theisition includes (i) approximately $1.6
million in cash, (ii) 411,523 shares of our comnstock with a fair value of approximately $1.5 naili, (i) approximately $0.5 million of
deferred cash payments over a 36 month period biegjrdune 2011, and (iv) approximately $0.2 milliorassumed liabilities. The acquisition
of Pipeline was a business combination accountedrfder the acquisition method.

Acquisition of One Velocityn May 2011, we completed the acquisition of thetomer relationships, network infrastructure aridtesl
assets of One Velocity which was based in Las VegdsReno, Nevada. The aggregate consideratidghéacquisition included (i)
approximately $1.6 million in cash, and (ii) 269%8&hares of common stock with a fair value of apjpnately $1.3 million. The acquisition of
One Velocity was a business combination accourtedrider the acquisition method.

Acquisition of Color Broadbandin December 2011, we completed the acquisitioreaiain customer relationships, network infrastreetu
and related assets of Color Broadband which wasdbiasthe Los Angeles area. The aggregate consiolefar the acquisition included (i)
approximately $2.8 million in cash, (ii) 827,23(sbs of common stock with a fair value of approxeha$2.0 million, and (iii) approximately
$0.2 million in assumed liabilities. The acquisitiof Color Broadband was a business combinationwted for under the acquisition method.

Underwritten Offeringsln July 2011, we completed an underwritten offerid 0,350,000 shares of our common stock at aipoffiering
price of $4.00 per share. The total gross proceéte offering were $41,400,000. Net proceeds waprgroximately $38,835,000, after
underwriting discounts, commissions and offeringenses.

In February and March 2013, we completed an undgenroffering of 11,000,000 shares of our commimtis at a public offering price
$3.00 per share. The total gross proceeds of feerg were $33,000,000. Net proceeds were apprabdin $30,516,000, after underwriting
discounts, commissions and offering expenses.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes our contractual gdgions and other commitments as of December 3112:20

Payments due by period

Total 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter
Capital lease: $ 3,798,721 $ 90590¢ $ 969,12( $ 884,55¢ $ 651,61' $ 38751 $ =
Operating lease 61,145,56 15,205,44 13,856,54 12,842,33 11,711,81 6,428,60' 1,100,81i
Deferred payment 282,71 199,56! 83,15: - - - -
Other 130,27! 130,27! - - - - -
Total $65,357,28 $16,441,19 $14,908,82 $13,726,89 $12,363,43 $6,816,12¢ $1,100,81!
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Capital LeasesWe have entered into capital leases to acquirearkiwooftop tower site and customer premise eqgeipnexpiring throug
December 2017. In December 2011, we entered inegeeement with Cisco Capital to acquire equipmeliated to our information
technology infrastructure. The total lease obligais approximately $2,100,000, of which approxieha$1,400,000 commenced in the secon
quarter of 2012. The remaining $700,000 is expettemdbmmence in the first quarter of 2013. Thesesds will be paid in various installments
over a 60 month period from their respective comreerent dates.

Operating LeasedNe have entered into operating leases relatedoforights, towers, office space, and equipmentdeasider various
non-cancelable agreements expiring through Jar2(2$.

Deferred PaymentsWe are making deferred payments to Pipeline asgbdine consideration paid for the acquisition. feheere 17
monthly payments of $16,630 remaining as of Decerhe2012.

Other.In December 2011, we entered into a one year irdion technology infrastructure support agreemené agreement became
effective at the end of the first quarter of 20IBe monthly payments are approximately $43,000vaifidbe paid through the first quarter of
2013.

Impact of Inflation, Changing Prices and Economic ©nditions

Pricing for many technology products and serviasgehistorically decreased over time due to thectfdf product and process
improvements and enhancements. In addition, ecanoonditions can affect the buying patterns ofteors. In 2012, the core business
continued to grow and benefit from a slowly imprayieconomy. Customers, in general, were morengilio make a purchase compared to
2011 however they continued to place a premiumadnevand performance. Pricing of services contirtodzk a focus for prospective buyers
with multi-point and midrange product pricing remiag steady while competition for high capacitykBrintensified. In part, pressure on high
capacity links was due to decreased costs for etggnp and some competitors willing to sacrifice nr@sgWe believe that our customers will
continue to upgrade their bandwidth service. Tdrioued migration of many business activities antttions to the Internet, and growing use
of cloud computing should also result in increalsaddwidth requirements over the long term.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America requi
management to make estimates and assumptiondfenetttae reported amounts of assets and lialslitiee disclosure of contingent assets anc
liabilities, and the amounts of revenues and exggrSritical accounting policies are those thatimegthe application of management’s most
difficult, subjective or complex judgments, ofteecluse of the need to make estimates about tha effmatters that are inherently uncertain
and that may change in subsequent periods. In pngpthe financial statements, we utilize availabfermation, including our past history,
industry standards and the current economic enwiesti, among other factors, in forming our estimates judgments, giving appropriate
consideration to materiality. Actual results maffedifrom these estimates. In addition, other conigmmay utilize different estimates which
may impact the comparability of our results of @tiens to other companies in our industry. We belithat of our significant accounting
policies, the following may involve a higher degefgudgment and estimation, or are fundamentatigartant to our business.

Revenue Recognition. We normally enter into contractual agreemeritl aur customers for periods ranging between ortaree years.
We recoghnize the total revenue provided under &ractratably over the contract period including @eriods under which we have agreed to
provide services at no cost. Deferred revenueseagnized as a liability when billings are issureddvance of the date when revenues are
earned. We recognize revenue when (i) persuasiderse of an arrangement exists, (ii) deliverynstallation has been completed, (iii) the
customer accepts and verifies receipt, and (ivectability is reasonably assured.

Long-Lived AssetsLong-lived assets with definite lives consisinparily of property and equipment, and intangiblseds such as acquired
customer relationships. Long-lived assets are et@tliperiodically for impairment or whenever evantsircumstances indicate their carrying
value may not be recoverable. Conditions that woeddt in an impairment charge include a signiftadecline in the fair value of an asset, a
significant change in the extent or manner in whanhasset is used, or a significant adverse chitwagevould indicate that the carrying amount
of an asset or group of assets is not recovergithen such events or circumstances arise, an estiohée future undiscounted cash flows
produced by the asset, or the appropriate grougfirgsets, is compared to the asset’s carryingeMaldetermine if impairment exists. If the
asset is determined to be impaired, the impairduestis measured based on the excess of its cgivgine over its fair value. Assets to be
disposed of are reported at the lower of theiryéagrvalue or net realizable value.
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Business AcquisitionsBusiness combinations are accounted for usingdheisition method. The cost of an acquisitiomeasured as the
fair value of the consideration transferred onabquisition date. When we acquire a business,ssesa the acquired assets and liabilities
assumed for the appropriate classification andgdesion in accordance with the contractual termmenemic circumstances and pertinent
conditions at the acquisition date. The excesh@tatal consideration transferred over the naitifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed is recognized as goodwill. If the totalsaderation is lower than the fair value of thenitifgable net assets acquired, the difference is
recognized as a gain on business acquisition. Aggn costs are expensed and included in genathhdministrative expenses in our
consolidated statements of operations.

The highest level of judgment and estimation inedlin accounting for business acquisitions reletatetermining the fair value of the
customer relationship and network assets acquinesach of the four acquisitions completed overpast three years, the highest asset value
has been allocated to the customer relationshipiget] Determining the fair value of customer rielaships involves judgments and estimates
regarding how long the customers will continue datcact services with us. During the course of cletimy four acquisitions, we have
developed a database of historical experience meon acquisitions to assist us in preparing futesémates of cash flows. Similarly, we have
used our historical experience in building netwdrkprepare estimates regarding the fair valudefhietworks assets that we acquire.

Goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the estimated fair value of identifiable astets acquired in an
acquisition. Goodwill is not amortized but ratheréviewed annually for impairment, or whenevemgs®r circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable. We initigkyform a qualitative assessment of goodwill whiohsiders macro-economic conditions,
industry and market trends, and the current angegted financial performance of the reporting umiio further analysis is required if it is
determined that there is a less than 50 percegithibod that the carrying value is greater thanféirevalue.

Asset Retirement ObligatioriBhe Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASBU)dance on asset retirement obligations addresses
financial accounting and reporting for obligati@ssociated with the retirement of tangible longdivassets and the associated costs. This
guidance requires the recognition of an asseeragnt obligation and an associated asset retirecoshtvhen there is a legal obligation
associated with the retirement of tangible longdiassets. Our network equipment is installedath buildings in which we have a lease
agreement (“Company Locations”) and at customeations. In both instances, the installation amdaeal of our equipment is not
complicated and does not require structural chatmt®e building where the equipment is install€&bsts associated with the removal of our
equipment at Company or customer locations arenadérial, and accordingly, we have determinedweato not presently have asset
retirement obligations under the FASB’s accountinglance.

Off-Balance Sheet ArrangementsWe have no off-balance sheet arrangements)dings, or other relationships with unconsolidated
entities known as “Special Purposes Entities.”
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2012, the Financial Accounting Standardafiq“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update Rl 2-02, Intangibles -
Goodwill and Other (Topic 350) - Testing Indefinlteved Intangible Assets for Impairment (ASU 2012}0to simplify how entities test
indefinite-lived intangibles assets for impairmehBU 2012-02 allows entities to assess qualitdtietors in determining whether it is more
likely than not that the fair value of an indefesiived intangible asset is less than its carryialyie. This pronouncement becomes effective fo
annual and interim tests performed for the fisegrg beginning after September 15, 2012. The amopfithis standard did not have a materia
impact on our consolidated financial position aesufts of operations.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk.
Market risk is the potential loss arising from abeechanges in market rates and prices. Our pyimarket risk relates to interest rates.
At December 31, 2012, all cash and cash equitsabme immediately available cash balances. Agodf our cash and cash equivalents are

held in three institutional money market fundsur @terest rate risk exposure is that a declinaterest rates which would result in a decline
in interest income. Due to our current market yéell further decline in interest rates would nateha material impact on earnings.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINKERM

To the Audit Committee of the
Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Towerstream Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Towerstream Corporation and Subsdidéitie “Company”) as of December
31, 2012 and 2011, and the related consolidatéelnsénts of operations, stockholders’ equity andh dlasvs for the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010. These consolidated finan@tdments are the responsibility of the Companyasagement. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these consolidated finastaé¢ments based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those standard:s
require that we plan and perform the audits toinbsasonable assurance about whether the conaliflaancial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit also includes exargi on a test basis, evidence supporting the ats@nd disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesarge significant estimates made by managememtelss evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegrferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the consolidated financial position
of Towerstream Corporation and Subsidiaries aseafeinber 31, 2012 and 2011, and the consolidatettses its operations and its cash flc
for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 an@d id0donformity with accounting principles geneyadiccepted in the United States of
America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), Towerstream
Corporation’s internal control over financial repog as of December 31, 2012, based on the crigstiablished in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@imgtions of the Treadway Commission and our tegated, March 18, 2013,
expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectigsra the Company’s internal control over financegorting.

/s/ Marcum LLP
Marcum LLP
New York, NY
March 18, 2013
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31,

2012 2011
Assets
Current Asset
Cash and cash equivale $ 15,152,22 $ 44,672,58
Accounts receivable, n 609,30: 592,53¢
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 943,42( 622,50!
Total Current Asset 16,704,94 45,887,63
Property and equipment, r 41,982,21 27,531,27
Intangible assets, n 4,548,17 7,959,76.
Goodwill 1,674,28 1,674,28
Other assets 2,200,09: 583,95(
Total Assets $ 67,109,71 $ 83,636,89
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounts payabl $ 1,163,44. $ 1,443,91
Accrued expense 2,986,02! 1,914,71,
Deferred revenue 1,457,46. 1,591,28
Current maturities of capital lease obligatit 775,08 313,66
Other 235,01¢ 392,541
Total Current Liabilities 6,617,03. 5,656,12
Long-Term Liabilities
Capital lease obligations, net of current matusi 2,387,67. 425,99
Other 301,10: 409,86.
Total Long-Term Liabilities 2,688,77 835,85
Total Liabilities 9,305,801 6,491,98
Commitments (Note 14
Stockholders' Equit
Preferred stock, par value $0.001; 5,000,000 shardg®rized; none issut - -
Common stock, par value $0.0®5,000,000 shares authorized; 54,670,712 and 50856hare
issued and outstanding, respectiv 54,67 54,25¢
Additional paic-in-capital 121,118,122 119,469,96
Accumulated deficit (63,368,89) (42,379,31)
Total Stockholders' Equity 57,803,90 77,144,91
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $ 67,109,71. $ 83,636,89

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofermmsolidated financial statements.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenues

Operating Expenses
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciati
Depreciation and amortizatic
Customer support servic
Sales and marketir
General and administrative
Total Operating Expenses
Operating Los:
Other Income/(Expense;
Interest incom:
Interest expens
Gain on business acquisitio
Other income (expense), net
Total Other Income/(Expense)
Loss before income taxi
Provision for income taxes
Net Loss

Net loss per common she basic and diluted
Weighted average common shares outstan- basic and dilute:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
$ 3227943 $ 26,494,73 $ 19,645,89
16,379,18 8,190,11. 4,887,88
13,634,29 9,138,31: 5,770,33
4,709,41. 3,557,12. 2,549,61!
6,134,02 5,362,10: 5,088,08!
12,168,18 9,411,60: 7,398,42
53,025,09 35,659,26 25,694,33
(20,745,66) (9,164,52) (6,048,44)
41,53: 57,54¢ 4,411
(105,24 (22,05¢) (48¢)
(40,079 2,231,53. 355,871
(13,86() (9,581) 85,63¢
(117,65)) 2,257 43 445 43(
(20,863,31) (6,907,08)) (5,603,00)
(126,256 (118,019 -
$ (20,989,57) $ (7,025,10) $ (5,603,00)
$ (039 $ (019 $ (0.16)
54,434,17 47,505,86 35,626,78

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofef@msolidated financial statements.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and P01

Balance at December 31, 20

Issuanceof common stock for bonus

Issuance of common stock for business acquisi

Net proceeds from issuance of common s

Issuance of common stock for servir

Cashless exercise of optia

Exercise of option

Stocl-based compensation for optic

Reclassification of derivative liabilities to equitnked financia
instruments

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 20

Issuance of common stock for business acquisi

Net proceeds from issuance of common s

Cashless exercise of optia

Exercise of option

Exercise of warrant

Issuance of common stock under employee stock peecplar

Stocl-based compensation for optic

Stoclk-based compensation for restricted st

Issuance of common stock for FCC licel

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 20

Cashless exercise of optia

Exercise of option

Issuance of common stock under employee stock peecplar

Issuance of common stock upon vesting of restristedk
awards

Stocl-based compensation for optic

Stoclk-based compensation for restricted st

Adjustment to common stock issued for businessiaitipns

Fair value of options repurchas

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 20

Additional
Common Stock Paid-In- Accumulated

Shares Amount Capital Deficit Total
34,662,22 $ 34,66: $ 55,127,71 $(29,751,20) $ 25,411,17
9,22¢ 9 17,24: 17,25(
687,22 687 1,914,91. 1,915,509
6,571,42! 6,572 16,951,36 16,957,93
66,07¢ 66 104,99 105,06(
119,10 11¢ (119 -
1,33¢ 2 91¢ 92C
649,50: 649,50:
566,45 566,45
(5,603,00) (5,603,00)
42,116,61 42,117 75,332,96 (35,354,20) 40,020,87.
1,195,62; 1,19 3,567,33. 3,568,52!
10,350,00 10,35( 38,824,35 38,834,70
173,69: 174 (1749 -
297,53 297 265,62¢ 265,92!
6,00( 6 26,99 27,00(
26,63: 27 73,34¢ 73,37¢
951,85( 951,85(
118,20( 118,20
89,981 90 309,46 309,55!
(7,025,10) (7,025,10)
54,256,08. 54,25¢ 119,469,96 (42,379,31) 77,144,991
162,88 163 (1639 -
337,12¢ 337 328,70 329,04:
28,72 29 117,22: 117,25:
30,00( 30 (30 -
1,532,28, 1,532,28,
108,35( 108,35(
(144,10 (144 (403,22)) (403,36¢)
(34,98Y) (34,98Y)
(20,989,57) (20,989,57)
54,670,71. $ 54,67, $121,118,12 $(63,368,89) $ 57,803,90

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofef@msolidated financial statements.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net Loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash plexviby (used in) operating
activities:
Deferred income taxe
Provision for doubtful accoun
Depreciation and amortizatic
Stocl-based compensatic
Gain on business acquisitio
Loss on sale and disposition of property and eqaift
Deferred ren
Changes in operating assets and liabilii
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Other asset
Account payabl
Accrued expense
Other current liabilitie:
Deferred revenues
Total Adjustments
Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Acquisitions of property and equipme
Acquisition of businesse
Proceeds from sale of property and equipn
Change in security depos
Change in deferred acquisition payments

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Payment of capital leas
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of opt
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of wari
Issuance of common stock under employee stock paecplar
Repurchase of optior
Net proceeds from sale of common stock

Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Financing Activitie:

Net Increase (Decrease) In Cash and Cash Equivaler

Cash and Cash Equivalents — Beginning of year
Cash and Cash Equivalent— Ending of year

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Informatiol
Cash paid during the periods fi
Interest

Taxes
Non-cash investing and financing activiti

Fair value of common stock (returned)/ issued imneation with
acquisitions

Fair value of common stock issued for FCC license

Acquisition of property and equipmel
Under capital leases
Included in accrued expenses

Other

For the Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
$  (20,989,57) $ (7,025,10) $ (5,603,00)
126,25 118,01¢ -
219,08: 249,49 154,12;
13,634,29 9,138,31 5,770,33!
1,658,201 1,081,04; 771,81
40,07¢ (2,231,53) (355,87()
171,23 65,21 74,53
(104,20 (84,156 (78,889
(202,05:) 157,99( 45,61¢
(537,60%) (265,45() (30,889
(1,289,69) (254,021 -
(280,47 424,57. (200,379
(169,46 (339,14 154,19(
: (30,489 (9,729
(354,55() (302,22() (453,31,
12,911,08 7,727,62. 5,841,54
(8,078,49) 702,51t 238,53
(20,722,51) (13,620,18) (5,304,43)
- (4,400,001 (2,750,06))
12,85( 28,70: -
(345,129 (97,61%) (3,250
(288,339 (129,639 -
(21,343,12) (18,218,72) (8,057,74)
(492,479 (174,56¢) (7,130
329,04 265,92 92¢
: 27,00 s
99,68: 62,38: -
(34,98%) : 5
- 38,834,70 16,957,93
(98,74() 39,015,44 16,951,72
(29,520,36) 21,499,23 9,132,51
44,672,58 23,173,35 14,040,83
$ 15,152,222 $ 4467258 $ 23,173,35
$ 105,24! $ 22,05¢ $ 48¢
$ 19,990 $ 18,33t $ 12,26
$ (403,360 $ 3,568,520 $ 1,915,59!
$ - $ 30955! $ -
$ 2,91558 $ 769,88: $ 152,16«
$ 1,240,77. $ 658,14« $ 355,26t
$ 18,67¢ $ -3 -




The accompanying notes are an integral part ofelmmsolidated financial statements.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Organization and Nature of Business

Towerstream Corporation (referred to as “Towertné or the “Company”) was incorporated in Delamean December 1999. The
Company provides fixed wireless broadband sentice®mmercial customers and delivers access owdretess network transmitting over
both regulated and unregulated radio spectrum.Cdrapany’s service supports bandwidth on demaneal&gs redundancy, virtual private
networks (“VPNs"), disaster recovery, bundled datd video services. The Company provides serviteisiness customers in thirteen
metropolitan markets including New York City, Bast&hicago, Los Angeles, San Francisco, SeattlepV)iDallas-Fort Worth, Houston,
Philadelphia, Nashville, Las Vegas-Reno and PravddeNewport.

Note 2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Poligs

Basis of Presentatiolhe consolidated financial statements include to®ants of the Company and its wholly-owned subsids. All
intercompany balances and transactions have beeimaled in consolidation.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in oomity with accounting principles generally accepite the United State
of America requires management to make estimat&ssumptions that affect the reported amountsssta and liabilities, the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities, and the amoofitevenues and expenses. Actual results couldrdifbm those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. The Company considers all highly liquid investits with a maturity of three months or less when
purchased to be cash equivalents.

Concentration of Credit Risk. Financial instruments that potentially subjihet Company to significant concentrations of credk
consist of cash and cash equivalents. At timescasin and cash equivalents may be uninsured @posit accounts that exceed the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) insuranaaits. As of December 31, 2012, the Company had aadicash equivalent balances of
approximately $7,136,000 in excess of the fedeiaByred limit of $250,000. Under the FDIC’s Tractian Account Guarantee (“TAG")
program, noninterest-bearing transaction depositt@aus had full federal deposit insurance covethgmigh December 31, 2012. The
Company had one noninterest-bearing transactioasitepccount with a balance of approximately $520,8s of December 31, 2012 that was
covered under the TAG program.

The Company also had approximately $7,766,000 tedeis three institutional money market funds. Eh2sds are protected under the
Securities Investor Protection Corporation (“SIBCa nonprofit membership corporation which prasdimited coverage up to $500,000.

Accounts ReceivableAccounts receivable are stated at cost lesslawaatce for doubtful accounts which reflects thepany’s estimate
of balances that will not be collected. The allosais based on the history of past write-offs,abing of balances, collections experience and
current credit conditions. Additions include praweiss for doubtful accounts and deductions includg@mer write-offs.

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011
Beginning of perioc $ 262,52! $ 118,82!
Additions 219,08 327,57:
Deductions (291,499 (183,87)
End of period $ 190,10¢ $ 262,52!

Additions for the year ended December 31, 201 ushelapproximately $30,000 in connection with thguésition of One Velocity, Inc.
(“One Velocity”), and approximately $39,000 in ce@ution with the acquisition of Color Broadband Coumications (“Color Broadband”).
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTIN UED

Property and EquipmenBroperty and equipment are stated at cost andde@quipment, installation costs and materials.r@=ation is
calculated on a straight-line basis over the es@thaseful lives of the assets. Leasehold improveésnere amortized over the lesser of the
useful lives or the term of the respective leasswerk, base station, rooftop tower site and custgamemise equipment are depreciated over
estimated useful lives of 5 years; furniture, fresiand other from 3 to 5 years and informatiohrietogy from 3 to 5 years.

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs whichal@xrtend the useful life of the assets are chargedpense as incurred. Gains or
losses on disposal of property and equipment dlected in general and administrative expenseblérstatement of operations.

FCC Licenses. Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) lises are initially recorded at cost and are consdity be intangible
assets with an indefinite life because the Compgsuaple to maintain the license indefinitely asg@s it complies with certain FCC
requirements. The Company intends to and has ddratet an ability to maintain compliance with suefuirements. The Financial
Accounting Standards Board'’s (“FASBguidance on goodwill and other intangible assettestthat an asset with an indefinite useful &faat
amortized. However, as further described in the paragraph, these assets are reviewed annualiynfairment.

Long-Lived AssetsLong-lived assets with definitive lives consisinparily of property and equipment, and intangiassets. Long-lived
assets are evaluated periodically for impairmentyltenever events or circumstances indicate tlaeiying value may not be recoverable.
Conditions that would result in an impairment cleainclude a significant decline in the fair valdfean asset, a significant change in the exten
or manner in which an asset is used, or a sigmifiadverse change that would indicate that theyiteyramount of an asset or group of assets i
not recoverable. When such events or circumstaaniss, an estimate of the future undiscounted ftagls produced by the asset, or the
appropriate grouping of assets, is compared tasiet’s carrying value to determine if impairmedqists. If the asset is determined to be
impaired, the impairment loss is measured basatepxcess of its carrying value over its fair ealdssets to be disposed of are reported at
the lower of their carrying value or net realizabédue.

The Company has determined that there were no rmpats of property and equipment or intangible ssdering the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011.

The FASB's guidance on asset retirement obligatamidresses financial accounting and reporting idigations associated with the
retirement of tangible long-lived assets and tiemeiated costs. This guidance requires the retiogrof an asset retirement obligation and an
associated asset retirement cost when there gahdbligation associated with the retirement affble long-lived assets. The Company’s
network equipment is installed on both buildingsvinich the Company has a lease agreement (“Comipacgtions”) and at customer
locations. In both instances, the installation esrdoval of the Companyg’equipment is not complicated and does not regtivetural change
to the building where the equipment is install€bsts associated with the removal of the Compaagtspment at company or customer
locations are not material, and accordingly, thenBany has determined that it does not presentlg haset retirement obligations under the
FASB'’s accounting guidance.

Business AcquisitionBusiness combinations are accounted for usin@¢heisition method. The cost of an acquisitioméasured as the
fair value of the consideration transferred onabeuisition date. When the Company acquires anbasj it assesses the acquired assets and
liabilities assumed for the appropriate classif@matand designation in accordance with the coniidderms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions at the acquisition date. Thkeees of the total consideration transferred dvemiet identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed is recognized as goodwillthi total consideration is lower than the fair eabi the identifiable net assets acquired, the
difference is recognized as a gain on businessigitiqn. Acquisition costs are expensed and indtlitlegeneral and administrative expenses i
our consolidated statements of operations.

The highest level of judgment and estimation inedln accounting for business acquisitions reladeketermining the fair value of the
customer relationships and network assets acquimezhch of the four acquisitions completed overghst three years, the highest asset value
has been allocated to the customer relationshigagiree. Determining the fair value of the customsdationships involves judgments and
estimates regarding how long the customers wiltiooe to contract services with the Company. Duthigcourse of completing four
acquisitions, the Company has developed a dataifdsstorical experience from prior acquisitionsagsist us in preparing future estimates of
cash flows. Similarly, we have used our historegberience in building networks to prepare estisagégarding the fair value of the networks
assets that we acquire.

Goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the estimated fair value of identifiable agtets acquired in an
acquisition. Goodwill is not amortized but ratheréviewed annually for impairment, or whenevemgs®r circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may not be recoverable. The Compaitiglly performs a qualitative assessment of geitidvhich considers macro-economic
conditions, industry and market trends, and theettirand projected financial performance of therépg unit. No further analysis is required
if it is determined that there is a less than 5@get likelihood that the carrying value is gredbeam the fair valueThe Company completed :
ualitative assessment and determined that thereavampairment of goodwill as of December 31, 2ah#& 2011, respectively.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTIN UED

Fair Value of Financial Instrument3he Company has categorized its financial assetdialilities measured at fair value into a three-
level hierarchy in accordance with the FASB'’s guicka Fair value is defined as an exit price, thewmhthat would be received upon the sale
of an asset or paid upon the transfer of a lighititan orderly transaction between market pardiotp at the measurement date. The degree of
judgment utilized in measuring the fair value ofets and liabilities generally correlates to thel®f pricing observability. Financial ass
and liabilities with readily available, actively oped prices or for which fair value can be meastiraah actively quoted prices in active mark
generally have more pricing observability and regléss judgment in measuring fair value. Convgrdlancial assets and liabilities that are
rarely traded or not quoted have less price obbdityaand are generally measured at fair valuegsialuation models that require more
judgment. These valuation techniques involve sawellof management estimation and judgment, theedegf which is dependent on t
price transparency of the asset, liability or maded the nature of the asset or liability.

Income Taxes. Income taxes are accounted for under the asskliability method. Deferred tax assets and lid% are recognized for
the future tax consequences attributable to dififiees between the financial statement carrying atsafrexisting assets and liabilities and
their respective tax bases, and operating lossaancredit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets #fillities are measured using enacted tax |
expected to apply to taxable income in the yeavshith those temporary differences are expectduktaecovered or settled. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a changedirrates is recognized in operations in the pegivaktted. A valuation allowance is provided
when it is more likely than not that a portion drod a deferred tax asset will not be realizedeThtimate realization of deferred tax assets is
dependent upon the generation of future taxablenmecand the reversal of deferred tax liabilitiegmtuthe period in which related temporary
differences become deductible. The benefit of @sitppns taken or expected to be taken in the Caorylpancome tax returns are recognized in
the consolidated financial statements if such postare more likely than not to be sustained upamination.

Segment Informatiomhe FASB has established standards for reportifogritation on operating segments of an enterprisetérim and
annual financial statements. The Company operatesé segment which is the business of providiogdioand services. The Companghiel
operating decision-maker reviews the Company’satpeg results on an aggregate basis and manag&othpany’s operations as a single
operating segment.

Revenue Recognition. The Company normally enters into contractuataments with its customers for periods ranging/eeh one to
three years. The Company recognizes the total ve/provided under a contract ratably over the emniperiod, including any periods under
which the Company has agreed to provide servicae abst. The Company applies the revenue recogritiinciples set forth under SEC Si
Accounting Bulletin 104, (“SAB 104") which providdsr revenue to be recognized when (i) persuasiigeace of an arrangement exists, (ii)
delivery or installation has been completed, (i@ customer accepts and verifies receipt, ancc@ilctability is reasonably assured.

Deferred Revenues. Customers are billed monthly in advance. Deférevenues are recognized for that portion ofthlgrcharges not
yet earned as of the end of the reporting periade®ed revenues are also recognized for certatomers who pay for their services
advance.

Advertising CostsThe Company charges advertising costs to expensewased. Advertising costs for the years endedddaber 31,
2012, 2011 and 2010 were approximately $1,096 $0@41,000 and $962,000, respectively, and aredecl in sales and marketing expense:
in the statements of operations.

Stock-Based Compensation.The Company accounts for stock-based awardedst® employees in accordance with FASB guidance.
Such awards primarily consist of options to purehstsares of common stock. The fair value of staéed awards is determined on the grant
date using a valuation model. The fair value imgaized as compensation expense, net of estimatiitéires, on a straight line basis over the
service period which is normally the vesting period

Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per ShaBasic and diluted net loss per share has beenlatdduby dividing net loss by the weighted averag

number of common shares outstanding during the@g@eAll potentially dilutive common shares have begcluded since their inclusion wot
be anti-dilutive.
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TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTIN UED

The following common stock equivalents were exctlftem the computation of diluted net loss per cammhare because they were ant
dilutive. The exercise of these common stock edeita would dilute earnings per shares if the Camg@ecomes profitable in the future. The
exercise of the stock options and warrants outstgrat December 31, 2012 would generate proceeds approximately $13,410,000.

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Stock options 3,916,04! 4,635,62 3,706,88!
Warrants 450,00( 4,776,311 4,332,311
Total 4,366,04! 9,411,93 8,039,19!

Reclassifications. Certain accounts in the prior years’ consoéddinancial statements have been reclassifieddormparative purposes
to conform to the presentation in the current yeearsolidated financial statements. These reclaasifins have no effect on the previously
reported net loss.

Recent Accounting PronouncemeitsJuly 2012, the FASB issued Accounting Standalpdate No. 2012-02, Intangibles -Goodwill and
Other (Topic 350) - Testing Indefinite-Lived Intabig Assets for Impairment (ASU 2012-02), to sirfipliow entities test indefinite-lived
intangibles assets for impairment. ASU 2012-02vedlentities to assess qualitative factors in daténg whether it is more likely than not that
the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangiblesas is less than its carrying value. This pronouorer® becomes effective for annual and interim
tests performed for the fiscal years beginningré8eptember 15, 2012. The adoption of this stand@rdot have a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial position and ressof operations.

Subsequent EventSubsequent events have been evaluated througlathef this filing.
Note 3. Business Acquisitions
Delos Interne

In August 2012, the Company and Delos Internet (688 entered into a binding merger agreement pursto which a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company would be merged with iatol Delos, with Delos becoming a wholly owned sdiasy of the Company. Delos
operates in Houston, Texas. The Company compl&tettquisition of Delos in February 2013 for comsidion consisting of $225,000 of cash
and 433,673 shares of common stock.
Color Broadband Communications

In December 2011, the Company completed the adiguisif Color Broadband. The Company obtained dalhtrol of Color Broadband in
the acquisition. The Company has determined tleaatguisition of Color Broadband was a businesshawation to be accounted for under the
acquisition method. The following table summarittess consideration transferred and the amountsemitified assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the acquisition date:

Fair value of consideration transferr

Cash $  2,800,00
Common stock (827,230 shart 2,043,25!
Capital lease obligations assurr 133,96:
Other liabilities assumed 121,77
5,098,99
Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acqainediabilities assume:
Customer relationshiy 4,544,94i
Property and equipme 1,976,85:
Accounts receivabl 383,52
Security deposit 7,50¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 48,42
Accounts payabl (5,989
Deferred revenu (492,98)
Customer credits (217,279
Total identifiable net assets 6,245,00
Gain on business acquisition $ 1,146,01
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The Company recognized a gain on business acquigifi$1,146,011 which is included in other incof@epense) in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations of which8&,(190 was recognized in the year ended Decemh&031 and subsequently adjusted by
$40,079 in the year ended December 31, 2012. Thkedging economic environment during 2011 madifficult for smaller companies like
Color Broadband to raise sufficient capital to airstheir growth. As a result, the Company wag ablacquire the customer relationships anc
wireless network of Color Broadband at a discouptéck.

In May 2012, the Company finalized the purchaseepoif Color Broadband. The final purchase pric8%098,996 was $220,885, or 4%,
lower than the initially reported purchase pricébf319,881. The finalization of the purchase premilted in a reduction of approximately
$261,000 of identifiable net assets and a redudtidhe gain on business acquisition of approxityskd0,000. The purchase price adjustment
resulted in a decrease in the number of sharegmfron stock issued to Color Broadband of 98,506 18@5,736 to 827,230 shares. In
addition, 45,600 shares of common stock were retlita the Company principally representing accoteiteivable collections retained by
Color Broadband during the post-closing transigervices period.

The results of operations of Color Broadband haentincluded in the Company’s consolidated statésrafroperations since the
completion of the acquisition in December 2011. &mes generated from customers acquired from @otmadband totaled approximately
$226,000 for the year ended December 31, 2011.

During the years ended December 31, 2012 and 284fiectively, the Company incurred approximately%$300 and $209,000 of third-
party costs in connection with the Color Broadbanduisition. These expenses are included in thergéand administrative expenses in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

One Velocity, Inc.

In May 2011, the Company completed the acquisitib®ne Velocity.T he transaction was the Company’s first acquisitioa new
geographical market and introduced Las Vegas amt Réevada as the Company’s® tnarket nationally. The Company obtained full cohtro
of One Velocity in the acquisition. The Company tatermined that the acquisition of One Velocitysvaabusiness combination to be
accounted for under the acquisition method. ThieWohg table summarizes the consideration transteand the amounts of identified assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisitiate:

Fair value of consideration transferr:

Cash $ 1,600,001
Common stock (269,886 shares) 1,281,95!
2,881,95

Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acqainediabilities assume
Customer relationshiy 2,329,53
Property and equipme 1,952,88
Accounts receivabl 133,22(
Security deposit 21,67¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 79t
Accounts payable and accrued expel (106,749
Deferred revenue (403,959
Total identifiable net assets 3,927,40:
Gain on business acquisition $ 1,045,44.

The Company recognized a gain on business acquigifi$1,045,444 which is included in other incof@epense) in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations. The chaligreconomic environment during 2011 made it difidor smaller companies like One
Velocity to raise sufficient capital to sustainitrgrowth. As a result, the Company was able mu@e the customer relationships and wireless
network of One Velocity at a discounted price.

In January 2012, the Company finalized the purcipaise of the One Velocity acquisition. The finalrphase price of $2,881,959 was
$557,773, or 16%, lower than the initially reporprdchase price of $3,439,732. The adjustmenttessinh a decrease of 117,426 shares of
common stock issued to One Velocity, from 387,31269,886 shares. In addition, the Company recegrézlditional gain on business
acquisition of approximately $481,000 and a redurctf approximately $77,000 of identifiable netetssn the fourth quarter of 2011. These
adjustments are included in the Company'’s cons@difinancial statements for the year ended Decehe?011.

The results of operations of One Velocity have beeluded in the Company’s consolidated statemehtgperations since the completion

of the acquisition in May 2011. Revenues generfited customers acquired from One Velocity totalpgraximately $976,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2011.
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During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coynipanrred approximately $202,000 of third-partywtsoin connection with the One
Velocity acquisition. These expenses are includegeneral and administrative expenses in the Coypannsolidated statements of
operations.

Pipeline Wireless, LL(

In December 2010, the Company completed the adiguisif Pipeline Wireless, LLC (“Pipeline”). The @many obtained full control of
Pipeline in the acquisition. The Company has detegththat the acquisition of Pipeline was a busiresnbination to be accounted for under
the acquisition method. The following table summesithe consideration transferred and the amodiidgmtified assets acquired and liabilit
assumed at the acquisition date:

Fair value of consideration transferr:

Cash $ 1,580,06!
Common stock (411,523 shart 1,485,59
Deferred payment 501,22!
Capital lease obligations assumed 152,16
3,719,04

Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquainediabilities assume:
Customer relationshiy 1,864,18
Property and equipme 266,34!
Accounts receivabl 194,13
Security deposit 6,36:
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 21,17¢
Accounts payabl (27,28Y
Deferred revenu (239,939
Other current liabilities (40,21)
Total identifiable net assets 2,044,76!
Goodwill $ 1,674,28

The Company allocated the purchase price of Pipatiridentifiable assets acquired and liabilitissuaned based on their fair values on
date of acquisition. The Company recognized $1Z8Upf goodwill related to the acquisition whiclpresents the excess of the purchase pric
over the estimated fair values of the identifiatd¢ assets. The Company expects the full balangeadwill to be tax deductible for tax
purposes. Pipeline had a very concentrated netemriprised of only six Points-of-Presence (“PoRsiinpared to other acquisitions which
at least twice as many PoPs. The relatively lowatidn of the Pipeline network resulted in goodWéding recognized on the transaction.

In September 2011, the Company finalized the pwelmice of the Pipeline acquisition. The finalghase price of $3,719,047 was
$112,421, or 3%, lower than the intially reportedighase price of $3,831,468. The adjustment resiuita decrease in deferred payments of
$145,065, or $112,421 on a net present value Hasasldition, identifiable net assets and goodwéke reduced by $62,131 and $50,290,
respectively.

Total deferred payments of $623,804 were discouated12% rate and recorded at $501,225 for ad¢muigpurposes. Current and long-
term balances totaled $148,198 and $56,827 at Dmee®i, 2012, and $166,563 and $205,024 at DeceBih@011, respectively. There were
17 monthly payments of $16,630 remaining as of Ddm=r 31, 2012.

The results of operations of Pipeline have beeldex in the Company’s consolidated statementgefations since the completion
of the acquisition in December 2010. Revenues géeeéfrom customers acquired from Pipeline totalgproximately $79,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2010.

The Company incurred approximately $20,000 and $8BYof third-party costs in connection with thedtine acquisition for the years

ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectivelysel&epenses are included in the general and adrathie expenses in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations.
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Sparkplug Chicago, Inc

In April 2010, the Company completed the acquigitdd the customer relationships, network infragurtes and related assets of the
Chicago, Illinois and Nashville, Tennessee netwofkSparkplug Chicago, Inc. (“Sparkplug).he acquisition expanded the Company’s
presence in the Chicago market and introduced NléshlUennessee as the Company'é'tiarket nationally. The Company obtained full
control of Sparkplug in the acquisition. The Compaas determined that the acquisition of Sparkmiag a business combination to be
accounted for under the acquisition method. Thieiohg table summarizes the consideration transteand the amounts of identified assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisitiaie:

Fair value of consideration transferr:

Cash $ 1,170,001
Common stock (275,700 shares) 430,00(
1,600,00!

Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acqainediabilities assume:
Customer relationshiy 1,483,001
Property and equipme 591,59(
Accounts receivabl 85,38’
Security deposit 3,40(
Prepaid expenst 844
Accounts payabl (23,909
Deferred revenue (184,44)
Total identifiable net assets 1,955,87
Gain on business acquisition $ 355,87t

The Company recognized a gain on the businessstigniof $355,876 as a result of Sparkplug Chicdgo. being sold at a discounted
price due to the realignment of its geographic re&rby its parent company, Sparkplug Inc. The gaibusiness acquisition is included in
other income (expense) in the Company’s consoliistatements of operations.

The results of operations of Sparkplug have beelnded in the Company’s consolidated statementpefations since the completion of
the acquisition in April 2010. Revenues generatethfcustomers acquired from Sparkplug totaled apprately $1,188,000 for the year enc
December 31, 2010.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Coynipanrred approximately $282,000 of third-partstoin connection with the
Sparkplug acquisition. These expenses are inclird#te general and administrative expenses in tiragainy’s consolidated statements of
operations.

Pro Forma Informatior

The following table reflects the unaudited pro faroonsolidated results of operations had the aitipmis taken place at the beginning of
the 2011 and 2010 periods:

Years Ended December 31

2011 2010
Revenue! $ 29,774,46 $ 26,350,79
Amortization expens 4,815,98! 5,538,541
Total operating expens 39,743,99 34,010,69
Net loss (7,712,09) (7,214,46)
Basic net loss per shs $ (0.1¢) $ (0.20)

The pro forma information presented above doegpuqiort to present what actual results would haenthad the acquisitions actually
occurred at the beginning of 2011 and 2010 nor twesformation project results for any futureipdr
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Note 4. Property and Equipment
The Company’s property and equipment is compriged o

As of December 31,

201% 2011

Network and base station equipm $ 2898328 $ 22,987,20
Customer premise equipme 23,036,05 18,078,85
Rooftop tower site 17,232,56 5,716,06
Information technolog' 3,863,21 1,977,30;
Furniture, fixtures and oth 1,598,97! 1,579,26
Leasehold improvements 789,39. 775,42
75,503,49 51,114,11

Less: accumulated depreciation 33,521,28 23,582,84

$ 4198221 $ 27,531,27

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenih@032, 2011and 2010 was $10,262,526, $6,50721l$4,815,113, respectively.
The Company sold or disposed of property and egeiptrwith $508,167 of original cost and $324,08Acfumulated depreciation during the
year ended December 31, 20
The Company received proceeds of $12,850 and rezeya loss of $171,230 for the year ended DeceBibe2012. The Company sold or
disposed of property and equipment with $307,97&rigfinal cost and $215,824 of accumulated deptiecialuring the year ended December
31, 2011. The Company received proceeds of $2&mbIrecognized a loss of $63,450 for the year ebdegmber 31, 2011. In addition, the
Company exchanged property and equipment with aamt value of $20,815 for property and equipmeitth & fair value of $19,050 resultii
in a loss of $1,765 during the year ended Decer®be?011. There were no exchanges of property gagbment for the year ended Decembe
31, 2012.

Property held under capital leases included withenCompany’s property and equipment consistsefdhowing:

As of December 31

2012 2011

Network and base station equipm $ 736,61 $ 576,03:
Rooftop tower site 1,216,14 81,30¢
Customer premise equipme 59,33( 59,32¢
Information technology 1,779,13 205,38:

$ 3,791,21 922,04
Less: accumulated depreciation 541,80( 77,91¢
Property acquired through capital leases, net $ 3,24941 $ 844,13

During the first quarter of 2012, the Company médal payments of $46,412 on capital leases acduii¢h the Color Broadband
acquisition. The Company obtained clear title ® ¢lgquipment, and accordingly, is no longer repgrtirese assets as property held under
capital leases.

Note 5. Intangible Assets

The Company’s intangible assets consist of th@fahg:

As of December 31

2012 2011
Goodwill $ 167428 $ 167428
Customer relationshif $ 10,221,65 $ 10,261,47
Less: accumulated amortization 6,958,03 3,586,26!
Customer relationships, n 3,263,62. 6,675,201
FCC licenses 1,284,55! 1,284,55!
Intangible assets, net $ 4548,17 $  7,959,76

Amortization expense for the years ended Decembe?@®12, 2011 and 2010 was $3,371,768, $2,631,0d 855,222, respectively. The
customer relationships acquired in the Sparkplugisiion totaled $1,483,000 and were amortized avé4 month period which ended in J
2011. The customer relationships acquired in tipelie acquisition totaled $1,864,187 and were &meat over a 17 month period whi



ended May 2012. The customer relationships acqinréte One Velocity acquisition are being amodinzer a 30 month period ending
November 2013. The customer relationships acquirgite Color Broadband acquisition are being amediover a 28 month period end
April 2014. As of December 31, 2012, the averageaiaing amortization period was approximately 1ths. Future amortization expense is
expected to be as follows:
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Years Ending December 31,

2013 $ 2,766,92!
2014 496,69

The Company’s FCC licenses are not subject to aratidn as they have an indefinite useful life.
Note 6. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:
As of December 31

2012 2011

Property and equipme $ 1,240,77. $ 658,14
Payroll and relate 859,13( 608,10:
Professional service 314,27( 277,21
Network 288,06( 149,75!
Information technology suppc 21,71 -
Acquisition - 95,91
Other 262,07: 125,58t

Total $ 2,986,020 $ 1,914,71,

Network expenses consist of costs incurred to pesgervices to our customers, and include towealgrbandwidth, troubleshooting and
gear removal.

Note 7. Other Liabilities
Other current and long-term liabilities consistloé following:

As of December 31

2012 2011
Other Current Liabilitie:
Deferred ren $ 86,82( $ 104,20t
Deferred acquisition payments 148,19¢ 288,34(
Total $ 235,01 $ 392,544
Other Lon¢Term Liabilities
Deferred ren $ - % 86,82(
Deferred acquisition paymer 56,82’ 205,02«
Deferred taxes 244,27 118,01t
Total $ 301,10. $ 409,86.

The gross balance of deferred acquisition payntetated $282,717 at December 31, 2012 and is payalhonthly installments of
$16,630 through May 2014. The net present valuecaksilated at a discount rate of 12%.

Note 8. Capital Stock
The Company is authorized to issue 5,000,000 shdiieeferred stock at a par value of $0.001. Theas no preferred stock outstanding
as of December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
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The Company is authorized to issue 95,000,000 shefreommon stock at a par value of $0.001. Thddrslof common stock are entitled
to one vote per share. The holders of common sioelentitled to receive ratably such dividendanij, as may be declared by the board of
directors out of legally available funds. Upon idgtion, dissolution or winding-up, the holderstioé Company’s common stock are entitled tc
share ratably in all assets that are legally alkgléor distribution. The holders of the Compangtsnmon stock have no preemptive,
subscription, redemption or conversion rights. Tights, preferences and privileges of holders ef@mpany’s common stock are subject to,
and may be adversely affected by, the rights ohtiiders of any series of preferred stock, whicly imadesignated solely by action of the
board of directors and issued in the future. AtGloenpany’s annual meeting in November 2012, thes$tdders approved an increase in the
number of authorized shares of common stock frof@G0o00 to 95,000,000.

In November 2010, the Company adopted a sharehogtes plan (the “Rights Plan”). The purpose af Rights Plan is to protect the
long-term value of the Company for its sharehol@ard to protect shareholders from various abusikedver tactics. Under the Rights Plan,
the Company issued one preferred share purchagdeigeach share of the Company's common stoakiyekhareholders of record as of the
close of business on November 24, 2010. In gend@kights would become exercisable if a persogroup acquires 15% or more of the
Company’s common stock or announces a tender offekchange offer for 15% or more of the Compangisimon stock. Each holder of a
right will be allowed to purchase one one-hundrexta share of a newly created series of the Cogipameferred shares at an exercise price
of $18.00. The rights will expire on November 8200The Company may redeem the rights for $0.08h etiany time until the tenth busint
day following public announcement that a persogroup has acquired 15% or more of its outstandargroon stock.

Executive officers were issued 9,225 shares of comstock in 2010 as part of their quarterly bofitree Company recognized
compensation expense totaling $17,250, which repted the fair value of the shares on the datesofince. In 2011 and 2012, there were no
shares of common stock issued to executive offiaensart of their quarterly bonuses.

Stock options were exercised by current or fornmepleyees as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Cash basis
Total options exercise 337,12¢ 297,53: 1,33:
Total proceeds receive $ 329,04. $ 265,92. $ 92C
Cashless basi
Total options exercise 256,95! 250,39: 361,95(
Net issuance of common sta 162,88« 173,69: 119,10

Under a cashless exercise, the holder uses a paitithe shares that would otherwise be issuabba @gercise, rather than cash, as
consideration for the exercise. The amount of hates issuable in connection with a cashless eseewdil vary based on the exercise price of
the option or warrant compared to the current ntgrkiee of the Company’s common stock on the datxercise.

In April 2010, the Company issued 275,700 shareoofmon stock to Sparkplug as part of the consiaergaid for the acquisition. The
fair value of the common stock issued was $430,000.

In November 2010, the Company issued 6,571,42%sharcommon stock in connection with an underemitbffering at $2.80 per share,
resulting in gross proceeds of $18,400,000. The 2o incurred costs of approximately $1,440,008ted to the offering.

In December 2010, the Company issued 411,523 sbamsnmon stock to Pipeline as part of the consiiilen paid for the acquisition.
The fair value of the common stock issued was 35, 588.

In May 2011, the Company issued 269,886 sharesrafion stock to One Velocity as part of the consitien paid for the acquisition.
The fair value of the common stock issued was H123D.

In July 2011, the Company issued 10,350,000 stadresmmon stock in connection with an underwrittéiering at $4.00 per share,
resulting in gross proceeds of $41,400,000. The 2o incurred costs of approximately $2,565,008ted to the offering.

In August 2011, the Company issued 89,987 sharesrmafmon stock in connection with the acquisitioradfCC license. The fair value of
the common stock issued was $309,555.

In December 2011, the Company issued 925,736 sb&mesnmon stock to Color Broadband as part ofcthresideration paid for the
acquisition. The fair value of the common stockistwas $2,286,567. In May 2012, the Company ratitieenumber of shares of common
stock issued to Color Broadband by 98,506 as dtreksan adjustment to the purchase price. In doidit45,600 shares of common stock were
returned to the Company principally representingpaats receivable collections retained by Colora8ittand during the post-closing transition
services period. The reduction of common stockanfar value of $403,366.



Note 9. Stock Option Plans

In January 2007, the Company adopted the 2007 ¥EQuinpensation Plan (the “2007 Plan”) which prabes for the issuance of options,
stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, rettd stock units, bonus shares and dividend earntsto officers and other employees,
consultants and directors of the Company. The tatedber of shares of common stock issuable un@e2@07 Plan is 2,403,922. A total of
2,309,607 stock options or common stock has besredsunder the 2007 Plan as of December 31, 2012.

In May 2007, the Board of Directors approved adwptf the 2007 Incentive Stock Plan which provifteghe issuance of up to 2,500,(
shares of common stock in the form of options etrieted stock (the “2007 Incentive Stock PlanThe 2007 Incentive Stock Plan was
approved by the Company'’s stockholders in May 2@biareholders approved an increase in the numbartbérized shares of common stock
issuable under the 2007 Incentive Stock Plan frgg8®,000 to 5,000,000 in November 2012. A tota?,4f12,542 stock options, common st
or restricted stock has been issued under the RR@ntive Stock Plan as of December 31, 2012.

Options granted under both the 2007 Plan and th& Bzentive Plan have terms up to ten years am@xgrcisable at a price per share nc

less than the fair value of the underlying commimcls on the date of grant. The total number of eahaf common stock that remain available
for issuance as of December 31, 2012 under the PG0Vand the 2007 Incentive Stock Plan combin@d981,773 shares.
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In August 2008, the Company’s stockholders appradaption of the 2008 Non-Employee Directors Conspéion Plan (the “2008
Directors Plan”). Under the 2008 Directors Planaggregate of 1,000,000 shares have been resewegdance. As of December 31, 2012,
800,000 stock options or common stock have beeredsander this plan. Options granted under the Zifitors Plan have terms of up to ten
years and are exercisable at a price per sharé teqie fair value of the underlying common stackthe date of gran

The Company uses the Black-Scholes valuation ntodedlue options granted to employees, directodscamsultants. Compensation
expense, including the effect of forfeitures, isagnized over the period of service, generallywiigting period. Stock-based compensation for
the amortization of stock options granted underGbenpany’s stock option plans totaled $1,532,283,1$850, and $649,502 for the years
ended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, resplgctBteck-based compensation is included in gerardladministrative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The unamortized amount of stock options expensedda19,754 as of December 31, 2012 which willdmgnized over a weighted-
average period of 2.1 years.

The fair values of stock option grants were cal@dan the dates of grant using the Black-Schai¢isio pricing model and the following
weighted average assumptions:

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Risk-free interest rat 0.6%- 1.0% 1.6%- 2.1% 1.0%- 3.3%
Expected volatility 65%- 74% 50%- 58% 73%
Expected life (in years 5.(-5.3 5.2-6.4 25-6.1
Expected dividend yiel 0% 0% 0%

The risk-free interest rate was based on rateblestad by the Federal Reserve. The Company’s ¢ggeolatility was based upon the
historical volatility for its common stock. The eeqied life of the Company’s options was determingidg the simplified method as a result of
limited historical data regarding the Company’s\aist. The dividend yield is based upon the facttthe Company has not historically paid
dividends, and does not expect to pay dividendbearforeseeable future.

During the first quarter of 2011, the Company isk86,000 shares of restricted stock to two exeestiThe fair value of $354,600 was
based on the closing market price of the Compatysmon stock on the date of grant. The restricteckssests over a three year period, of
which 30,000 shares were vested as of Decemb&@03P, Stocksased compensation for restricted stock totale® 850 and $118,200 for tl
year ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectlyehgcognized compensation cost of $59,100 at mbee 31, 2012 will be recogniz:
ratably through December 2014. As of December 812230,000 shares of restricted stock remain adéhg and 30,000 shares of restricted
stock were forfeited due to the resignation of aecetive in November 2012.

The Company recorded additional stock-based congpiensrelated to the issuance of common stock ézetive officers as a part of their
bonus programs which totaled $17,250 for the yaded December 31, 2010. Total shares issued tutxeofficers were 9,225 for the year
ended December 31, 2010. There were no sharesrofion stock issued to executive officers as patteif quarterly bonuses in 2011 or 2(

In the third quarter of 2010, the Company recorstedk-based compensation related to the issuang@,075 shares of common stock to ¢
third party for services rendered. The fair valithe common stock issued was $105,060.

Option transactions under the stock option plangiduhe years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 ah@®6re as follows:

Weighted
Number of Average
Options Exercise Price

Outstanding as of January 1, 2( 3,738,631 $ 1.6¢
Granted during 201 375,00( 1.8C
Exercisec (363,28 1.37
Forfeited /expired (43,47() 0.9t
Outstanding as of December 31, 2( 3,706,88! $ 1.7¢
Granted during 201 1,485,001 4.9t
Exercisec (547,92) 1.04
Forfeited /expired (8,339 0.6¢
Outstanding as of December 31, 2( 4,635,62: $ 2.8t
Granted during 201 250,00( 3.62
Exercisec (594,08 1.1¢

Forfeited /expired (375,499 6.04




Outstanding as of December 31, 2012 3,916,04! $ 2.88

Grants under the stock option plans were as follows

For the Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Annual grants to outside directc 200,00( 200,00t 200,00t
Performance based grants to execut - 745,00( -
Employee grant - 540,00t 175,00(
Non-employee grant 50,00( - -
Total 250,00( 1,485,001 375,00(

All options granted during the period from 201@f@2 had a ten year term except for the 2010 goamtitside directors which had a five
year term. All grants were issued at an exercigee qual to fair value on the date of grant. Dimegrants vest over a one year period from
date of issuance. Employee options vest over ayfear period from the date of issuance. The employee grant was immediately vested t
issuance. Performance based grants vest over @tthioee year period with vesting beginning updaiatment of specified performance targ

Cancellations for the year ended December 31, #ixd@ded 281,746 options related to employee teations, 18,750 options that were
repurchased and 75,000 options that expired. The0&ptions had a fair value of $34,985. Candehatfor the years ended December 31,
2011 and 2010 related to employee terminations.

The weighted-average fair values of the optionstgdduring 2012 and 2011 were $2.16 and $2.6fpentively. Outstanding options of
3,916,045 as of December 31, 2012 had exercisesptiiat ranged from $0.68 to $7.05 and had a wedghterage remaining contractual life
5.6 years. Exercisable options of 3,043,616 asemfehber 31, 2012 had exercise prices that ranged$0.68 to $7.05 and had a weighted-
average remaining contractual life of 4.8 years.

The intrinsic value of outstanding and exercisaggons totaled $4,202,624 and $4,113,748, res@dgtas of December 31, 2012. The
intrinsic value is calculated as the differencenaen the closing price of the Compasmigommon stock at December 31, 2012, which wasb!
per share, and the exercise price of the options.

The number of shares issuable upon the exercigatsfanding options, and the proceeds upon theisrenf such options, will be lower if
an option holder elects to exercise on a cashlesis.b
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Note 10. Employee Benefit Programs

The Company has established a 401(k) retirement(4®1(k) plan”) which covers all eligible emplag®who have attained the age of
twenty-one and have completed 30 days of employm@htthe Company. The Company can elect to magctowa certain amount of
employees’ contributions to the 401(k) plan. No &yer contributions were made during the years drdecember 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010.

Under the Company’s 2010 Employee Stock Purchase (PESPP Plan”), participants can purchase shafrfe Company’s stock at a
15% discount. A maximum of 200,000 shares of comstook can be issued under the ESPP Plan. ThésBtstnce under the ESPP Plan
occurred on June 30, 2011. During the years endegber 31, 2012, and 2011, a total of 28,723 &rB2 shares were issued under the
ESPP Plan with a fair value of $117,251 and $73,8%pectively. The Company recognized $17,568%100992 of stocleased compensati
related to the 15% discount for the years endect®Déer 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively.
Note 11. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of theofwlhg:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

Current

Federal $ - 8 - $ -

State - - -
Total current - - -
Deferred

Federal (7,017,749 (2,359,649 (1,922,41)

State (1,238,42) (416,409 (339,25)

Change in valuation allowance 8,382,43 2,894,07! 2,261,66.
Total deferred 126,25t 118,01¢ -
Provision for income taxes $ 126,25¢ $ 118,01t $ -

The provision for income taxes using the statuteageral tax rate as compared to the Company’steféeax rate is summarized as
follows:

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010
Federal statutory ra (34.0% (34.0% (34.0%
State taxe (6.0% (6.0% (6.0%
Permanent difference 0.2% 0.4% (0.9%
Valuation allowance 40.4% 41.2% 40.4%
Effective tax rate 0.€% 1.7% 0.C%

The Company files income tax returns for Towerstr&2orporation and its subsidiaries in the U. Sefatland various state jurisdictions.
As of December 31, 2012, the tax returns for Toweasn Corporation for the years 2009 through 2@h2ain open to examination by the
Internal Revenue Service and various state auib®rit

The Company’s deferred tax assets (liabilities)ststed of the effects of temporary differencestaitable to the following:

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011

Deferred tax asse

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 2394495 $ 16,114,36

Stoclk-based compensatic 1,444,08. 1,061,29

Intangible assel 1,801,89. 645,30!

Allowance for doubtful accoun 76,04 105,01(

Other 213,65¢ 31,25¢
Total deferred tax asse 27,480,63 17,957,22
Valuation allowance (24,263,23) (15,880,80)

Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowe 3,217,39! 2,076,42

Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciatior (3,217,39) (2,076,420



Intangible assets (244,27, (118,019
Total deferred tax liabilities (3,461,67) (2,194,43)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (244,27 $ (118,019
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Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

ASC Topic 740 clarifies the accounting and repgrfior uncertainties in income tax law. ASC Topi®©ftescribes a comprehensive
model for the financial statement recognition, nneasient, presentation and disclosure of uncergipositions taken or expected to be taken
in income tax returns. The guidance also providesction on derecogntion, classification, inter@stl penalties, accounting in interim periods,
disclosure and transition.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company Velsated and concluded that there were no mateniggrtain tax positions requiring
recognition in the Company’s financial statemefitee Company’s policy is to classify assessmentmyf, for tax related interest as interest
expense and penalties as general and administextpenses. No interest and penalties were recaldeag the years ended December 31,
2012, 2011, and 2010.

NOL Limitations

The Company'’s utilization of net operating loss QIN') carryforwards is subject to an annual limitatidue to ownership changes that
have occurred previously or that could occur inftltare as provided in Section 382 of the IntefRavenue Code, as well as similar state
provisions. Section 382 limits the utilizationOLs when there is a greater than 50% change owship as determined under the
regulations. Since its formation, the Company laésed capital through the issuance of capital samckvarious convertible instruments which,
combined with the purchasing shareholders’ subsegiisposition of these shares, has resulted iwarership change as defined by Section
382, and also could result in an ownership chandké future upon subsequent disposition.

As of December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, the Compadyapproximately $59,862,000, $40,286,000 and2852000, respectively, of
federal and state NOL carryovers. Federal NOLs lvaljin expiring in 2027. State NOLs began expirmg012.

Valuation Allowance

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax sd¢be Company has considered whether it is niloetyIthan not that some portion or all
the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Tihimate realization of deferred tax assets is ddpahupon the generation of future taxable
income during the periods in which those tempodiiferences become deductible. In making this deiteation, under the applicable financial
reporting standards, the Company is allowed toidenshe scheduled reversal of deferred tax liakdj projected future taxable income, and
tax planning strategies. A full valuation allowar@s been recorded for the deferred tax assetdmémof December 31, 2012 and 2011. The
change in valuation allowance was $8,382,431 an8io#2075, respectively for the years ended Decel@be2012 and 2011.

In future periods, the Company will generate addgi deferred tax liabilities related to the ammation of its FCC licenses and goodwill
for tax purposes because these assets are noizrdddr financial reporting purposes. The tax aimation in future years will result in a
temporary difference, and the deferred tax liabaitwill not reverse until such time, if any, tila¢ FCC licenses and goodwill become impa
or sold. Due to the uncertain timing of this rewtrghe temporary difference cannot be consideseitare taxable income for purposes of
determining a valuation allowance; therefore, thfeded tax liabilities cannot be used to offsetdeferred tax assets related to the net
operating loss carryforwards for tax purposes.
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Note 12. Stock Warrants

Warrant transactions during the years ended DeceBih@012 and 2011 were as follows:

Outstanding as of January 1, 2(
Granted during 201

Exercisec

Forfeited/expired

Outstanding as of December 31, 2(
Granted during 201

Exercisec

Forfeited /expired

Outstanding as of December 31, 2(
Granted during 201

Exercisec

Forfeited /expired

Outstanding as of December 31, 2012

Weighted
Number of Average
Warrants Exercise Price

4,332,311 $ 4.61]
4,332,311 $ 4.61]
450,00( 5.0C
(6,000 4.5(
4,776,311 $ 465
(4,326,31)) 4.61
450,00 $ 5.0C
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In July 2011, the Company issued 450,000 warranpsitchase shares of its common stock at an ergudise of $5.00 per share under its
July 2011 underwritten offering. These warrantsalpee exercisable in July 2012 and expire in July6201

During the year ended December 31, 2011, 6,000awtrwere exercised which resulted in proceed2®f00. There were no warrants
exercised in 2012.

A total of 4,026,310 warrants exercisable at prieeging from $4.00 to $6.00 expired in January28dd an additional 300,000 warrants
with an exercise price of $4.00 expired in June2201

As of December 31, 2012, there were 450,000 wasraxercisable at $5.00 with a remaining contradifeabf 3.5 years.

There was no intrinsic value associated with theravds outstanding and exercisable as of Decenthe2® 2. The intrinsic value is
calculated as the difference between the closiiog mf the Company’s common stock at December 8122which was $3.25 per share, and
the exercise price of the warrants.

The number of shares issuable upon the exerciaevaifrrant will be lower if a holder exercises orashless basis.
Note 13. Fair Value Measurement
Valuation Hierarchy

The FASB'’s accounting standard for fair value measients establishes a valuation hierarchy for dssok of the inputs to valuation used
to measure fair value. This hierarchy prioritizes inputs into three broad levels. Level 1 inpuéscuoted prices (unadjusted) in active mar
for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 inpat® quoted prices for similar assets and liabdith active markets or inputs that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly or imelctly through market corroboration, for substdhtitne full term of the financial instrument.
Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs based of€dmpany’s own assumptions used to measure asgket@hilities at fair value. A financial
asset or liability’s classification within the hégchy is determined based on the lowest level itmaittis significant to the fair value
measurement.

Cash and cash equivalents were carried at faievahd measured as follows:

Quoted prices ir Significant other  Significant
active markets observable unobservable
Total Carrying Value (Level 1) inputs (Level 2) inputs (Level 3|
December 31, 201 $ 15,152,22 $ 15,152,22 $ -$ =
December 31, 201 $ 44,672,58 $ 44,672,58 $ -$ -

Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fag ualng quoted market prices and are classifiedinvitevel 1 of the valuation hierarct
The carrying amounts of accounts receivable, adsquayable and accrued liabilities approximatertfadi value due to their short maturities.
There were no changes in the valuation techniquaegithe year ended December 31, 2012.

Note 14. Commitments

Operating Lease Obligations. The Company has entered into operating le@tated to roof rights, towers, office space andmgent
leases under various non-cancelable agreementsrmexgfirough January 2023.

As of December 31, 2012, total future operatingéeabligations were as follows:

Years Ending December 31

2013 $ 15,205,44
2014 13,856,54
2015 12,842,33
2016 11,711,81
2017 6,428,60!
Thereafter 1,100,811

$ 61,145,56
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Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2012and 2010 totaled approximately $12,020,00(68000 and $3,280,000,
respectively.

In March 2007, the Company entered into a leaseesgent for its corporate offices (the “Original &g8. In August 2007, the Company
signed a lease amendment adding approximately @S@@are feet (the “Additional Space”) and extegdire lease term. The new lease term
commenced in October 2007 and terminates six fe@arsthe date of commencement with an option t@vefor an additional five-year term.
The Company’s annual rent payments totaled apprabeiy $570,000 in 2012 and will total approximat®49,000 a month through the end of
the lease. Our lease expires on December 31, 2Qh&woption to renew for an additional five-yéamm. We do not own any real property.

The landlord provided the Company with certain imoees as an inducement to enter the lease agregnidrese incentives included (i) an
allowance of $163,330 for leasehold improvementtherOriginal Space, (ii) an allowance of $200,880easehold improvements on the
Additional Space, and (iii) an initial six-montmitefree period on half of the Additional Space. &&faold improvements funded by the landlorc
have been (i) capitalized and are being amortized the remaining lease term and (ii) recognizededsrred rent and amortized ratably over
the term of the lease. The economic value of thefree period is also recognized as deferredaadtamortized ratably over the term of the
lease. The current balance totaled $86,820 at Dieee81, 2012. There was no long-term balance a¢ber 31, 2012.

Capital Lease Obligation&Ve have entered into capital leases to acquirearktwooftop tower site and customer premise eqeipm
expiring through December 2017. In December 20Elemtered into an agreement with Cisco Capitattpiae equipment related to our
information technology infrastructure. The totade obligation is approximately $2,100,000, of whiwe first lease for approximately
$1,400,000 commenced in the second quarter of ZHi@second lease obligation of approximately $J00,s expected to commence in the
first quarter of 2013. We received approximatel$5HB00 of the leased equipment under the secosd la€2012 and have recorded the asset
and liability obligation on this equipment. The &ining equipment under the second lease was neivextin 2012 and is reflected as a
reconciling item in the table below. These leas#ishe paid in various installments over a 60 mopémniod from their respective
commencement dates.

As of December 31, 2012, total future capital lealsiégations were as follows:

Years Ending December 31

2013 $ 905,90¢
2014 969,12¢
2015 884,55(
2016 651,61!
2017 387,51
Thereafter -
$  3,798,72

Less: Obligations not commenced as of Decembe?2 &2 162,33:
Less: Interest expense 473,63.
Total capital lease obligations $ 3,162,76.
Current $ 775,08
Long-Term $  2,387,67

Other.In December 2011, we entered into a one year irdtion technology infrastructure support agreemené agreement became
effective at the end of the first quarter of 20IBe monthly payments are approximately $43,000vaitidbe paid through the first quarter of
2013.
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Note 15. Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited)

Three months endec

March 31, June 30, September 30 December 31,
2010 2010 2010 2010
Revenue! $ 424421 $ 486853 $ 508065 $ 545248
Operating Expense 5,795,81! 6,553,97. 6,489,38 6,855,15!
Operating Los! (1,551,60) (1,685,43) (1,408,73) (1,402,66)
Net Loss (1,531,77) (1,306,53) (1,387,15) (1,377,54)
Net Loss per common shé— basic and dilute: (0.09 (0.09 (0.04) (0.04)
Weighted average number of shares outstar— basic and dilute 34,668,16 34,914,81 35,004,82 37,890,75
Three months endec
March 31, June 30, September 30 December 31
2011 2011 2011 2011
Revenue! $ 5095301 $ 6,581,050 $ 677589 $  7,184,77
Operating Expense 7,466,71 8,438,31 9,404,96:. 10,349,27
Operating Los: (1,513,69) (1,857,25) (2,629,07)) (3,164,50)
Net Loss (1,512,58) (812,39¢) (2,620,41) (2,079,71))
Net Loss per common shé— basic and dilute: (0.09 (0.02) (0.05) (0.09)
Weighted average number of shares outstar— basic and dilute 42,209,68 42,638,96 51,599,16 53,579,90
Three months ended
March 31, June 30, September 30 December 31
2012 2012 2012 2012
Revenue! $ 7,819,058 $ 810332 $ 812750 $  8,229,54
Operating Expense 12,189,12 12,817,11 13,507,49 14,511,37
Operating Los! (4,370,06) (4,713,79) (5,379,98) (6,281,82)
Net Loss (4,380,13) (4,758,659 (5,408,23) (6,442,550
Net Loss per common shé- basic and dilute: (0.0¢) (0.09) (0.10 (0.12)
Weighted average number of shares outstar— basic and dilute 54,312,06 54,369,17 54,403,23 54,648,24

Quarterly results for 2011 reflect the purchaseepadjustment for the One Velocity acquisition.
Note 16. Subsequent Events

In January 2013, the Company incorporated a whmNyed subsidiary, Hetnets Tower Corporation (“Hetfje The Company plans to
transfer certain assets to Hetnets to supportpkeation of a shared wireless infrastructure bissinddetnets plans to generate rental income
from four separate sources including (i) rentamdice on street level rooftops for the installabboustomer owned Small Cells which inclu
Wi-Fi antennae, DAS, and Metro and Pico cells,réital of a channel on Hetnets’ Wi-Fi network floe offloading of mobile data, (iii) rental
of cabinets, switch ports, interconnection serviagegduding backhaul or transport, and (iv) rembpower and power backup.

The Company has determined that Hetnets repreaerd® business segment. Beginning in 2013, thep@agnwill provide segment
financial reporting for two business segments whidhbe referred to as (i) Fixed Wireless Servicasd (i) Shared Wireless Infrastructure.

In February 2013, the Company completed its aciipisof Delos which is based in Houston, Texas la@came the Company's 13th
market nationally. The Company paid consideratiomsésting of $225,000 in cash and 433,673 sharesrafmon stock.

In February 2013, the Company completed an undienroffering under which it raised gross procead$30,000,000 in connection with

the sale of 10,000,000 shares at $3.00 per shrahatch 2013, the Company raised additional grossgeds of $3,000,000 in connection with
the sale of 1,000,000 shares at $3.00 per shareeslt of the exercise by the underwriters oif theer-allotment option.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accounté&on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, under the superviaimhwith the participation of our management,udeig our chief executive officer and
chief financial officer, of the effectiveness oéttesign and operation of our disclosure contnots@ocedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange At98#, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Disclostwatrols and procedures include,
without limitation, controls and procedures desifjt@ensure that information required to be disadiosy an issuer in the reports that it files or
submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated anthwnicated to the issuer’'s management, includsgrincipal executive and principal
financial officers, or persons performing similan€tions, as appropriate to allow timely decisiceggarding required disclosure. Based upon
our evaluation, our chief executive officer andetHinancial officer concluded that our disclosemntrols and procedures are effective, as of
December 31, 2012, in ensuring that material infidrom that we are required to disclose in repdrds we file or submit under the Exchange
Act is recorded, processed, summarized and repwitbdh the time periods specified in the Secusittand Exchange Commission rules and
forms.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportip

There were no changes in our system of internarabover financial reporting during the fourth gtea of the year ended December
31, 2012 that have materially affected, or arearakly likely to materially affect, our internalmool over financial reporting.

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control over FinancidReporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting. Internal control over
financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(fidal5d-15(f) under the Exchange Act as a procesigiaied by, or under the supervision of, a
company’s principal executive and principal finaiafficers and effected by a company’s board céatbrs, management and other personne
to provide reasonable assurance regarding théoilélieof financial reporting and the preparatiohfimancial statements for external purpose
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptesz Our internal control over financial repogimcludes those policies and procedures
that:

» pertain to the maintenance of records that, inoeaisle detail, accurately and fairly reflect trengactions and dispositions of our
assets

« provide reasonable assurance that transactions@eded as necessary to permit preparation ofifiahstatements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, #rad our receipts and expenditures are being malydrmaccordance with
authorizations of our management and directors;

» provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, os@lisposition of our assets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness oftetmahcontrol over financial reporting as of Det®m31, 2012. In making this
assessment, management used the criteria sebfottle Committee of Sponsoring Organizations offtteadway Commission (COSOQ) in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework.

Based on our assessment, our management has ceth¢had, as of December 31, 2012, our internalrobaver financial reporting is
effective based on those criteria.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

To the Audit Committee of the
Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Towerstream Corporation

We have audited Towerstream Corporation's (the “@aomg”) internal control over financial reporting as of Baetber 31, 2012, based
criteria established in Internal Contiotegrated Framework issued by the Committee of nSpong Organizations of the Tready
Commission. The Company's management is responfiblenaintaining effective internal control oveméincial reporting, and for

assessment of the effectiveness of internal comvel financial reporting, included in the accomygag “Management Annual Report
Internal Control over Financial Reportingdur responsibility is to express an opinion onG@menpany's internal control over financial repor
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statglof the Public Company Accounting Oversight @ nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditndéinal control over financial reporting includestaining an understanding of internal cor
over financial reporting, assessing the risk thataderial weakness exists, and testing and evalyisitie design and operating effectivene:
internal control based on the assessed risk. Odit also included performing such other procedumeswe considered necessary in
circumstances. We believe that our audit providesaaonable basis for our opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is @@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranaeiregthe reliability of financi:
reporting and the preparation of financial stateisidor external purposes in accordance with gelyeealcepted accounting principles
company's internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftaimeto the maintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet tlransactions and dispositions of the assetseotdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assui
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accorédamdth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management :
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanalsurance regarding prevention or timely deteatfounauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations, internal cointiver financial reporting may not prevent or detmisstatements. Also, projections of
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, o
degree of compliance with the policies or procedunay deteriorate.

In our opinion, Towerstream Corporation maintainiedall material aspects, effective internal cohtreer financial reporting as of Decem
31, 2012, based on criteria established in Inte@uaitrol —Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpong Organizations of t
Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the consolids
balance sheets as of December 31, 2012 and 20lthandlated consolidated statements of operati&inskholdersequity, and cash flows f
the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 andd?@t® Company and our report dated March 18, 22essed an unqualified opin
on those financial statements.

/s/ Marcum LLP
MarcumLLpr
New York, NY
March 18, 2013
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Item 9B. Other Information.

None.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance.
Directors and Executive Officers

The following table sets forth the names, ages, @ositions of the current directors and executiffee@rs of Towerstream Corporati
(“Towerstream”, “we”, “us”, “our” or the “Company”)Our directors hold office for ongear terms until the following annual meeting
stockholders and until his or her successor has kterted and qualified or until the directoearlier resignation or removal. Officers

elected annually by the Board of Directors (the 4BE5) and serve at the discretion of the Board.

Name Age Position

Jeffrey M. Thompsol 48 President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
Philip Urso 53 Chairman of the Board of Directc

Joseph P. Hernc 53 Chief Financial Office

Howard L. Haronian, M.D1(2)3) 51 Director

Paul Koehle(D®) 53  Director

William J. Bush(M(@) 47  Director

(1) Member of our Audit Committee.
(2) Member of our Compensation Committee.
(3) Member of our Nominating Committee.

The biographies below include information relatedervice by the persons below to Towerstream CGatjpm and our subsidiary,
Towerstream I, Inc. On January 4, 2007, we mergédamd into a wholly-owned Delaware subsidiarytfoe sole purpose of changing our
state of incorporation to Delaware. On January20®,7, a wholly-owned subsidiary of ours completedwerse merger with and into a private
company, Towerstream Corporation, with Towerstr&orporation (the private company) being the sunguompany and becoming a
wholly-owned subsidiary of ours. Upon closing of tinerger, we discontinued our former business aodegded to the business of
Towerstream Corporation as our sole line of busin@sthe same time, we also changed our nameweream Corporation and, our newly
acquired subsidiary, Towerstream Corporation, chdrts name to Towerstream |, Inc.

Jeffrey M. Thompsonco-founded Towerstream |, Inc. in December 1999 witlili» Urso. Mr. Thompson has served as a direciuee
inception and as chief operating officer from intb&p until November 2005 when Mr. Thompson becamesident and chief executive offic
Since becoming a public entity in January 2007, frompson has been our president, chief execufiieep and a director. In 1995, N
Thompson cdeunded and was vice president of operations ofeldg Inc., a privately held Internet service previgwhich was sold
Citadel Broadcasting Corporation in 1997 and becafertress (“eFortress”Yhrough 1999. Mr. Thompson holds a B.S. degree fthe
University of Massachusetts. Mr. Thompson was appdito the Board due to his significant experieindde wireless broadband industry,
familiarity with the Company, as well as his exteadusiness management expertise.

Philip Urso co-founded Towerstream I, Inc. in December 1999 déffrey M. Thompson. Mr. Urso has served asecthr and chairman
since inception and as chief executive officer fiaaeption until November 2005. Since becoming hlipientity in January 2007, Mr. Urso
has been our chairman and a director. In 1995/Uvko co-founded eFortress and served as its pradigi®ugh 1999. From 1983 until 1997,
Mr. Urso owned and operated a group of radio statitn addition, Mr. Urso co-founded the regiorell-tower company, MCF
Communications, Inc. Mr. Urso was appointed toBlard due to his significant experience in the iese broadband and tower industries, his
familiarity with the Company, as well as his exteadusiness management expertise.

Joseph P. Hernorhas been our chief financial officer, principaldircial officer and principal accounting officer &njoining Towerstrea
Corporation in May 2008. From November 2007 untdyM2008, Mr. Hernon was a financial consultant togi technology company. From
November 2005 until October 2007, Mr. Hernon seragthe chief financial officer of Aqua Bounty Tecdkogies Inc., a biotechnolog
company dedicated to the improvement of produgtivithe aquaculture industry. From August 1996l @t¢tober 2005, Mr. Hernon served
vice president, chief financial officer and secrgtaf Boston Life Sciences Inc., a biotechnologmpany focused on developing therapeutics
and diagnostics for central nervous system dise&ses January 1987 until August 1996, Mr. Herneidlvarious positions while employed
at PriceWaterhouseCoopers LLP, an internationalating firm. Mr. Hernon is a certified public acocgant and holds a B.S. degree in
Business Administration from the University of Ldlydassachusetts and a M.S. degree in Accountimg BBentley College in Waltham, M.
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Howard L. Haronian, M.D.,has served as a director of Towerstream [, Incesinception in December 1999. Since becoming diqub
entity in January 2007, Dr. Haronian has beenectbr. Dr. Haronian is an interventional cardioki@ind has been president of Cardiology
Specialists, Ltd. of Rhode Island since 1994. Dardiiian has served on the clinical faculty of tredeYSchool of Medicine since 1994. Dr.
Haronian graduated from the Yale School of ManagerReogram for Physicians in 1999. Dr. Haronian diescted the Cardiac
Catheterization program at The Westerly Hospitatsifounding the program in 2003. Dr. Haronian a@sointed to the Board due to his
extensive knowledge of the Company’s operationsesits founding and his executive level experiegiogther organizations.

Paul Koehlerhas been a director since January 2007. Mr. Kodfalerserved as vice president of corporate devedopof Pacific Ethano
Inc. (NasdagGM: PEIX) since June 2005. Mr. Koehles over twenty-five years of experience in the guoand renewable fuels industries and
in marketing, trading and project development. Piaoworking for Pacific Ethanol Inc., from 20012605, Mr. Koehler developed wind pov
projects for PPM Energy Inc., a wind power prodwmad marketer. Mr. Koehler was president and covden of Kinergy LLC, a consulting
firm focused on renewable energy, project develagraad risk management from 1993 to 2003. Durimglt®90s, Mr. Koehler worked for
Portland General Electric Company and Enron Carpower marketing and energy trading. Mr. Koehlddh a B.A. degree from the Honors
College at the University of Oregon. Mr. Koehlerremtly serves on the board of directors of OreGotiege of Art and Craft Foundation sir
2011. Mr. Koehler also served on the board of dinescof Oregon College of Art and Craft, a privatecollege from 1998 to 2007 and again
from 2009 to 2012. Mr. Koehler was appointed toBloard due to his experience as an executive at pilblic companies and as a director of
other organizations.

William J. Bush has been a director since January 2007. Since 3a20&0, Mr. Bush has served as the chief finarafiater of Borrego
Solar Systems, Inc., which is one of the natioe&ling financiers, designers and installers of cersial and government grid-connected solal
electric power systems. From October 2008 to Deeer2809, Mr. Bush served as the chief financiateffof Solar Semiconductor, Ltd., a
private vertically integrated manufacturer andréisitor of quality photovoltaic modules and systaargeted for use in industrial, commercial
and residential applications with operations inidrfaklping it reach $100 million in sales in itssfil5 months of operation. Prior to that, Mr.
Bush served as chief financial officer and corpoantroller for a number of high growth softwanel @nline media companies as well as
being one of the founding members of Buzzsaw.com, & spinoff of Autodesk, Inc. Prior to his wakBuzzsaw.com, Mr. Bush served as
corporate controller for Autodesk, Inc. (NasdaqGWNDSK), the fourth largest software applications gamy in the world. His prior experien
includes seven years in public accounting with E€n¥oung, and Price Waterhouse. Mr. Bush holds @. Blegree in Business Administration
from U.C. Berkeley and is a certified public acctam. Mr. Bush was appointed to the Board becaadeal significant experience in finance.

Board Leadership Structure and Risk Oversight

Currently, the positions of Chief Executive Offi@ard Chairman of the Board are held by two differedividuals. Jeffrey M. Thompson
currently serves as President, Chief Executived®ffand as a member of the Board and Philip Uns@ses Chairman of the Board. Although
no formal policy currently exists, the Board detaved that the separation of these positions wollitdvaMr. Thompson to devote his time to
the daily execution of the Company’s businesseagias and Mr. Urso to devote his time to the logmgatstrategic direction of the Company.

Our Audit Committee is primarily responsible foremgeeing our risk management processes on behalfr doard. The Audit Committee
receives and reviews periodic reports from managénaeditors, legal counsel, and others, as coraid@ppropriate regarding our Company’s
assessment of risks. In addition, the Audit Conemnitteports regularly to the full Board which alsmsiders our risk profile. The Audit
Committee and the full Board focus on the mostificant risks facing our Company and our Companyeneral risk management strategy,
also ensure that risks undertaken by our Compamga@msistent with the Board’s tolerance for riski/the Board oversees our Company’s
risk management, management is responsible fotalagy risk management processes. We believe ithisah of responsibilities is the most
effective approach to address the risks facingGampany.

Directorships

Except as otherwise reported above, none of owgctdirs held directorships in other reporting conigaror registered investmi
companies at any time during the past five years.

Family Relationships
Except for Howard L. Haronian, M.D. and Philip Urscho are cousins, there are no family relationslaimong our directors or execu

officers.
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Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings
To our knowledge, during the last ten years, ndrauodirectors and executive officers (includigse of our subsidiaries) has:

. Had a bankruptcy petition filed by or against angibhess of which such person was a general pastrestecutive officer either at the
time of the bankruptcy or within two years priorthat time.

. Been convicted in a criminal proceeding or beenesittio a pending criminal proceeding, excludirajftc violations and other minq
offenses

. Been subject to any order, judgment or decreesuiasequently reversed, suspended or vacated, afoamiyof competent
jurisdiction, permanently or temporarily enjoinifggrring, suspending or otherwise limiting his itmemment in any type of busine:
securities or banking activitie

. Been found by a court of competent jurisdictiongiaivil action), the Securities and Exchange Cossion (“SEC”), or the
Commaodities Futures Trading Commission to haveat@l a federal or state securities or commodiéies &nd the judgment has not
been reversed, suspended or vac:

. Been the subject to, or a party to, any sancticorder, not subsequently reversed, suspended atedoof any self-regulatory
organization, any registered entity, or any eq@makexchange, association, entity or organizatiai thas disciplinary authority over
its members or persons associated with a mem

Board Committees

Since January 2007, the standing committees oBoard consist of an Audit Committee, a Compensafiommittee and a Nominating
Committee. Each member of our committees is “indépat” as such term is defined under and requiyeithé federal securities laws and the
rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market. The charters atteof the committees have been approved by ourdBoal are available on our website
at www.towerstream.com

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is comprised of three directd¥dliam J. Bush, Howard L. Haronian, M.D., anduP&oehler. Mr. Bush is the
Chairman of the Audit Committee. The Audit Commétieduties include recommending to our Board tigagement of independent auditors
to audit our financial statements and to reviewagounting and auditing principles. The Audit Coitbee reviews the scope, timing and fees
for our annual audit and the results of audit exatidns performed by independent public accountamtkiding their recommendations to
improve our system of accounting and our interoak®l over financial reporting. The Audit Comméteversees the independent auditors,
including their independence and objectivity. Hoegethe committee members are not acting as piofesaccountants or auditors, and their
functions are not intended to duplicate or subtifar the activities of management and the inddpanbauditors. The Audit Committee is
empowered to retain independent legal counsel #ret advisors as it deems necessary or appropoi@ssist the Audit Committee in fulfillir
its responsibilities, and to approve the fees ghdraetention terms of the advisors. Each of oudinCommittee members possesses an
understanding of financial statements and geneaaitgpted accounting principles. The Board hasméted that Mr. Bush is an “audit
committee financial expert” as defined in Item 40{®)(ii) of Regulation S-K. The designation of MBush as an “audit committee financial
expert” will not impose on him any duties, obligats or liability that are greater than those thatgenerally imposed on him as a member of
our Audit Committee and our Board, and his designads an “audit committee financial expert” wibitraffect the duties, obligations or
liability of any other member of our Audit Committer Board.

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee is comprised of twoctlirs: Howard L. Haronian, M.D., and William J. Bu®r. Haronian is the
Chairman of the Compensation Committee. The CongiemsCommittee has certain duties and powers sarithed in its charter, including
but not limited to periodically reviewing and appirng our salary and benefits policies, compensatioexecutive officers, administering our
stock option plans, and recommending and apprayiagts of stock-based awards under such plans.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Egudtion

None of the members of our Compensation Commistem iofficer or employee of our Company. None afexecutive officers currently

serves, or in the past year has served, as a mahtier board of directors or compensation committeany entity that has one of more
executive officers serving on our Board or Comp&asaCommittee.
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Nominating Committee

The Nominating Committee is comprised of two dioest Howard L. Haronian, M.D., and Paul Koehler. Baronian is the Chairman of
the Nominating Committee. The Nominating Committeasiders and makes recommendations on matteteddtathe practices, policies and
procedures of the Board and takes a leadershiprraleaping our corporate governance. As partsodiities, the Nominating Committee
assesses the size, structure and composition &adaed and its committees, and coordinates theuatiah of Board performance. The
Nominating Committee also acts as a screening andnating committee for candidates considered lieet®n to the Boarc
Changes in Nominating Process

There are no material changes to the proceduresimh security holders may recommend nominees tdoard.

Compensation of Directors

The following table summarizes the compensationrdecduring the fiscal year ended December 31, 20b2r directors who are not
named executive officers in the summary compensatible below:

Fees Earned ol Option
Name Paid in Cash  Awards (1)(2) Total
Philip Urso $ 60,00( $ 107,51 $ 167,51(
Howard L. Haronian, M.D $ 55,000 $ 107,51 $ 162,51(
Paul Koehlel $ 50,00C $ 107,51 $ 157,51(
William J. Bush $ 55,000 $ 107,51 $ 162,51(

(1) Based upon the aggregate grant date fair \@llorilated in accordance with the Stock Compensatapic of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standardsft€ation. Our policy and assumptions made in thiugtion of share-based
payments are contained in Note 9 to our Decembge2@®II2 financial statements included in the Origkikng.

(2) Option awards relate to the issuance in 201@ptibns to purchase 50,000 shares each for Mddsse, Koehler and Bush, and Dr.
Haronian.

Pursuant to the 2008 Non-Employee Directors Congit@nsPlan, each non-employee director is entiibeicceive periodic grants of ten-
year options to purchase 50,000 shares of our canstozk at an exercise price equal to the fair etarklue of our common stock on the ¢
of grant. An initial grant is made upon such norptayee director’s election or appointment to ouaBband thereafter annually on the first
business day in June, subject to such directorirengaon the Board. Non-employee directors als@irax$50,000 per annum in cash. In
connection with the additional responsibilitiesaasated with such positions, the Chairman of thafawill receive an additional $10,000 per
year, and the Chairman of the Audit and Compensa&iommittees will each receive an additional $5,080year

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act 04188 amended (the “Exchange Act”) requires oucetxee officers and directors, and
persons who beneficially own more than 10% of auity securities, to file reports of ownership atdnges in ownership with the SEC.
Based solely on our review of copies of such repantd representations from our executive officatsdirectors, we believe that our executive
officers and directors complied with all Section(d¥iling requirements during the year ended Ddoen31, 2012, except that Joseph P.
Hernon, our Chief Financial Officer, failed by od&y to timely file a Form 4 reporting the exeradestock options to purchase shares of our
common stock on September 25, 2012.

Code of Ethics and Business Conduct

Our Board has adopted a code of ethics and busioeskict that establishes the standards of etbaaluct applicable to all directors,
officers and employees of Towerstream Corporafidre code of ethics and business conduct addrem®esg other things, conflicts of
interest, compliance with disclosure controls aratpdures, and internal control over financial répg, corporate opportunities and
confidentiality requirements. The Audit Committsaésponsible for applying and interpreting ourecotlethics and business conduct in
situations where questions are presented to itt€Tivere no amendments or waivers to our code afsetimd business conduct in fiscal year
2012. Our code of ethics and business conductagadie for review on our website at www.towersineeom. We will provide a copy of our
code of ethics and business conduct free of chtargay person who requests a copy. Requests sheudidected by e-mail to Joseph P.
Hernon, our Chief Financial Officer, at jhernon@érstream.com, by mail to Towerstream CorporatiGniammarlund Way, Middletown,
Rhode Island 02842, or by telephone at (401) 844858
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Item 11. Executive Compensation.
Compensation Committee Report

Under the rules of the Securities and Exchange Gsgiom (“SEC”), this Compensation Committee Ref®riot deemed to be
incorporated by reference by any general staterirerrporating this Annual Report by reference iatyy filings with the SEC.

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and disduke following Compensation Discussion and Arialygth management. Based
on this review and these discussions, the Compensabmmittee recommended to the Board of Diredioas the following Compensation
Discussion and Analysis be included in this AnriRaport on Form 10-K.

Submitted by the Compensation Committee
Howard L. Haronian, M.D., Chairman
William J. Bush

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

The following discussion and analysis of compensairangements of our named executive officer@®d2 should be read together
with the compensation tables and related disclosset forth below.

We believe our success depends on the continugdmgions of our named executive officers. Persoelationships and experience are
very important in our industry. Our named executfficers are primarily responsible for many of auitical business development
relationships. The maintenance of these relatiqssisi critical to ensuring our future success &xgerience in managing these relationships.
Therefore, it is important to our success that &ain the services of these individuals and pretrerh from competing with us should their
employment with us terminate.

General Philosophy

Our overall compensation philosophy is to providee#ecutive compensation package that enablesattrdat, retain and motivate
executive officers to achieve our short-term amgyleerm business goals. The goals of our compemsptogram are to align remuneration
with business objectives and performance, and ablerus to retain and competitively reward exeeutifficers who contribute to the lorigrm
success of the Company. We attempt to pay our éixecofficers competitively in order that we wiletable to retain the most capable people
in the industry. In making executive compensatiod ather employment compensation decisions, thegéosation Committee considers
achievement of certain criteria, some of whichteeta our performance and others of which relatiaéoperformance of the individual
employee. Awards to executive officers are basedatievement of Company and individual performasrderia.

The Compensation Committee will evaluate our corspgan policies on an ongoing basis to determinetiadr they enable us to attract,
retain and motivate key personnel. To meet thegectibes, the Compensation Committee may from tionéme increase salaries, award
additional stock grants or provide other short lmgj-term incentive compensation to executive efficand other employees.

Compensation Program & Forms of Compensation

We provide our executive officers with a comperwapackage consisting of base salary, bonus, emgigntives and participation in
benefit plans generally available to other emplsyé® setting total compensation, the Compensa&immmittee considers individual and
company performance, as well as market informaggarding compensation paid by other companiesiinnalustry.

Base SalarySalaries for our executive officers are initialgt §ased on negotiation with individual executifécers at the time of
recruitment and with reference to salaries for caraple positions in the industry for individualssirhilar education and background to the
executive officers being recruited. We also consitle individual's experience, reputation in hidustry and expected contributions to the
Company. Base salary is continuously evaluatedolypetitive pay and individual job performance. &tle case, we take into account the
results achieved by the executive, his future g@erscope of responsibilities and experience, @mpetitive salary practices. At times our
executive officers have elected to take less tharket salaries. These salaries were subject teases to base salary that is comparable with
his role and responsibilities when compared to camigs of comparable size in similar locations.
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BonusesWe design our bonus programs to be both affordatdecompetitive in relation to the market. Our boprogram is designed to
motivate employees to achieve overall goals. Oagm@ms are designed to avoid entitlements, to @anal payouts with the actual results
achieved and to be easy to understand and administe Compensation Committee and the executiveasfivork together to establish targets
and goals for the executive officer. Upon compleitd the fiscal year, the Compensation Committesesses the executive officer’s
performance and with input from management detezmihe achievement of the bonus targets and thargrtwbe awarded within the
parameters of the executive officer's agreemert wit

Equity-Based Rewards

We design our equity programs to be both affordablé competitive in relation to the market. We nbmmihe market and applicable
accounting, corporate, securities and tax lawsragdlations and adjust our equity programs as rieesteck options and other forms of equity
compensation are designed to reflect and rewaidhalével of sustained individual performance otiere. We design our equity programs to
align employees’ interests with those of our stadétbrs.

Timing of Equity Awards

The Board has authorized the Compensation Commdtapprove stock option grants to our executifieerfs. Stock options are gener:
granted at scheduled meetings of the Compensatomgttee. The exercise price of a newly grantedbops the closing price of our common
stock on the date of grant.

Benefits Program

We design our benefits programs to be both affdedabd competitive in relation to the market wititeaforming with local laws and
practices. We monitor the market, local laws aratpces and adjust our benefits programs as ne®dedlesign our benefits programs to
provide an element of core benefits, and to therextossible, offer options for additional benefisd balance costs and cost sharing betweel
us and our employees.

Tax and Accounting Considerations

In the review and establishment of our compensgifograms, we consider the anticipated accountirigtax implications to us and our
executives.

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code impadasit on the amount of compensation that we mheguct in any one year with
respect to our chief executive officer and eachwfnext four most highly compensated executiveeef§, unless certain specific and detailed
criteria are satisfied. Performanbased compensation, as defined in the Internal iRev€ode, is fully deductible if the programs gopraved
by stockholders and meet other requirements. Weugethat grants of equity awards under our ineertased equity option plans may qua
as performance-based for purposes of satisfyingdhditions of Section 162(m), thereby permittirsgto receive a federal income tax
deduction, if applicable, in connection with sueteaads. In general, we have determined that wenwillseek to limit executive compensation
so that it is deductible under Section 162(m). Hasvefrom time to time, we monitor whether it midig in our interests to structure our
compensation programs to satisfy the requiremdrection 162(m). We seek to maintain flexibilitydompensating our executives in a
manner designed to promote our corporate goalstemdfore our Compensation Committee has not adapmlicy requiring all
compensation to be deductible. Our Compensationritiae will continue to assess the impact of Secti62(m) on our compensation
practices and determine what further action, if,amappropriate.

Role of Executives in Executive Compensation Dt

The Board and our Compensation Committee genesabk input from our executive officers when distugghe performance of, and
compensation levels for, executives. The Compems&@bmmittee also works with our Chief Executivdi€zr and our Chief Financial Officer
to evaluate the financial, accounting, tax andntid@ implications of our various compensation pesgs. None of our other executives
participates in deliberations relating to his cormgaion.

2012 Bonus Payments

Mr. ThompsonMr. Thompson was awarded bonus payments of an gggref $255,389 in recognition of services perfedrduring 201z
The bonus payments of $255,389 constituting apprately 77% of Mr. Thompson'’s salary, were awardepdrt on a discretionary basis by
our Compensation Committee and in part pursuaautsuccess in meeting certain performance-relategts consisting of revenue, EBITDA
and the number of hotzones installed. The 77% payio slightly exceeds the stated plan ratio ©¥67established by the Compensation
Committee. Certain performance related goals weceaded by more than 100% resulting in slighthhkigpayouts than the stated dollar
amounts. Bonus payments are calculated quartedyabupayments were approved by the Compensationriitiee.
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Mr. Hernon. Mr. Hernon was awarded bonus payments of an ggtgef $153,836 in recognition of services perfdrduring 2012. The
bonus payments of $153,836, constituting approxetyd@2% of Mr. Hernon'’s salary, were awarded int par a discretionary basis by our
Compensation Committee and in part pursuant teoccess in meeting certain performanglated targets consisting of revenue and EBIT
The 62% payout ratio slightly exceeds the statéer ddtter ratio of 58% established by the Boardrt@in performance related goals were
exceeded by more than 100% resulting in slightijhbr payouts than the stated dollar amounts. Bpaysients are calculated quarterly anc
payments were approved by the Compensation Conanitte

Mr. Yarbrough. Mr. Yarbrough was awarded bonus payments of greagite of $76,805 in recognition of services penfed during 201z
constituting approximately 34% of Mr. Yarbroughaary. Mr. Yarbrough’s bonus payments were awaplgduant to our success in meeting
certain performance-related targets consistingeémue, EBITDA and the number of hotzones installed

See “Employment Agreements and Change-in-Controb&ments” below for a discussion of our employnagreement with Mr.
Thompson and our employment arrangement with Mék=mnon.

Compensation Risk Management

We have considered the risk associated with oupemsation policies and practices for all employaad, we believe we have designed
our compensation policies and practices in a mativardoes not create incentives that could leaktessive risk taking that would have a
material adverse effect on us.
Summary Compensation Table

The following table summarizes the annual and learg: compensation paid to our chief executive effignd our other most highly

compensated executive officer who was servingeetid of 2012, and one of the most highly compexdsatecutive officer who served dur
2012, whom we refer to collectively in this AnniRgport on Form 10-K as the “named executive offiter

Restricted
Option Stock

Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus Awards(1) Awards(1) Total
Jeffrey M. Thompsol 201z $ 330,000 $ 255,38(2) $ - $ $ 585,38!
President and Chief Executi 2011 $ 301,90 $ 245,15(3) $1,135,30(4) $ $ 1,682,36
Officer 201C $ 250,22° $ 205,93(5) $ = $ $ 456,15!
Joseph P. Hernc 201z $ 243,75( $ 153,83(6) $ - $ - 8 397,58I
Chief Financial Office 2011 $ 226,06: $ 115,73(7) $ 669,49(8) $ 177,30(9) $ 1,188,59:
201C $ 198,18¢ $ 131,16{(10) $ = $ - $ 329,35t
Melvin L. Yarbrough, Jr 2012 % 22291 $ 76,80¢(12) $ = $ - 8 299,72:
Chief Operating Officer (11 2011 $ 226,06: $ 113,06((13) $ 894,49(14) $ 177,30(9) $ 1,410,92
201C $ 198,18¢ $ 125,47(15) $ = $ - $ 323,66:

(1) Based upon the aggregate grant date fair w@llorilated in accordance with the Stock Compensatapic of the Financial
Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standardsfi€ation. Our policy and assumptions made in thkigtion of share-based
payments are contained in Note 9 to our Decembe2@2 financial statement

(2) Mr. Thompson was awarded $155,616 in 2012 dogeition of services performed during 2011. Appmoately $100,000 is expected
to be awarded in 2013 in recognition of servica$gumed in 2012

(3) Mr. Thompson was awarded $184,688 in 2011 dogeition of services performed during 2011 and Mrompson was awarded
$60,468 in April 2012 in recognition of servicesfpemed in 2011

(4) On June 24, 2011, Mr. Thompson received a gar-gption to purchase 100,000 shares of our constomk at an exercise price of
$4.94 per share in recognition of services perfaraering 2011, with one-third of the options vegton June 24, 2012 and the
remaining options vesting in quarterly installmeogr the subsequent two yee

On July 7, 2011, Mr. Thompson was granted a tem-gpton to purchase 132,000 shares of our comrtamk st an exercise price of
$5.25 per share. These options were granted itnasiches of 22,000 options. The tranches beginngesequentially based on the
closing of the next six acquisitions by the Compaiije vesting of each tranche begins only wheacapisition is completed for that
respective tranche. Each tranche vests on daylyalbasis over the two year period following thete on which each respective
acquisition is completer
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()

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

The first tranche began vesting on December 2, 281 the Company completed the acquisition of CBloadband, and will vest
in quarterly installments over a two year peri

On July 7, 2011, Mr. Thompson was granted a tem-gpton to purchase 175,000 shares of our comrtamk st an exercise price of
$5.25 per share. These options were granted imasixhes and each tranche begins vesting segliebtiged on the execution of the
next six backhaul contracts executed by the Compdimg vesting of each tranche begins only wheackHeaul contract is executed
for that respective tranche. The first tranches fea 50,000 options and the remaining five traolere for 25,000 options each.
Each tranche vests on a quarterly basis over theyéar period following the date on which each eetipe backhaul contract is
executed

The first tranche of 50,000 options began vestimg/arch 29, 2012 when the Company executed a batkbatract with a national
wireless carrier. In May 2012, Mr. Thompson ex&zdia right to exchange 25%, or 12,500, of the@0gptions for a cash payment
of $34,969 which equaled the fair value of the 08,bptions on the grant date, as calculated inrdecce with the Black-Scholes
valuation model. The remaining 37,500 options wdlhtinue to vest ratably on a quarterly basis thhoMarch 2014

The second tranche of 25,000 options began vestingoril 30, 2012 when the Company executed itesedackhaul contract with a
national wireless carrier. In May 2012, Mr. Thormop®xercised a right to exchange 25%, or 6,25he25,000 options for a cash
payment of $17,647 which equaled the fair valuthef6,250 options on the grant date, as calculatadcordance with the Black-
Scholes valuation model. The remaining 18,750 ogtiwill continue to vest ratably on a quarterlyibalsrough April 2014

Mr. Thompson was awarded $126,803 in 2010dogaition of services performed during 2010 and TMrompson was awarded
$79,128 in February 2011 in recognition of servigegformed in 201(

Mr. Hernon was awarded $95,383 in 2012 in red¢am of services performed in 2012. Approximat$§9,000 is expected to be
awarded in 2013 in recognition of services perfatim2012.

Mr. Hernon was awarded $58,725 in 2011 in re@om of services performed during 2011 and Mrrivbe was awarded $25,000 in
January 2012 and $32,013 in April 2012 in recognitf services performed in 201

On June 24, 2011, Mr. Hernon received a tem-gpton to purchase 60,000 shares of our comnuoksit an exercise price of $4.94
per share in recognition of services performedrdu#011, with one-third of the options vesting ane) 24, 2012 and the remaining
options vesting in quarterly installments over shbsequent two yeal

On July 7, 2011, Mr. Hernon was granted a ten-peéion to purchase 96,000 shares of our commork stban exercise price of
$5.25 per share. These options were granted inasiches of 16,000 options. The tranches begitingesequentially based on the
closing of the next six acquisitions by the Compaiine vesting of each tranche begins only wheacapisition is completed for th
respective tranche. Each tranche vests one-ghittie one year anniversary of the closing of tgusition with the remaining two-
thirds vesting ratably on a quarterly basis overftiilowing two years

The first tranche began vesting on December 2, 21 the Company completed the acquisition of CBloadband. One-third of
the first tranche will vest on the one year anrsaey (December 2, 2012) with the remaining twoethivesting ratably on a quarterly
basis over the following two years (through Decenthe2014).

On July 7, 2011, Mr. Hernon was granted ayear option to purchase 82,500 shares of our constamk at an exercise price of $&
per share. These options were granted in six ltiessiand each tranche begins vesting sequentiabdban the execution of the next
six backhaul contracts executed by the Companye vBisting of each tranche begins only when a batldwmtract is executed for tt
respective tranche. The first tranche was fod@0Q0ptions and the remaining five tranches werd 2500 options each. Each
tranche vests on a quarterly basis over the twopye@od following the date on which each respechackhaul contract is execut:

The first tranche of 20,000 options began vestimg/arch 29, 2012 when the Company executed a batkbatract with a national
wireless carrier. The second tranche of 12,50opptegan vesting on April 30, 2012 when the Camppxecuted its second
backhaul contract with a national wireless carr

Represents a restricted stock award of 45,0@6es of common stock granted on January 3, 20iithwests as to one-third of the
shares subject to the restricted stock award alyneaimmencing January 3, 201
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(10)Mr. Hernon was awarded $81,477 in 2010 in recognitf services performed during 2010 and Mr. Herwas awarded $49,691 in
February 2011 in recognition of services perforrme2i010.

(11)Mr. Yarbrough resigned from the Company on Novendigr2012
(12)Mr. Yarbrough was awarded $76,805 in 2012 in re@amnof services performed in 201

(13)Mr. Yarbrough was awarded $77,995 in 2011 in redagnof services performed during 2011 and Mr. dfaugh was awarded
$35,071 in April 2012 in recognition of servicesfpemed in 2011

(14)0On June 24, 2011, Mr. Yarbrough received a ten-gption to purchase 60,000 shares of our commark stban exercise price of
$4.94 per share in recognition of services perfarohgring 2011, with one-third of the options vegton June 24, 2012 and the
remaining options vesting in quarterly installmeongr the subsequent two yee

On July 7, 2011, Mr. Yarbrough was granted a tes-yp@tion to purchase 72,000 shares of our comrumk sit an exercise price of
$5.25 per share. These options were granted imasixhes of 12,000 options. The tranches begitingesequentially based on the
closing of the next six acquisitions by the CompaAyportion of the grant associated with each @&tjon may be forfeited based on
how many acquired customers have been retainefiths six month date following the closing of eaebpective acquisition. The
vesting of each tranche begins only when an adoiss completed for that respective tranche.chBaanche vests one-eighth on the
nine month anniversary of the closing of the adtjaiswith the remaining seven-eighth vesting rétain a quarterly basis over the
following seven quarter:

The first tranche began vesting on December 2, 2@1€n the Company completed the acquisition of CBloadband. Oneighth of
the first tranche will vest on the nine month amnsary (September 2, 2012) with the remaining seiginths vesting ratably on a
quarterly basis through June 2, 20:

On July 7, 2011, Mr. Yarbrough was granted a tear-ypgtion to purchase 187,500 shares of our constamk at an exercise price of
$5.25 per share. These options were granted imasiches and each tranche begins vesting segliebtised on the execution of the
next six backhaul contracts executed by the Compdimg vesting of each tranche begins only wheackHeaul contract is executed
for that respective tranche. The first tranche fea 100,000 options and the remaining five trascivere for 17,500 options each.
Each tranche vests on a quarterly basis over theyéar period following the date on which each eetipe backhaul contract is
executed

The first tranche of 100,000 options began vestimgylarch 29, 2012 when the Company executed a batkiontract with a national
wireless carrier. The second tranche of 17,50optegan vesting on April 30, 2012 when the Camgpxecuted its second
backhaul contract with a national wireless carr

(15)Mr. Yarbrough was awarded $77,409 in 2010 in redagnof services performed during 2010 and Mr. dfaugh was awarded
$48,064 in February 2011 in recognition of servigegformed in 201(

Grants of Plan-Based Awards

There were no stock option or restricted stock degranted to our named executive officers duttegyiear ended December 31, 2012.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table summarizes the outstanding goaivards to our named executive officers as ofebdmer 31, 2012:
Option Awards

Number of Number of
Securities Securities
Underlying Underlying
Unexercised Unexercised Option Option
Options Options Exercise Expiration
Name Exercisable Unexercisable Price Date
Jeffrey M. Thompsol 140,00((1) = $ 0.7¢ 2/27/1%
175,19(2) - $ 1.14 12/14/1:
175,19(3) - $ 1.4z 4/28/1¢
12,01((4) - $ 2.0C 12/2/15
11,0345) - $ 2.0C 3/2/1¢
75,00((6) - $ 0.6¢ 12/30/1¢
18,40¢(7) - $ 0.77 3/30/1¢
125,00((8) - $ 0.7¢ 5/5/1¢
50,00: 49,99¢9) $ 4,94 6/23/21
11,00( 121,00((10) $ 5.2t 716121
18,75 137,49{(11) $ 5.2t 7/6/21
Joseph P. Hernc 113,42((12) - $ 1.4F 6/1/1¢
31,66%(8) - $ 0.7¢ 5/5/1¢
30,00( 30,000(9) $ 4,94 6/23/21
5,33¢ 90,66¢(13) $ 5.2t 716121
10,62¢ 71,87414) $ 5.2t 716121

(1) Such option vested as to «third of the shares subject to the option annualynmencing February 28, 20(
(2) Such option was fully vested and exercisable orebser 15, 2004, the date of gre

(3) Such option was fully vested and exercisable onl 28, 2005, the date of grat

(4) Such option was fully vested and exercisable orebdxer 3, 2007, the date of gre

(5) Such option vests as to «third of the shares subject to the option annualtynmencing March 3, 200

(6) Such option vests as to «third of the shares subject to the option annualynmencing December 31, 20!
(7) Such option was fully vested and exercisable onckl&d, 2009, the date of gre

(8) Such option vested in equal quarterly installmewer an 18 month period commencing August 6, 2

(9) Such option vests with one-third of the shamegdune 24, 2012 and the remaining options vestiggarterly installments ratably over
the subsequent two yea

(10)Such option was granted in six tranches of 22,0@Desch tranche begins vesting sequentially baseldeoclosing of the next six
acquisitions by the Company. The first tranchealpegesting on December 2, 2011 when the Companyleded the acquisition of
Color Broadband, and will vest in quarterly instadints over a two year period. The remaining fimat¢hes will vest in the same
manner based on when the remaining five acquisitise completed. The vesting of the remaining tii@aches will begin only when
the Company completes each subsequent acquis

(11)Such option was granted in six tranches and eadiclie begins vesting sequentially based on theugmeamf the next six backhaul
contracts executed by the Company. The vestirgaoli tranche begins only when a backhaul consastécuted for that respective
tranche. The first tranche was for 50,000 opti@md the remaining five tranches were for 25,00000p each. Each tranche vests or
a quarterly basis over the two year period follayihe date on which each respective backhaul atirig&xecutec
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The first tranche of 50,000 options began vestimg/arch 29, 2012 when the Company executed a batkbatract with a national
wireless carrier. In May 2012, Mr. Thompson ex&zdia right to exchange 25%, or 12,500, of the@0gptions for a cash payment
of $34,969 which equaled the fair value of the 00,6ptions on the grant date, as calculated inrdecce with the Black-Scholes
valuation model. The remaining 37,500 options wdlhtinue to vest ratably on a quarterly basis thhoMarch 2014

The second tranche of 25,000 options began vestingoril 30, 2012 when the Company executed itesddackhaul contract with a
national wireless carrier. In May 2012, Mr. Thomp®xercised a right to exchange 25%, or 6,25he5,000 options for a cash
payment of $17,647 which equaled the fair valuthef6,250 options on the grant date, as calculatadcordance with the Black-
Scholes valuation model. The remaining 18,750 ogtiwill continue to vest ratably on a quarterlyibalsrough April 2014

(12)Such option vests as to «third of the shares subject to the option annualiynmencing June 2, 20C

(13)Such option was granted in six tranches of 16,q@®os and each tranche begins vesting sequeniiatigd on the closing of the next
six acquisitions by the Company. The first tranbkegan vesting on December 2, 2011 when the Comgampleted the acquisition
of Color Broadband. One-third of the first tranahi#f vest on the one year anniversary (Decemb&02?2) with the remaining two-
thirds vesting ratably on a quarterly basis overftilowing two years (through December 2, 201%he remaining five tranches will
vest in the same manner based on when the remdinégcquisitions are completed. The vestinghef temaining five tranches will
begin only when the Company completes each subsegquguisition

(14)Such option was granted in six tranches and eacichie begins vesting sequentially based on thauggamf the next six backhaul
contracts executed by the Company. The vestirggofi tranche begins only when a backhaul consastécuted for that respective
tranche. The first tranche was for 20,000 opt@md the remaining five tranches were for 12,50000p each. Each tranche vests or
a quarterly basis over the two year period follagvihe date on which each respective backhaul adrig@xecutec

The first tranche of 20,000 options began vestimg/arch 29, 2012 when the Company executed a batkbatract with a national
wireless carrier. The second tranche of 12,50onptegan vesting on April 30, 2012 when the Camgpxecuted its second
backhaul contract with a national wireless carrier.

Option Exercises and Stock Vested

The following table summarizes, with respect to mamed executive officers, all options that werereised during fiscal 2012:

Option Awards Restricted Stock

Number of Shares  Value Realizec Number of Value Realize(

Name Acquired on Exercise (# on Exercise ($ Shares Vested (! on Vesting ($)
Jeffrey M. Thompsol 140,30¢ $ 538,78
Joseph P. Hernc 25,00C $ 97,75(
8,33¢ $ 32,58¢
35,00( $ 136,85(

15,00( $ 34,65(
Melvin L. Yarbrough, Jr 21,66¢ $ 61,75¢
16,667 $ 47,50

15,00( $ 34,65(
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Employment Agreements and Change-in-Control Agreenrds

In December 2007, we entered into an employmemesgent with Jeffrey M. Thompson, our principal exae officer, which was
amended in December 2011. Pursuant to the terie @mended agreement, Mr. Thompson serves ahigfirexecutive officer and president
for a period of two years, with automatic one-yesarewals, subject to either party electing noettew. Mr. Thompson’s base salary under the
amended agreement is $330,000 per annum. Undanitias employment agreement, Mr. Thompson'’s badary was $225,000 which was
subsequently adjusted to $248,063 effective Janlig2@10 and to $300,000 effective December 160201t. Thompson is eligible for a
bonus of up to 75% of his base salary, as detedrbygeour Board. Under the amended agreement, Mymfison was awarded special bonuse
totaling $75,000, which included (i) $25,000 on é&iifective date of the amended agreement, (ii)(&5brelated to the closing of the acquisi
of Color Broadband and (iii) $25,000 upon the exiecuof an agreement with a large technology corgpamaddition, we will pay 100% of ¢
costs associated with Mr. Thompson’s employee hisnefcluding without limitation health insurance.

If Mr. Thompson’s employment is terminated (i) byywithout “cause,” (ii) by him for “good reason” ¢i) by us within two years of a
“change of control” (as such terms are definedhandgreement), then (a) we will be required toayThompson twenty-four months base
salary in monthly installments, (b) any unvestetians to purchase shares of our common stock wiouidediately vest and become
exercisable and any restrictions on restrictedkstomuld immediately lapse, and (c) we must contitauprovide employee benefits, including
health insurance, for a period of five years foilogvsuch termination.

During Mr. Thompson’s employment with us, and fgreaiod of twelve months following his terminati¢the “Restricted Period”), except
for a termination by Mr. Thompson for “good reasdme is prohibited from engaging in any line of besis in which we were engaged or hi
formal plan to enter during the period of his enyphe@nt with us. We will continue to pay Mr. Thompdua base salary then in effect, in
accordance with our customary payroll practicegtierduration of any such Restricted Period inebent that Mr. Thompson’s employment is
terminated voluntarily by him, except for “good sea,” or by us for “cause.”

In May 2008, Joseph P. Hernon joined the ComparGhasf Financial Officer. His employment offer pided for a base annual salary of
$190,000 and bonus payments up to 58% of base/sakadetermined by the Board. Effective Apri2010, Mr. Hernon’s base salary was
increased to $199,500. Effective December 16, 2DltOHernon’s base salary was increased to $225Bfi€ctive April 1, 2012, Mr.

Hernon’s base salary was increased to $250,000n {$@ing the Company, Mr. Hernon was granted optito purchase 150,000 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $1.45 pereshasting in three annual installments commenapan the first anniversary of the grant.
He has received subsequent awards and is eligilvkeceive additional stock-based awards at theatisn of the Board and as provided under
the Company'’s stock-based incentive plans. Theg2om pays 100% of Mr. Hernon'’s health insuranceig-dso eligible to participate in the
Company’s health and other employee benefit plats.Hernon is an employee at will.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Matter
The following table sets forth information with pext to the beneficial ownership of our commonistag of March 14, 2013 by:

« each person known by us to beneficially own moamth% of our common stock (based solely on oueredf SEC filings);

« each of our directors;

- each of our named executive officers listed indbetion entitled “Summary Compensation Table” uritken 11. Executive
Compensation; an

« all of our directors and executive officers as augr.

The percentages of common stock beneficially owaredeported on the basis of regulations of the §&@rning the determination of
beneficial ownership of securities. Under the rakthe SEC, a person is deemed to be a benedisiaér of a security if that person has or
shares voting power, which includes the power te oo to direct the voting of the security, or istrent power, which includes the power to
dispose of or to direct the disposition of, witspect to the security. Except as indicated in tlw¢rfotes to this table, each beneficial owner
named in the table below has sole voting and swiestment power with respect to all shares beradfjobwned and each person’s address is
c/o Towerstream Corporation, 55 Hammarlund Way,dtbwn, Rhode Island 02842, unless otherwise atdit: As of March 14, 2013, there
were 66,355,741 shares of our common stock outistgnd
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Amount and Nature Percent of
Name and Address of Beneficial Owne of Beneficial Ownership(1 Class(1)

5% Stockholders:

FMR LLC (2) 5,821,16: 8.8%
82 Devonshire Strel

Boston, MA 0210¢

Directors and Named Executive Officers

Philip Urso 1,749,44(3) 2.%
William J. Bush 263,3344) *
Howard L. Haronian, M.D 1,275,20(5) 1.¢%
Paul Koehle 205,8346) *
Jeffrey M. Thompsol 2,599,55(7) 3.%%
Joseph P. Hernc 350,52/(8) *
All directors and executive officers as a groupérsons 6,443,90(3)(4)(5)(6)(7)(8 9.4%

* Less than 1%.

(1)

(2)
(3)

(4)

()

(6)

(7)

(8)

Shares of common stock beneficially owned #adréspective percentages of beneficial ownerdhipmmon stock assumes the exercis
of all options, warrants and other securities caotitvie into common stock beneficially owned by sy&hson or entity currently
exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of Mat4h2013. Shares issuable pursuant to the exestieck options and warrants
exercisable within 60 days are deemed outstandiddhald by the holder of such options or warraatbmputing the percentage of
outstanding common stock beneficially owned by suetson, but are not deemed outstanding for comgptitie percentage of
outstanding common stock beneficially owned by atiner persor

Based on a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on Fepr8, 2013. Includes 5,821,162 shares held by EM®.

Includes 129,386 shares of common stock heldlbyJrso’s minor children, for whom Mr. Urso angltiormer wife are the trustees, and
299,133 shares of common stock issuable upon taeise of options that are currently exercisablex@rcisable within 60 days. Mr.
Urso and his former wife disclaim beneficial owrgpsof the 129,386 shares held in trt

Includes 258,334 shares of common stock issualila the exercise of options that are currently agalde or exercisable within 60 da
The remaining shares are held in trust for the fieofethe Bush family. Mr. Bush is a trustee bfstrust. He disclaims beneficial
ownership of such 5,000 shar

Includes 10,000 shares of common stock helBhbyHaronian’s wife, for which Dr. Haronian hasiadirect interest in, and 270,873
shares of common stock issuable upon the exertisgtions that are currently exercisable or exaiulis within 60 days
Includes 205,834 shares of common stock issualila tige exercise of options that are currently égalde or exercisable within 60 da

Includes 692,047 shares of common stock issualia the exercise of options that are currently agalde or exercisable within 60 da

Includes 203,011 shares of common stock issualia tige exercise of options that are currently égalde or exercisable within 60 da

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa@ns, and Director Independence.

Related parties can include any of our directorsxarcutive officers, certain of our stockholderd #reir immediate family members. Each

year, we prepare and require our directors andugxecofficers to complete Director and Officer @tiennaires identifying any transactic
with us in which the officer or director or thearhily members have an interest. This helps us iiggmbtential conflicts of interest. A conflict
of interest occurs when an individual's privateeneist interferes, or appears to interfere, in aay with the interests of the Company as a
whole. Our code of ethics and business conductinegjall directors, officers and employees who thaye a potential or apparent conflict of
interest to immediately notify our Audit CommitteEthe Board of Directors, which is responsible donsidering and reporting to the Board
any questions of possible conflicts of interesBofird members. Our code of ethics and businesaucofutther requires pre-clearance before
any employee, officer or director engages in amgqeal or business activity that may raise concebmit conflict, potential conflict or
apparent conflict of interest. Copies of our cofletbics and business conduct and the Audit Coremitharter are posted on the corporate
governance section of our website at www.towerstream.
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At no time during the last two fiscal years has argcutive officer, director or any member of thiegbviduals’ immediate families, any
corporation or organization with whom any of thesdividuals is an affiliate or any trust or estatevhich any of these individuals serves as a
trustee or in a similar capacity or has a substhh@neficial interest been indebted to the Compmarnyas involved in any transaction in which
the amount exceeded $120,000 and such persondiszttor indirect material interest.

In evaluating related party transactions and pakobnflicts of interest, our Chief Financial Qféir and/or Chairman of the Audit
Committee apply the same standards of good faiihfidnciary duty they apply to their general resgibilities. They will approve a related
party transaction only when, in their good faitdgment, the transaction is in the best interegt@Company.

Director Independence

Each of Howard L. Haronian, M.D., Paul Koehler &kiliam J. Bush are independent directors, as plediin NASDAQ Marketplace
Rule 5605(a)(2).

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The following table sets forth the fees that thenpany accrued or paid to Marcum LLP for fiscal y2@t2 and fiscal year 2011.

2012 2011
Audit Fees(1 $ 227,17¢ $ 236,28
Audit-Related Fees(Z - -
Tax Fees(3 - -
All Other Fees - -
Total $ 227,17¢ $ 236,28

(1) Audit fees relate to professional services ezad in connection with the audit of the Companghnual financial statements
internal control over financial reporting, quaryeréview of financial statements included in then@pany's Quarterly Reports on Fo
1C-Q, and audit services provided in connection witfeo statutory and regulatory filing

(2) Auditrelated fees relate to professional services reundier connection with assurance and related sextica are reasonably rela
to the performance of the audit or review of thenpany's financial statements, including due diliger

(3) Tax fees relate to professional services renderethk compliance, tax advice and tax planninglierCompany
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Exhibit No.

Description

2.1

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

4.1

10.1*

10.2*

10.3*

10.4

10.5*

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11**

Agreement of Merger and Plan of Reorganizatioredldanuary 12, 2007, by and among University Gdendar, Ltd.,
Towerstream Acquisition, Inc. and Towerstream Caapon (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1hte Current Report
on Form -K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Sedestand Exchange Commission on January 19, 2
Certificate of Incorporation of University ai Calendar, Ltd. (Incorporated by reference thigit 3.1 to the Current Report
on Form K of University Girls Calendar, Ltd. filed with tHgecurities and Exchange Commission on Januar9(,)z
Certificate of Amendment to Certificate o€dmporation of University Girls Calendar, Ltd., dging the Compang’ name ti
Towerstream Corporation (Incorporated by referéndexhibit 3.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-KTafwerstream
Corporation filed with the Securities and Excha@genmission on January 19, 200

Certificate of Designation of Rights, Preferes and Privileges of Series A Preferred Stoakofiporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K ofwlewstream Corporation filed with the Securities &xdhange
Commission on November 12, 201
By-Laws of Towerstream Corporation (Incorpiedaby reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Current Repn Form 8-K of
Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securitiesl &xchange Commission on January 19, 2(

Amendment No. 1 to the By-Laws of Towerstr&aonporation (Incorporated by reference to Exhbit to the Current
Report on Form-K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Sedestand Exchange Commission on August 30, 2(
Amendment No. 1 to the Certificate of IncorporatafrT owerstream Corporation (Incorporated by rafeseto Exhibit 3.1 t
the Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Coapon filed with the Securities and Exchange Cosgioin on
November 8, 2012
Rights Agreement dated as of November 9, ZD@rporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to therént Report on Form E-
of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Secustand Exchange Commission on November 12, 2!

Towerstream Corporation 2007 Equity Compéing Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhititté. the Current Report on
Form ¢-K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Sedestand Exchange Commission on January 19, 2
Form of 2007 Equity Compensation Plan IiisenStock Option Agreement (Incorporated by refieeeto Exhibit 10.18 to
the Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Coapion filed with the Securities and Exchange Cosgioin on
January 19, 2007
Form of 2007 Equity Compensation Plan Naualified Stock Option Agreement (Incorporated éference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Current Report on Form 8-K of Towerstreannp@aation filed with the Securities and Exchangen@assion on
January 19, 2007

Form of Directors and Officers IndemnificatiAgreement (Incorporated by reference to ExHiBitL7 to the Current Report
on Form i-K of Towerstream Corporation filed with the Sedestand Exchange Commission on January 19, 2
Towerstream Corporation 2007 Incentive 8tetan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit Bite Proxy Statement on
Schedule 14A of Towerstream Corporation filed with Securities and Exchange Commission on Septefni2€1 2).

Form of Placement Agent Agreement for JUG/2ffering (Incorporated by reference to Exhilfit10 to the Registration
Statement on Form SB-2 (333-142032) of Towerstr€anporation filed with the Securities and Excha@genmission on
April 11, 2007).

Form of Subscription Agreement (Incorpordigdeference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Registratktatement on Form SB-2
(333-142032) of Towerstream Corporation filed with trec@rities and Exchange Commission on April 11, 20

Employment Agreement, dated December 217 28€tween Towerstream Corporation and Jeffrey Muiipson
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to therént Report on Form 8-K of Towerstream Corporafited with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Decembe(RII7;).

Office Lease Agreement dated March 21, 2#een Tech 2, 3, & 4 LLC (Landlord) and TowerstneCorporation
(Tenant) (Incorporated by reference to Exhibi9li@. the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Towerstre@anporation filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on Mag; 2009)

First Amendment to Office Lease dated Aug§u2007, amending Office Lease Agreement dateccM&1 2007
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to Ammual Report on Form 10-K of Towerstream Corparafiled with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 18)2
2008 Non-Employee Directors Compensaten (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit B toBimexy Statement on
Schedule 14A of Towerstream Corporation filed with Securities and Exchange Commission on Septebdh@010).
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10.12* Amendment to Employment Agreement of tffM. Thompson (Incorporated by reference to ther€ht Report on Form 8-
K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissia December 9, 2011

10.13* Amendment to Employment Agreement of tffM. Thompson (Incorporated by reference to ther€ht Report on Form 8-
K/A, filed with the Securities and Exchange Comnason January 13, 201z

10.14** 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (lpoated by reference to Exhibit A to the Proxy &tatnt on Schedule 14A of
Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securitiesl &xchange Commission on September 14, 2(

14.1 Code of Ethics and Business Conduct. (pa@ted by reference to Exhibit 14.1 to the AnrRigport on Form 10-K of
Towerstream Corporation filed with the Securities &xchange Commission on March 17, 20

21.1 List of Subsidiaries. (Incorporated by refere to Exhibit 21.1 on Annual Report on Form 16fRowerstream Corporation
filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissioiViarch 17, 2009’

31.1 Section 302 Certification of Principal Executivefiodr.

31.2 Section 302 Certification of Principal Financialfioér.

32.1 Section 906 Certification of Principal Executivefiodr.

32.2 Section 906 Certification of Principal Financialfioér.

* Management compensatory p

**  Management contra
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

Date: March 182013

TOWERSTREAM CORPORATION

By:

By:

/sl Jeffrey M. Thompso

Jeffrey M. Thompsol
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

/sl Joseph P. Hernc

Joseph P. Hernc
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal AccourgiOfficer)

In accordance with the Exchange Act, this repostieen signed below by the following persons oralietf the registrant and in the

capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name

Capacity Date

/sl Jeffrey M. Thompso

Director, Chief Executive Officer and President
Jeffrey M. Thompsol (Principal Executive Officer) March 18, 2013

/sl Joseph P. Hernc

Chief Financial Office

March 18,2013

Joseph P. Hernc (Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer

/ s/ Philip Ursc

Philip Urso Director - Chairman of the Board of Directors amndh 18, 2013

/s/ Howard L. Haronian, M.C

Howard L. Haronian, M.D Director

/s/ William J. Bust

William J. Bush Director

/s/ Paul Koehle

Paul Koehlel Director
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUA NT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Jeffrey M. Thompson, certify that:

(1) 1 have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Towerstream Corporation for the year endedddaiwer 31, 2012

(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does notainrany untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary tc
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgtsiunder which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

(3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects, the financial condition, results of opers and cash flows of the registrant as of, amdthe periods presented in this rep

(4) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dahare responsible for establishing and maintgmiisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a)

b)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

Designed such internal control over financigla®ing, or caused such internal control over feiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atauce with generally accepted accounting princijy

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentinisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

Disclosed in the report any change in the regyig's internal control over financial reportingattoccurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of the annual repbg) has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reportir

(5) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dahhave disclosed, based on our most recent eti@tuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contratiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 18, 2013

/sl Jeffrey M. Thompso

Jeffrey M. Thompson

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUA NT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Joseph P. Hernon, certify that:

(1) 1 have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Towerstream Corporation for the year endedddaiwer 31, 2012

(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does notainrany untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary tc
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgtsiunder which such statements were made, nigtadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

(3)

(4)

(5)

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects, the financial condition, results of opers and cash flows of the registrant as of, amdthe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dahare responsible for establishing and maintgmisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a)

b)

c)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedotes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

Designed such internal control over financigloiting, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atauce with generally accepted accounting princijy

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisiksineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

Disclosed in the report any change in the regigts internal control over financial reportingattoccurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of the annual repbe) has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reportir

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dahhave disclosed, based on our most recent ev@tuef internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitte@mmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevaden!
functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contratiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 18, 2013

/s/ Joseph P. Hernc

Joseph P. Hernon

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accourdi
Officer)




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S. C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Towerstre@orporation, (the “Company’’) on Form 10-K fordtperiod ended December
31, 2012 as filed with the Securities and Exchabgemission on the date hereof (the “Report”)Jéffrey M. Thompson, President and

Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify,rpuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted puorso&ection 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of
the Company

Date: March 18, 2013

/sl Jeffrey M. Thompso

Jeffrey M. Thompson

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Towerstre@orporation, (the “Company’’) on Form 10-K fordtperiod ended December
31, 2012, as filed with the Securities and Excha@gmsmission on the date hereof (the “Report”)Jdseph P. Hernon, Chief Financial Officer

of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Beact350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 obérbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my
knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefiction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934; anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of
the Company

Date: March 18, 2013

/sl Joseph P. Hernc
Joseph P. Hernon
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accourdi
Officer)




